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 5.  APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS – NEW ARRANGEMENTS 
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 To consider the attached report. 
 
  6. INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 
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To consider the attached report 
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(pages 32 - 116) 
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 8. INTERNAL CONTROLS AND FINANCIAL MONITORING 
(pages 117 - 120) 

 
 To consider the attached report. 
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MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE 
GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE 

HELD ON THURSDAY 28 JULY 2016 IN WELLINGTON HOUSE, LEEDS 
 
 

 
Present:     In Attendance: 

 
Councillor David Sheard  (Chair)  Angela Taylor  - WYCA 
Councillor Nadeem Ahmed   Tom Edwards  - WYCA 
Professor Bob Cryan    Russell Gott  - WYCA 

       Angie Shearon  - WYCA 
       Mark Kirkham  - Mazars 
   
 
 
1. Appointment of Chair 
 

In the absence of Roger Marsh it was agreed that Councillor David Sheard chair the 
meeting. 
 

2. Apologies for Absence 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Roger Marsh and Councillor Andrew 
Carter. 
 

3. Declarations of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
 
 There were no pecuniary interests declared by members at the meeting. 
 
4. Minutes 
 
 Resolved:  That the minutes of the meeting held on 19 April 2016 be approved. 
 
5. Terms of Reference and Forward Plan of Work 2016-17 
 
 The Committee considered a report which set out the terms of reference and the 

programme of work for 2016-17 for the Governance and Audit Committee. 
 
 Members noted the recent changes in legislation that were reflected in the 

Committee’s terms of reference attached at Appendix A.  The terms of reference had 
been approved at the WYCA Annual Meeting held on 23 June 2016.   

 

 ITEM 4 
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 The Committee discussed the programme of work for 2016/17 and noted that 
meetings would be held quarterly and the external auditors for the Authority, 
Mazars, would be invited to attend.   

 
 Resolved:   That the work programme for 2016-17 be noted. 
 
6. Internal Audit Charter 
 
 The Committee considered a report which sought approval for the Internal Audit 

Charter for the West Yorkshire Combined Authority. 
 
 It was reported that the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) required the 

purpose, authority and responsibility of the internal audit activity to be formally 
defined in an internal audit charter, consistent with the definition of Internal 
Auditing, the Code of Ethics and the Standards. 

 
 The Committee was advised that the Audit Charter was a formal document that 

essentially defined the scope of internal audit activities.  A copy of the Audit Charter 
for the Combined Authority 2016/17 was appended to the report.  Members noted 
that there were no significant changes to the Audit Charter which the Committee 
had agreed previously in 2015. 

 
 Resolved:   That the Internal Audit Charter for the West Yorkshire Combined 

Authority be approved. 
 
7. Annual Internal Audit Report and Opinion 
 
 The Committee considered a report which provided the Annual Internal Audit Report 

and Opinion of the risk management, governance and control environment in 
operation during 2015/16. 

 
 It was noted that the Public Sector Internal Audit Standard, PSIAS 2450, required the Chief 

Audit Executive to provide an Annual Report to support the Annual Governance 
Statement.  

 
 The Committee was informed that from the work undertaken during the year, Internal 

Audit had reached the opinion that the governance framework, risk management and 
control had operated adequately and that there were no outstanding significant issues.  

 
A copy of the Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion for 2015/16 was appended to the 
report. 

 
 Resolved:  That the Annual Internal Audit Report and Opinion be noted. 
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8. Internal Audit Progress Report 
 

The Committee considered a report on work undertaken by the Internal Audit 
Section from 1 April 2016 to 30 June 2016.   

 
Details of progress made to date in completing the Audit Plan for 2016/17 were provided 
in Appendix A of the submitted report.    
 
The Committee discussed the Audit Plan which was forecast to overrun by 209 days due 
to a shortfall in resource.  It was noted that options were being explored to quickly 
resolve the situation, including buying-in of specialisms, out-sourcing of work and 
increasing staffing levels, and the outcome would be reported to the next meeting of the 
Committee.  Members suggested that it may also be worth exploring the possibility of 
securing help from local authority partners. 

 
The Committee were provided with an overview of the audit reviews undertaken in the 
period 1 April to 30 June 2016 and the key issues which had been identified were outlined 
in paragraphs 4.3.1 to 4.3.3 of the submitted report. 
 
Review       Opinion 

 
 IT Service Provision – Yorcard     Poorly Controlled 
 Travel Centre Procedures     Controlled 
 Risk Management Arrangements    Requires Improvement 
 ICT Operations      Requires Improvement 
  

IT Service Provision – Yorcard 
 
Yorcard was a joint venture company established by WYCA and South Yorkshire PTE for 
the development and delivery of ICT services and hosted by South Yorkshire PTE.  
Members discussed the outcome of the review which had been given a “poorly 
controlled” opinion.  The objectives of the review had been to assess the arrangements in 
place against key ICT control standards which had highlighted a number of issues 
regarding the management and operation of ICT systems and data at Yorcard as outlined 
in the report.  It was recommended that WYCA should formalise account management 
arrangements with Yorcard Ltd. 
 
Travel Centre Procedures 
 
It was reported that the audit of Travel Centre procedures had provided a ‘controlled’ 
opinion. 
 
Risk Management Arrangements 
 
It was reported that the objectives of the review was to assess the reliability of systems to 
ensure that risk management arrangements were properly administrated, authorised and 
recorded.   
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In considering the observations of the review, it was noted that WYCA had developed a 
number of strategic corporate risks which had been recorded.  It was accepted that these 
would need to be developed as the organisation evolves together with the development 
of corporate planning and organisational objectives. 
 
ICT Operations 
 
It was reported that at the time of the review certain key ICT controls were either absent 
or lacked the appropriate level of formality required.  However it was noted that a 
considerable amount of work was planned to enhance and develop ICT operations and 
management linked to the implementation of the ITIL (Information Technology 
Infrastructure Library) service management standard.   
 

 Members noted the arrangements which were in place to monitor the implementation of 
audit recommendations and considered the information contained in Appendix B relating 
to overdue high priority recommendations.   

 
It was noted that in addition to completion of the above audit reviews, audit testing work 
had also been undertaken in relation to English National Concessions Ticketing Systems, 
Skills Capital Funding, Local Transport Plan Governance, Transparency Code, Facilities 
Contract Management, Compliance and West Yorkshire and York Broadband Programme.  
A summary of the results from those reviews would be provided at the next meeting.   

 
 Resolved:   That the report be noted. 
 
9. Review of Internal Control and Effectiveness of Internal Audit 
 
 The Committee considered a report on the outcome of a review of internal control 

and the effectiveness of internal audit. 
 

It was reported that there was a requirement for the Authority to review the effectiveness 
of its internal audit function at least once a year and that the findings of the review must 
be considered as part of the system of internal control. 

 
 The Committee was advised that the Director, Resources had undertaken a review of 

Internal Audit, using the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) checklist and the 
information in the Internal Audit Annual Report.  The overall conclusion was that the 
internal audit function complied with the necessary standards and had worked to an 
adequate standard throughout the year.   

 
 It was noted that there were some minor instances of non-compliance with PSIAS; 

however the Committee was assured that those areas would be addressed as the new 
governance arrangements for the Combined Authority were further developed during 
2016/17. 

   
 Resolved:   That the outcome of the review of internal control and the effectiveness 

of internal audit be approved. 
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10. External Audit Update 
 

The Committee considered a report which provided an update on external audit 
matters. 
 
It was noted that Mazars had been undertaking their first year end audit of the 
WYCA.  Mark Kirkham from Mazars attended the meeting to present their progress 
report (attached at Appendix A) and to answer questions on the external audit. 
 
It was reported that the fieldwork for the audit of the 2015/16 financial statements 
had largely been completed and no significant issues had been identified.  Mark 
Kirkham commented that he had been impressed with the way in which 
management had engaged in the audit.  The outstanding elements of the audit 
would be completed over the summer and the final accounts would be presented to 
the Committee in September for approval ahead of the statutory deadline of 30 
September. 

 
Resolved:   That the external audit progress report be noted.     
 

11. Internal Controls and Financial Monitoring 
 
 The Committee considered a report on any changes to internal control arrangements 

since the last meeting and the current financial position of WYCA. 
 
 Internal Controls 
 
 It was reported that since the last meeting there had been no significant changes to the 

arrangements for internal controls within the Combined Authority.  Members noted that 
regular governance meetings continued to be held with Leeds City Council (LCC) to 
consider and review the transactions relating to investments and treasury management 
being carried out jointly with LCC. 

 
 Key Indicators 
 
 The Committee had previously requested regular information via key indicators, 

specifically with regard to accidents reportable to the Health and Safety Executive and key 
controls.  There had been one reportable accident in the period 1 April – 30 June 2016 
relating to a fall at a bus station but there was no indication of any defect having 
contributed to the incident. 

 
 Financial Monitoring – Revenue Budgets 
 

Members discussed the latest forecast position for the 2015/16 budget which had been 
reported to the WYCA on 4 February 2016.   It was noted that there had been an increase 
in reserves of £1.89m against the forecast position of £0.42m.  It was reported that some 
of the reserves related to accrued interest which carried an element of high level risk.  The 
expected final position for 2015/16 was still subject to final audit sign off although it was 
not expected that the position would change. 
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   Members noted that the budget for 2016/17 had also been approved at the February 
meeting of WYCA and that monitoring against it had commenced.   

 
 Financial Monitoring – Capital Budgets 
 
 It was reported that delivery of the Transport Fund and Local Growth Fund projects was 

being monitored by the Investment Committee.  Members noted that there had been an 
element of underspending on the Growth Deal projects in 2015/16 but this funding had 
been carried forward to 2016/17. 

 
 Risk Management 
 
 Members noted that there had been no significant changes to risk management 

arrangements since the last meeting of the Committee. 
 

It was reported that work was underway to fully integrate the activities of the former 
Passenger Transport Authority/Executive, Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership, the 
inward investment team from Leeds and Partners and the Regional Economic Intelligence 
Unit.  This would result in a unified set of objectives and priorities aligned with the 
Strategic Economic Plan and enable an updated set of corporate risks to be developed and 
considered at a future meeting of the Committee. 
 

 Resolved:   That the report be noted. 
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ITEM 5 
 
Report to:  Governance & Audit Committee 
 
Date:   29 September 2016 
 
Subject: Appointment of external auditors – new arrangements 
 
 
1. Purpose 
 
1.1 This report sets out options in relation to new arrangements for appointing the 

WYCA’s auditor, further to the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the Act). 
 
2. Information 
 
2.1 The Act abolished the Audit Commission (with effect from 1 April 2015), and 

established new arrangements for the audit of authorities including combined 
authorities.  

 
2.2 Before 1 April 2015, auditors were appointed under contracts let by the Audit 

Commission.  Under transitional arrangements, Public Sector Audit Appointments 
(PSAA) are now responsible for managing the existing contract, which will end when 
the 2017/18 accounts are completed.  PSAA is an independent, not-for-profit 
company limited by guarantee, established by the Local Government Association. 

 
2.3 External auditors must be appointed by 31 December 2017 for the 2018/19 accounts, 

under one of the new processes provided for in the Act.  WYCA needs to take a 
decision about which appointment process to adopt by the end of 2016, so that the 
appointment may be made in a timely way. 

 
2.4 There are three options available to the WYCA for appointing an auditor for the 

2018/19 accounts: 
 

• Option 1: undertake an individual auditor procurement and appointment 
exercise; 

• Option 2: undertake a joint audit procurement and appointing exercise with 
other bodies, those in the same locality for example; or 

• Option 3: opt-in to a ‘sector led body’ scheme where specified “appointing 
person” status has been granted under the relevant Regulations. 

Originator:  Angela Taylor, 
Director, Resources 
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2.5 For options 1 and 2, WYCA must establish an auditor panel, to advise the authority 
on: 

 
• selecting and appointing an auditor 
• whether to adopt a policy on obtaining non-audit services from the auditor 
• any proposal to enter into a liability limitation agreement 
• maintaining an independent relationship with its auditor 
• the outcome of any investigation of an auditor’s resignation from office, or any 

proposal to remove a local auditor from office. 
 
2.6 Under options 1 and 2, the function of appointing an auditor remains with the 

WYCA, but WYCA must consult and take into account the advice of its audit panel.  
Members of the panel must be wholly or by majority independent members, and an 
independent member must chair the panel. 

 
2.7 For option 1, the WYCA may: 
 

• set up a WYCA only auditor panel, or 
• use an existing WYCA committee or sub-committee to act as the auditor panel. 
 

2.8 Option 1 offers potential for a bespoke contract.  However, there is limited elected 
member involvement on the auditor panel itself, as set out above.  The WYCA would 
bear all costs of setting up and running the audit panel, and of the procurement 
exercise. 

 
2.9 For option 2, the WYCA may 
 

• set up an auditor panel with one or more other authorities  
• ask another authority’s auditor panel to carry out the functions of the authority 

in question. 
 

2.10 Under Option 2, joint arrangements offer less WYCA influence over arrangements 
and also an increased risk of independence issues arising (where an auditor has 
recently or is currently carrying out work such as consultancy or advisory work for an 
authority, and so is not eligible to act as auditor).  However, costs of the panel and 
the procurement exercise would be shared between authorities involved. 

 
2.11 In relation to option 3, the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 

Government has specified PSAA as an appointing person.  This allows PSAA to make 
auditor appointments from 2018/19 on behalf of relevant principal authorities that 
opt into its scheme.  Opted-in arrangements will be for a compulsory specified 
period – currently indicated to be for 3 or 5 years. 

 
2.12 Under option 3, WYCA would not itself appoint the auditor.  However, the PSAA must 

consult an individual authority about any proposed auditor appointment for the 
WYCA.  The PSAA have identified the potential benefits to opting-in as including: 

 
• assured appointment of a qualified, registered, independent auditor  
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• appointment, if possible and requested, of the same auditors to bodies involved 
in significant collaboration/joint working initiatives or combined authorities, to 
enhance efficiency and value for money 

• on-going management of independence issues 
• securing highly competitive prices from audit firms 
• minimising scheme overhead costs 
• savings from one major procurement 
• distribution of surpluses to participating bodies 
• a scale of fees which reflects size, complexity and audit risk 
• a strong focus on audit quality to help develop and maintain the market for the 

sector 
• enabling time and resources to be deployed on other pressing priorities  
• setting the benchmark standard for audit arrangements for the whole of the 

sector. 
 
2.13 The deadline for opting-in is not yet finalised, but the PSAA currently anticipates that 

invitations to opt in will be issued before December 2016.  (The PSAA aims to award 
contracts by June 2017).  The WYCA needs to be in a position to respond to any 
invitation within any given timescales, likely to be 8 weeks. 

 
3. Financial Implications 
 
3.1 External auditor fees levels are likely to increase when the current contracts end in 

2018, as the current contracts were negotiated nationally by the Audit Commission, 
offering maximum economies of scale. Audit fees for 2016/17 for WYCA were £33k. 

 
3.2 For options 1 and 2, (a local or joint auditor panel), costs arise in relation to: 

• recruiting independent appointees (members), 
• servicing the Panel, running a bidding and tender evaluation process, 
• letting a contract and 
• panel members’ allowances. 

  
3.3 The LGA estimate initial costs to be about £15,000, with further ongoing expenses. 

 
3.4 Option 3, (opting-in), provides an opportunity to limit the fees increases after 2018, 

by allowing the WYCA to benefit from large scale collective procurement 
arrangements, and removing the costs of establishing and administering a local 
auditor panel.  The WYCA will have to agree to opt-in before the PSAA begins its 
procurement exercise, but the PSAA must consult opted-in authorities (and others) 
before specifying or varying the scale of fees. 

 
4. Legal Implications 
 
4.1 The Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 require that any decision to 

accept an invitation to become an opted in authority (that is, choose option 3) must 
be made by the WYCA meeting as a whole (that is, cannot be delegated). 
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5. Staffing Implications 
 
5.1 Option 1 (and potentially option 2) would require additional staff resources to set up 

administer and advise the auditor panel. 
 
6. Consultees 
 
6.1 To date, there is no appetite apparent from other West Yorkshire authorities to set 

up a joint audit panel. 
 
7. Conclusion 
 
7.1 In the light of the resource and other implications of the different options as set out 

in this report, it is considered that option 3 provides the preferred option for new 
arrangements. 

 
8. Recommendations 
 
8.1  The Governance and Audit Committee are asked to: 

 
(i) note and consider the new options for appointing external auditors; and 

 
(ii) recommend to WYCA that its opts into a ‘sector led body’ scheme for 

appointing its auditors for the 2018/2019 accounts onwards further to the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (option 3 in the paper). 

  
9. Background Documents 
 
9.1 None. 
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ITEM 6 
 
Report to:  Governance and Audit Committee 
 
Date:    29 September 2016 
 
Subject: Internal Audit Progress Report 
 
 
1. Purpose 
 
1.1 To inform the Authority of the work undertaken by the Internal Audit Section. 
 
2. Information 
 
2.1 In accordance with the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 West 

Yorkshire Combined Authority, (WYCA) must undertake an effective internal audit to 
evaluate the effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance 
processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing standards and 
guidance. 

 
2.2 This report provides details of activities undertaken by the Internal Audit Section in 

the period from 1 July 2016 to 1 September 2016 and provides progress in delivering 
the 2016/17 audit plan, audit opinions on reviews completed, executive summaries 
of any significant issues identified and the status of any high priority 
recommendations which have not been implemented by the agreed timescales. 

 
2.3 The Internal Audit Section has undertaken work contained within WYCA’s Audit Plan 

through the performance and release of the following audit reports: 
 

• Contract Monitoring (facilities maintenance) (requires improvement) 
• Transparency Code     (controlled) 
• Local Transport Plan     (well controlled) 
• English National Concessions Travel Scheme  (controlled) 
• West Yorkshire LTP3 Grant Certification 2015/16 
• Local Growth Fund Grant determination 2015/16 

 
 
 

Originator:  Russell Gott 
Internal Audit Manager 
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3. How Control is Assessed 
 
3.1 There are three elements to each internal audit review.  Firstly, the objectives and 

key risks associated with the audit entity are identified.  Secondly, controls which 
internal audit would expect to be present to mitigate risk are determined and finally 
an audit programme is developed to review the existence and operation of those 
controls through a combination of substantive and compliance testing. 

 
3.2 An evaluation of the presence and effectiveness of controls tested is provided within 

each audit report along with an indication of any residual risk.  This is then used as 
the basis for forming an audit opinion of the entity.  Details of audit opinion 
assurance categories are provided below: 

 
 

Assurance Level 
 

Definition 
 

Well Controlled There is a robust control framework in place for the system.  
 
All necessary controls are in place and are operating effectively. 
 
Any recommendations made are low risk and relate to 
enhancements of existing controls. 
 

Controlled There is an acceptable control framework in place.  Key controls 
are in place and operating effectively. 
 
Some changes to controls and how they operate would be 
beneficial. 
 
Recommendations made are moderate or a combination of 
moderate and low risk, including the development of existing 
controls, and do not relate to key controls. 
 

Requires Improvement Controls in place for some elements of the system are not always 
appropriate or effective or are not consistently applied. 
 
Recommendations made are of high or a combination of high and 
moderate risk concerning the operation of key controls. 

 
Poorly Controlled There is an inadequate control framework. 

 
Key controls are absent or not operating. 
 
The operation of the system is currently providing an 
unacceptable risk. 
 
Recommendations made are high risk concerning the operation 
of key controls. 
 

 
 
 

14



4. Audit Summary 
 
4.1 The Audit Plan is forecast to overrun by 206 days.  This imbalance between audit 

resource and the level of assurance required was identified and reported to WYCA in 
April 2016.  A number of Local Authority and private sector audit providers have 
been contacted concerning the provision of resource to contribute to the completion 
of the plan.  This information is currently being gathered and evaluated.  It is 
important that the audit plan is completed in its entirety in order to ensure that 
there is a sufficient body of work on which to form a basis for the annual audit 
opinion as required by the Accounts and Audit Regulations.  Full details of the Audit 
Plan are provided within Appendix A. 

 
4.2 The reviews undertaken in the latest period were assessed as well controlled, 

controlled and requires improvement. 
 
A summary of the internal audit reviews performed where significant issues were 
identified is provided in sections 4.3.1 to 4.3.4 of this report. 

 
4.3 Progress in implementing all audit recommendations is monitored through Internal 

Audit’s outstanding recommendations tracking system.  Information relating to the 
number of recommendations issued by internal audit and the status of management 
responses is provided below: 

  
 Priority 

High 
Priority 
Medium 

Priority 
Low 

Number of Audit 
Recommendations 
Issued (2016/17) 

39 37 3 

    
Number of Audit 
Recommendations Fully 
Implemented (2016/17) 

15 
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Number of Audit 
Recommendation in 
Progress 2016/17 

24 24 2 

    
Total cumulative 
number of Audit 
Recommendations, in 
progress 

28 28 2 

Total cumulative 
number of Overdue 
Audit 
Recommendations. 

9 11 1 
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The majority of the overdue medium and low recommendations are partially 
implemented at the date of writing this report.  WYCA’s directorate management 
teams will continue to overview and report progress to internal audit on these 
matters. 

 
Information relating to the overdue high priority recommendations is provided in 
Appendix B of this report. 
 

4.3.1 Contract Monitoring (facilities maintenance) 
 

Opinion – “requires improvement” 
 
There is a need to improve the collection and coordination of contract 
documentation. 
 
Objectives 
 
The review considered arrangements for the segregation of duties, approvals and 
authorisation, contract performance, contract monitoring and cost control. 
The scope of this review was limited to the provision of facilities maintenance across 
WYCA’s property estate. 

 
Observations 
 
The principal issues identified as a result of this review included:  

 
• Improving compliance with WYCA’s five stages of the control of contractors’ 

process. 
• Improving the visibility and coordination of information relating to the 

control of contractors. 
• Improvements to the consistency of performance of contractors site 

inductions. 
 

4.3.2 Transparency Code 
 

Opinion – “controlled” 
 
WYCA complies with the essential elements of the code.  However, there are 
opportunities to improve the availability and frequency of data provided in some 
areas. 
 
Objectives 
 
The objective and scope of the transparency review was to assess the arrangements 
in place to comply with the organisational obligations in respect of the Local 
Government Transparency Code 2015 as issued by the Department of Communities 
and Local Government. 
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Observations 
 
This review concludes that West Yorkshire Combined Authority currently fulfils a 
significant portion of essential elements within the transparency code.  A number of 
medium to low priority observations were provided to enhance current 
arrangements. 
 

4.3.3 Local Transport Plan  
 

Opinion – “well controlled” 

There is a robust control framework in place for the management of the Local 
Transport Programme (WYLTP3). 
 
Objectives 
 
The review considered the presence and operation of the following key elements; 
 

• Arrangements established for the approval and authorisation of payments of 
the integrated transport block and highways block funding. 

• Programme monitoring and reporting arrangements. 
• WYLTP3 programme governance structure. 
• Content of WYLTP3 and comparison with guidance provided by the DfT for 

the production of transport plans. 
• Arrangements for the effective partnerships between West Yorkshire District 

Authorities and the Authority. 
• Compliance with grant determination 2015/16 31/2530. 
• Arrangements to oversee delivery and manage risks. 
 

Observations 
 
There were no significant issues identified as a result of the audit undertaken. 

 
4.3.4 English National Concessions Travel Scheme (ENCTS) 
 

Opinion – “controlled” 
 
There is an adequate control framework in operation for the administration of the 
English National Concessions Travel Scheme. 
 
Objectives 
 
The review considered the presence and the operation of the following key controls: 
 

• To ensure that guidance for data handling and protection requirements is 
provided. 
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• To establish that limited access rights to the ENCTS database are enforced. 
• To ensure that there are agreements with the third parties concerning the 

handling and maintenance of ENCTS data. 
• Validation rules are in place for applicants to provide evidence of identity, 

residency and a photo. 
• To ensure that disabled and blind person applications are processed in liaison 

with district social services departments. 
• To ensure that there are robust processes and validation requirements for 

issuing replacements and renewals. 
 

Observations 
 
There were no significant weaknesses identified as a result of the audit undertaken. 
 

4.3.5 West Yorkshire Local Transport Plan 3– Grant Certification 2015/16 
 

Objectives 
 
Certification of expenditure incurred in 2015/16 by WYCA and the five District 
Authorities within West Yorkshire in respect of LTP3 grant allocation was completed.  
As a result of testing performed and assurances received, a declaration providing 
assurance that, in all significant respects, the conditions attached to Local Transport 
Capital Block Funding have been met was provided to the Department for Transport. 

 
4.3.6 Local Growth Fund Grant determination 2015/16 
 

Objectives 
 
In accordance with guidance provided in Annex B – Grant Conditions we were able to 
provide a declaration of expenditure for the 2015/16 allocation. 
 
This was provided to the Department of Business , Innovation & Skills and concluded 
that to the best of our knowledge and belief, and having carried out appropriate 
investigations and checks, in our opinion, in all significant respects, the conditions 
attached to Local Growth Fund Payment Determination 2015/16 31/2546 have been 
complied with. 

 
5. Work in Progress 
 
5.1 In addition to the completion of scheduled audit reviews provided in section 4 of this 

report, audit testing work has been performed in relation to Skills Capital Funding, 
West Yorkshire and York Broadband Programme, Tendered Subsidised Bus Services 
and Apprenticeship Grant for Employers.  Release of these audit reports will be 
subject to quality reviews of the audit files and the agreement of implementation 
actions.  A summary of the results from these reviews will be provided to this 
Committee at the next meeting. 
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6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 None relating directly to the Internal Audit function. 
 
7. Legal Implications 
 
7.1 None relating directly to the Internal Audit function. 
 
8. Staffing Implications 
 
8.1 The performance of some elements of the Audit Plan requires the buying-in of third 

party specialist services. 
 
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 That the Internal Audit progress report be noted. 
 
9.2 That progress made in addressing the forecast internal audit resourcing shortfall, 

provided in section 4.1, be noted. 
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Appendix A 
 
 
 

Internal Audit Plan 2016/17  
 
Report Type: Actions Report 
Report Author: Russell Gott 
Generated on: 7 September 2016 
 
 

                                                                                                    
  

ACTIVITY OUTLINE DESCRIPTION ALLOCATED 
RESOURCE 

ACTUAL 
RESOURCE 

COMMENTS 

Skills Capital Projects Project management controls, authorisation of expenditure, review of 
business processes. 
Compliance with conditions of grant, evaluation of eligibility of claims. 

25 26 Drafted 

West Yorkshire 
Broadband 

Processes & procedures 

Certification of expenditure 

Compliance with funding agreements 

Compliance with partnership agreements/claw back provisions 

25 10 In progress 

Local Transport Plan 
Capital Programme 
Management 

Review of arrangements to identify, monitor, control and report on the 
Capital Programme. 

15 15 Completed 
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Transparency  Compliance with principles of the Local Government Transparency Code 
2015 

10 10 Completed 

Code of Corporate 
Governance 

Arrangements to ensure compliance with applicable statutes and 
assessment against SOLACE/CIPFA principles framework including  
appropriate arrangements for the safeguarding and accountability of public 
funds, clear and effective communication with WYCA’s stakeholders, clearly 
defined roles and responsibilities at the head of the organisation. 

10 8 Completed 

Annual Governance 
Statement 

Financial reporting including compliance with relevant standards and codes 
of corporate governance.  
The establishment, monitoring and reporting on the systems of internal 
control. 

5 5 Completed 

Pro –Active Anti- Fraud 
Exercise 

Statistical analysis for duplicate payments, data matching for creditor 
payments into inappropriate bank accounts. 
Sample review of changes to bank payment master records. 

5 0  

ERDF & ESF Technical 
Assistance Project 

Head of IA assurance. 
 
Periodic report and claim review and certification. 

5 6  

Growth Deal – Economic 
Development 

Scheme Evaluation Criteria (SAF) 

Gateway Review Compliance (SAF) 

Third-Party Assurances 

25 5 
Annual Certification 
completed 
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Certification of Expenditure 

Governance Arrangements – Consultation/Compliance 

LTP Head of IA assurance. 
 
Periodic report and claim review and certification. 
Systems and procedures to control the allocation of payments and provide 
evidence of eligible expenditure. 
 

10 7 In progress 

English National 
Concessions Travel 
Scheme (ENCTS) 

Data handling and protection requirements, access rights to ENCTS 
database, agreements with the third parties concerning the handling and 
maintenance of ENCTS data. 
Validation rules for applicants to provide evidence of identity, residency.  
System is secure and backed up at frequent intervals with limited access 
rights.  
Awareness and communication of requirements of Concessionary Bus Travel 
Act. 

20 20 Completed 

QUARTER 1  155 112  

Tendered Subsidised 
Contracts 

Tendering arrangements, batches, de minimis contracts, insurance, 
operator’s licences, lost mileage, payment calculations and processes. 
Arrangements support and provide contract compliance.  
Public and education services. 

15 10 In progress 

Business Growth 
Programme 

Project management controls, authorisation of expenditure, review of 
business processes. 

WYCA expenditure - over £110k 

20   
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Compliance with SLA for schemes administered by LCC – less than £100k 

Resource Efficiency Fund 
including ESIF + LGF 

Processes & procedures, assessment of grant applications 

Compliance with funding agreements 

10   

Apprenticeship Grant Processes & procedures, assessment of grant applications 

Compliance with funding agreements 

10 16 Drafted 

Central Heating Fund Processes & procedures, assessment of grant applications 

Compliance with funding agreements – provided through 3rdparty 

10   

Better Bus Area Fund Head of IA assurance. 
 
Periodic report and claim review and certification. 

3   

Smartcard Enabling 
Gateline Huddersfield 

Head of IA assurance. 
 
Periodic report and claim review and certification. 

3   

Interreg  Carbon 
Responsible Transport 
Strategies (SHARE 
NORTH) 

Head of IA assurance. 
 
Periodic report and claim review and certification. 

3   

Interreg HORIZON 
project 

Head of IA assurance. 
 
Periodic report and claim review and certification. 

3   
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Growing Places Fund Administration of loans, evaluation criteria and monitoring procedures. 
10   

Access to Capital Grants 
Programme 

Project management controls, authorisation of expenditure, review of 
business processes 

10   

Housing & Regeneration 
Projects 

Provision of funding for; 

- Barnsley Town Centre 

- Brownfield, Leeds 

- Kirklees Housing Sites 

- Northgate House 

- Redhall 

35   

Contract Monitoring - 
CDM 

Compliance with The Construction ( Design and Management) Regulations 
2015 
 

25   

QUARTER 2  157 26  

Prepaid Tickets & 
Concessionary Travel 

Arrangements for accounting for stocks, cash, Haven system controls and 
reporting, calculations of prepaid ticket pool and distribution, concessionary 
fares reimbursements. Controls for smartcard transactions and use of smart 
data/provision of service monitoring information. 
Payzone sales system.  
 

25   

24



Transport Fund 
 

Scheme evaluation – NTEM forecasts, compliance with WEBTAG 
Review of operation of Strategic assurance framework 
 

30   

Procurement Review of the operation of key controls including tendering, ordering, 
commitments, compliance with Standing Orders and Financial Regulations, 
e- procurement, purchasing cards. 
 

12 2 Realigning scope 

Business 
Contingency/Disaster 
Recovery 

Review of plan to be implemented in the event of incident(s) which impact 
on WYCA being able to operate. 

10   

Data Hosting To provide assurance on the delivery of robust service in line with contract 
and ensure adequate management controls exist relating to operations and 
the security of data including recovery if necessary. 

15  contractor 

Data Security/ Protection System penetration testing -arrangements to protect WYCA ICT systems 
from attack 

15  Contractor 

Fraud Awareness Maintaining employees’ awareness of WYCA’s counter- fraud arrangements. 
2   

Smart Card & 
Information  Programme 
(SCIP) 

 

Provision of independent, 3 line of defence programme assurance. 
(Smart transactions Web Customer  Hubs and Service Experience (CHASE)) 

15   

Bus Services Operator 
Grant 

Head of IA assurance. 
3   
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Payroll & HR Records Review of the operation of key controls including arrangements for starters, 
leavers, pay points, member’s allowances, expenses & deductions. 

12  
 

QUARTER 3  
139 2  

Energy Accelerator 
Projects including 
European Investment 
Bank funding (ELENA) 

 

Processes & procedures, loans provided through EIB 

Eligibility criteria 

Compliance with funding agreements 

10   

Employment Ownership 
Pilot (Skills Service) 

Processes & procedures, assessment of grant applications 

Compliance with funding agreements 

10   

Metro Travel Centre 
Operations 

Ticket sales, stock, cash collection/handling security. Fraud prevention 
controls and associated back-office operations. 
 

15   

Main Accounting – 
General Ledger 

Review of the operation of key controls including System user rights, review, 
control, adequacy and timeliness, budgetary control, systems interface – 
education, Haven, and payroll. VAT.   

8   

Creditors Review of the operation of key controls including segregation, authorisation, 
reconciliation of supplier statements, BACS controls, and sub-contractors 
records. 

8   

Debtors Test arrangements for write offs, requisitioning, reporting, review of 
accounts, debt age monitoring and reporting. 

6   
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Treasury Management Review of the operation of key controls including treasury management, 
segregation, review, authorisation, third part services and assurances, 
prudential code. 

15   

On-line Payments Review of controls for the processing of on-line payments and credit/debit 
card payments received.  

8   

Risk Management Effectiveness of risk management processes, risk management guidance and 
support, Identification of risk, risk evaluation, risk mitigation and control, 
monitoring risks, reporting the status of key risks and controls, recording the 
management of risks, including the effectiveness of the controls and other 
responses to them, risk awareness and training. 

15   

Cycle City Grant Head of IA assurance. 
 
Periodic report and claim review and certification. 

3   

Growth Deal - 
WY+Transport Fund 

Head of IA assurance. 
 

10   

Interreg  Carbon 
Responsible Transport 
Strategies (SHARE 
NORTH) 

Head of IA assurance. 
 
Periodic report and claim review and certification. 

2  
3 + 2 

Interreg HORIZON 
project 

Head of IA assurance. 
 
Periodic report and claim review and certification. 

2  
3 + 2 
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Green Deal Communities 
Fund 

Head of IA assurance. 
 
Periodic report and claim review and compliance with MOU with LCC. 

3  
 

Health & Safety Health & Safety Policy meets legal requirements as provided in the Health & 
Safety at Work Act and other relevant Acts. 
Workplaces and welfare requirements, recording accidents, illness and first 
aid, use and maintenance of work equipment, control of exposure to 
hazardous substances, electrical equipment, noise and radiation, (RIDDOR). 
 

15 
  

Follow up Follow up on implementation of key audit recommendations. 20 
  

QUARTER 4  150 0  

Fraud Investigations Contingency for fraud investigation. 
20   

Audit Plan Contingency Contingency for any requirement for additional audit assurance and for 
other unplanned audit work identified in year. 

30 4 Statement of assurance – 
application of pay award 

Total  651 144  
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Forecast Outturn @ 7 September 2016 
 
 
Audit Resource available to 31 March 2017    271 
Bought – in          30  301 
 
Required to complete the plan       (507) 
 
Projected Shortfall         (206) 
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Appendix B 
 

 Overdue High Priority Audit Recommendations 
 
Title Recommendations Directorate Due Date Progress 

Reported 

M/SD/P29/AR272 
Payzone – 
Automated Alerts 

Automatic Alerts 
An automatic alert should be defined to alert Yorcard staff in the event that output/reports are not 
produced as expected. 
 
Issue to be raised at next Yorcard Board meeting. 

Transport 
Services 31 March 

2016 0% 

M/SD/P29/AR297 
PPT & Cons - 
Online payments  

Online payments  
The scope for CHASE release 1 (April 2016) is limited to ordering smartcards through the retail website. 
The ability to add travel products (e.g. weekly, monthly travel) online to the cards is planned for a later 
release.  
The back and front office will need to account for these alterations within the next financial year.  
It is recommended that the control environment is assessed and appropriate controls are put in place to 
safeguard the integrity of these transactions.  
 
 

Transport 
Services 

01-Sep-2016 0% 

M/SD/P29/AR317 
Yorcard ICT - 
Disaster Recovery  

Disaster Recovery  
 
WYCA representatives should, as a key stakeholder, see, and sign off, final documentation regarding 
disaster recovery / business continuity arrangements in place for WYCA services provided by Yorcard. 
This should form part of the account management arrangements identified.  
 
The Yorcard General Manager is to draft a response to the Internal Audit report for 
discussion.  This is to be reviewed by the Directors, leading to a formal response from Board 
 

Transport 
Services 

08 July 2016 0% 

M/SD/P29/AR319 
Yorcard ICT - 
network 
administrator 
privileges.  

network administrator privileges.  
Yorcard management should reduce the number of users with network administrator privileges. No user 
should have two network administrator equivalent ID’s. A regular review of these users should be 
completed and evidenced.  
 
The Yorcard General Manager is to draft a response to the Internal Audit report for 
discussion.  This is to be reviewed by the Directors, leading to a formal response from Board 

Transport 
Services 

31 July 2016 0% 

M/SD/P29/AR320 
Yorcard ICT - 
disable forced 
password change  

disable forced password change  
Yorcard management should remind users that they should not “disable forced password change” option. 
Monthly checks should be completed to ensure this does not occur. 
 

Transport 
Services 31 July 2016 0% 
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 The Yorcard General Manager is to draft a response to the Internal Audit report for 
discussion.  This is to be reviewed by the Directors, leading to a formal response from Board 

M/SD/P29/AR322 
Yorcard ICT - 
Access codes  

Access codes  
Access codes should be subject to periodic change or should someone leave as a result of a disciplinary 
matter / unexpectedly leave  
 
The Yorcard General Manager is to draft a response to the Internal Audit report for 
discussion.  This is to be reviewed by the Directors, leading to a formal response from Board 

Transport 
Services 

31 August 
2016 0% 

M/SD/P29/AR327 
Yorcard ICT - Back 
- up & Recovery  

Back - up & Recovery  
A backup & recovery policy should be documented. This should cover the following areas Backups, 
Restores and Restart / Shutdown.  
 
The Yorcard General Manager is to draft a response to the Internal Audit report for 
discussion.  This is to be reviewed by the Directors, leading to a formal response from Board 

Transport 
Services 

31 July 2016 0% 

M/SD/P29/AR332 
Yorcard ICT - 
Capacity 
Performance  

Capacity Performance  
 
Steps should be taken to formalise the approach to capacity and performance management i.e. 
documenting threshold levels, reviewing these accordingly and the management of major fluctuations / 
incidents.  
 
The Yorcard General Manager is to draft a response to the Internal Audit report for 
discussion.  This is to be reviewed by the Directors, leading to a formal response from Board 

Transport 
Services 

31 July 2016 0% 

M/SD/P29/AR347 
WYCA ICT - Fire 
Procedures  

Fire Procedures 
Fire procedures should be documented for individuals,  
including external suppliers, who are left unattended within the  
computer suite. This should be linked to logs used to record  
access / work completed.  
 
ICT Fire Procedures will be in place by the end of this month 
 

 
Resources 

12 July 2016 0% 
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ITEM 7 
 
Report to:  Governance and Audit Committee 
 
Date:   29 September 2016   
 
Subject: Approval of Annual Accounts for 2015/16 
 
 
1. Purpose 
 
1.1. To present to the Committee for their approval the annual accounts for 2015/16 for 

the West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA). 
 
2. Information 
 
2.1. At its last meeting this Committee considered the interim report produced by the 

external auditor Mazars following the completion of their fieldwork with regard to 
the audit of the annual accounts.  Mazars confirmed that they had found no errors in 
the accounts and whilst there were a number of final items to confirm they expected 
to be able to confirm a clean audit opinion by the statutory date of 30 September. 
 

2.2. The accounts have now been finalised and Mazars have completed their audit work.  
This report provides the information required to consider the accounts and for 
approval.  The following appendices are attached: 
 
Appendix A Final accounts of WYCA 
Appendix B Treasury management statement 
Appendix C Schedule of capital expenditure in the year 
Appendix D Audit completion report 

 
2.3. The accounts have been prepared on an International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS) basis in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting UK.  This is the second year of accounts for the WYCA but the first that 
include the impact of being the accountable body for the Leeds City Region 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and the first accounts audited by Mazars. 
 

2.4. There are a number of accounting matters in the accounts which are drawn to the 
Committee’s attention below. 

Originator:  Angela Taylor 
Director, Resources 
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2.5. International Accounting Standard (IAS)19 Employee Benefits requires a particular 

accounting treatment of pension costs and liabilities.  In effect the accounts provide 
a snapshot in time of the organisation’s element of the West Yorkshire Pension Fund 
at the balance sheet date, based on information from the actuaries.  In common with 
most local authorities this results in a deficit on the scheme but under the Account 
and Audit Regulations (England) 2011 this apparent deficit is funded by the creation 
of a corresponding reserve.  The reality is that the deficit in the scheme is being 
addressed through the annual employer contribution rates set by the actuary and 
will reduce within the required timescales.  The liability will only crystallise should 
either the West Yorkshire Pension Fund cease to exist or the WYCA cease to exist 
without a successor organisation to take on the liability.  The deficit has decreased 
during the financial year 2015/16 from £68.9m to £61.2m as a result of the financial 
actuarial assumptions changing over the course of the year. 
 

2.6. The going concern principle is always required to be considered as part of the year 
end process.  The outcome of the accounting entries for pensions set out in the 
previous paragraph often results in a negative balance sheet which would ordinarily 
give rise to a question regarding going concern.  For 31 March 2016 this is not the 
case, due to an increase in the capital grants unapplied reserve which is increasing 
the total assets at the year end.  In any event it is not thought likely that the pension 
deficit will crystallise and the authority is making contributions to address this deficit 
as determined by the actuary.  The IFRS Code’s underlying assumption is that 
accounts shall be prepared on a going concern basis where the functions of the 
‘authority’ will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.  The 
WYCA’s accounts have therefore been prepared on a going concern basis. 
 

2.7. Impairment – officers have considered, in preparing the accounts, whether there are 
any circumstances arising in the year that would trigger the need for an impairment 
review of the carrying value of the properties of the WYCA.  The conclusion is that 
there are none and this was also supported by the property valuation undertaken by 
independent surveyors Lambert Smith Hampton.  
 

2.8. Note 17 to the accounts sets out the details regarding the impairment of one of the 
growing places loans as a result of the debtor being placed into administration.  It is 
recognised that there is a higher level of risk attached to these types of loans and 
there is no impact on reserves as this is fully funded by external grant. 
 

2.9. Accounting policies – these have not changed from those approved in previous 
years. 

 
Final accounts of the WYCA (Appendix A) 

 
2.10. WYCA’s accounts comply fully with the required accounting standards but the 

statutory format of the income and expenditure account both summarises the 
majority of expenditure into one line and also does not require a comparison against 
budget.  The foreword to the accounts shows perhaps a more useful presentation 
comparing the actual results against the budget detail as agreed at the WYCA budget 
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meeting.  In both instances the key figure to note is the transfer to reserves figure 
which is the same in both presentations. 
 

2.11. The final position for 2015/16 is an increase in reserves of £1.89m against the 
forecast position of a £0.42m increase.  The improvement in the reserves position for 
2015/16 can be attributed to savings in Passenger services relating to bus station 
running costs and planned works totalling £0.2m, Inward investment savings of 
£0.1m and a significant saving in Financing costs arising from successful treasury 
management investment and the recognition of Growing places Fund interest which 
was not included in the forecasts reported in the budget paper.  The Growing Places 
Fund interest contributed almost £1.1m to reserves, however £0.7m of this relates 
to accrued interest.  The accrued interest, while usable, has risk attached to it as this 
interest is being rolled up and paid at maturity by borrowers who are deemed to be 
relatively high risk. 
 

2.12. In comparison to 2014/15 the WYCA balance sheet shows some significant 
movement as a result of the transfer in of balances relating to funding awarded to 
the Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership.  Until 31 March 2015 this funding was 
managed by Leeds City Council.  From 1 April 2016 the WYCA has taken on the 
responsibility of accountable body for this funding and the increase in net worth of 
£58m is a result of this transfer and further funding awarded.  The lead in times for 
project delivery are such that much of this funding remains on the balance sheet at 
the year end and can be seen in the increase in cash and cash investments. Short 
term investments increased significantly which is reflective of the increase in grants 
being paid in advance by Government with a significant amount of Local Transport 
Grant (LTP) grant ear-marked for future schemes such as Low Moor Rail Station and 
Cycle City Connect 2.  As set out in the Treasury Management Statement below the 
WYCA has also received a number of other grants in advance which has increased 
short term cash balances.  These have then been invested in accordance with the 
policy. 
 
Treasury Management statement (Appendix B) 
 

2.13. The Treasury management statement and report for the year is set out in appendix 
3.  A number of changes were approved during the year with regard to treasury 
management arrangements as a result of the scale of funding received for Growth 
Deal, to enable funds to be placed securely with a range of counterparties.  These 
same arrangements and prudential borrowing rules will continue to be applied 
unchanged throughout the coming year.  The Treasury Management Statement is set 
out at appendix B.  
 
Capital expenditure (Appendix C) 
 

2.14. Total capital expenditure in the year was £119m, funded through a combination of 
income streams but primarily grants from the Department for Transport and the 
Department of Communities and Local Government (in relation to the Growth Deal).  
These included the LTP Integrated Transport block funding and highways 
maintenance grant totalling £42.3m which is then utilised by the Combined Authority 
and the constituent District Councils.   The Authority also applied capital grants for 
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the Cycle City Ambition scheme of £11.7m.  Some funding was carried forward from 
2014/15, reflecting the change by the DfT in paying multi-year grants in advance and 
also reflecting some reprofiling of LTP funded projects.  Similarly funding will be 
carried forward to 2015/16 enabling committed schemes and projects to be 
delivered despite changes in the timing of delivery. 
 

2.15. The Growth Deal funding of £68.3m received for 2015/16 has been applied to some 
£32m of projects originally identified within the programme submitted to 
government.  Recognising the need to reprofile some of the projects within that 
programme the flexibility awarded with the Growth Deal has been applied resulting 
in Growth Deal funding being utilised for some £30m of projects in WYCA's capital 
portfolio with their original funding stream being carried forward to use in 2016/17.  
An underspend of £6m on the Growth Deal has been accounted for in capital grants 
unapplied and will be utilised on projects that have been reprofiled to 2016/17. 
 

2.16. A full schedule of capital expenditure undertaken in 2015/16 is shown in Appendix C 
with the funding included in the treasury statement at appendix B. 
 
Audit Completion Report (Appendix D) 
 

2.17. Mazars have completed their audit work on the annual accounts and their 
conclusions are set out in their Audit Completion Report which is attached as 
Appendix D.  The Committee is required to consider this report before considering 
and approving the annual accounts.  The Audit Senior Manager Steve Appleton will 
be in attendance at the meeting to present their report and answer any questions. 
 

2.18. The key messages are set out in the Executive summary on page 3 of the report 
which confirm that an unmodified audit opinion is to be given on the financial 
statements and an unqualified value for money conclusion. 
 

2.19. The rest of the report goes on to consider how the audit risks identified at the 
planning stage have been addressed and the outcome of that work.  It also sets out 
observations on the internal control environment.  In all these areas there are no 
findings or deficiencies that the WYCA is required to address. 
 

2.20. The report sets out some minor changes to the accounts that management agreed to 
make, which are largely presentational and have no impact on the results for the 
year. 
 

2.21. The auditors will require a representation letter to be signed by management.  This is 
a standard part of the process and effectively provides assurances that the WYCA has 
provided all necessary information and disclosures to the auditors.  The wording of 
that representation letter is included on pages 12-14 of Mazars report and the 
Director, Resources will provide a signed copy of this to the auditors.  The letter of 
representation also confirms that no events have occurred in the period from the 
completion of the audit to the date of the signing of the accounts which would 
require any changes to the accounts. 
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2.22. The Committee should also note that in order for Mazars to issue an audit 
completion notice as well as the audit opinion they need to audit the Whole of 
Government Accounts submission which will be done in accordance with the 
deadline of 30 September. 

 
3. Financial implications 

 
3.1. The audit fee is set nationally by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) and is 

included in the WYCA’s annual budget.  Future audit fees will be the subject of a 
consultation process with the PSAA. 

 
4. Legal Implications 

 
4.1. None arising directly from this report. 
 
5. Staffing Implications 
 
5.1. None arising directly from this report. 
 
6. Recommendations 
 
6.1. That the Treasury Management policy and report and the methods of capital funding 

in appendix B be recommended for approval. 
 

6.2. That Mazars final report be considered. 
 

6.3. That the Committee approve the attached annual accounts for the year ended 31 
March 2016. 
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Narrative Report to the Annual Accounts 2015/16

West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Wellington House, 40/50 Wellington Street, Leeds LS1 2DE

2

Introduction

The Narrative Report has been prepared to provide an outline of the activities for the year 
2015/16, providing both a guide to the Combined Authority's accounts and to  the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority's achievement in delivering growth through transport and 
economic development and regeneration as well as setting out the economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources in doing so.  

The West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) came into being on 1 April 2014 by 
virtue of the West Yorkshire Combined Authority Order 864/2014 (the 2014 Order).  At 
the same time, the the West Yorkshire Integrated Transport Authority  (WYITA) and the 
West Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive  (WYPTE) were dissolved.  All of the 
functions, assets, liabilities and powers of WYITA and WYPTE were transferred to the 
WYCA under the provisions of the 2014 Order. The WYCA is now the Local Transport 
Authority for West Yorkshire and also has power to exercise Economic Development and 
Regeneration functions in conjunction with the District Councils of West Yorkshire. WYCA 
also includes as members the leader of the City of York Council and the Chair of the 
Leeds City Region Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP).  WYCA has established a 
Transport Committee, through which it conducts the majority of Local Transport Authority 
functions, and an Investment Committee which provides strategic guidance in relation to 
the investment in and funding of transport and economic development schemes. 
Membership of WYCA committees is drawn from all District Councils within West 
Yorkshire, together with City of York Council.

These are the second year accounts of the Combined Authority with the balances 
transferred from Leeds City Region LEP at 1 April 15 shown at note 30. 

Responsibilities

The West Yorkshire Combined Authority's role is to be the driving force in delivering an 
outstanding economy with better connectivity for businesses, people and places in the 
region.  

With regard to transport the WYCA fulfils the functions of the local transport authority and 
is responsible for determining public transport policies in West Yorkshire, operating the 
concessionary travel scheme and producing the statutory local transport plan.

With regard to the economy the WYCA is, since 1 April 2015, the accountable body for 
the Leeds City Region Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP).  The LEP determines the 
policies and strategies to drive the economic growth and regeneration agenda with the 
WYCA ensuring funding is properly managed to ensure delivery of the interventions 
required to achieve the growth targets.

The WYCA has an important role to play in providing the vehicle for closer partnership 
working between the local authorities of West Yorkshire and York and the LEP in order to 
ensure improved economic outcomes for local people. 
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Narrative Report to the Annual Accounts 2015/16

3

Review of the year

2015/16 is only the second year of business for the West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
and the first which fully includes the activities and funding of the LEP.  The WYCA and 
LEP Boards have agreed the vision for the City Region which is set out in the Strategic 
Economic Plan (SEP).  The first SEP produced by the LEP was endorsed and adopted by 
the WYCA and during 2015/16 a full refresh and update of the SEP has been undertaken.  
This has updated the economic case and reflected the local and national changes that 
have taken place over the last year.

The revised SEP, endorsed by both the WYCA and the LEP, sets out an agenda of 
economic growth for West Yorkshire that would improve the quality of life for its residents.  
This will only be achieved through working closely together with the constituent local 
councils and other public bodies.  

The statutory Local Transport Plan, branded 'MyJourney' and covering the period 2011-
2026 has been reviewed in the light of the aspirations in the SEP.  It has been 
substantially redrafted with a working title of the Single Transport Plan (STP) and will be 
subject to a full public consultation during 2016/17.

During 2015/16 the WYCA has made good progress, building on the successes of its first 
year.   There has been a focus on establishing appropriate processes and procedures to 
enable effective delivery of the Growth Deal projects set out in the settlement announced 
in July 2014.  This settlement totals a billion pounds over the following 20 years with the 
first year's funding of £68m including initial funding for the West Yorkshire plus Transport 
Fund  having been received in April 2015 for 2015/16.   

A range of infrastructure projects within the Growth Deal, covering transport, housing, 
skills and regeneration have been progressed through further feasibility and planning 
stages.   A number of these projects have then been approved through the gateway 
process which reflects the governance arrangements agreed in the assurance 
frameworks.  Funding is also included in this deal for skills which will see further 
development of the successful programmes to get young people into apprenticeships and 
encourage businesses to invest in skills training.   At the same time WYCA has been 
reviewing whether it and its partners have the right structures, skills and resources to 
deliver this challenging agenda.

The general economic outlook continues to be difficult with the public sector continuing to 
face funding challenges.  The revenue funding for many of WYCA's activities comes from 
the West Yorkshire local authorities, with further contributions from them and the other 
CIty Region authorities for some of the economic activities.  All areas of the budget have 
been reviewed via the Member-led Finance Working Group and this has recognised the 
work undertaken in previous years to review expenditure on the main areas of activity, in 
particular bus tendered services.  The work done each year on reviewing the budget has 
enabled both the transport levy and the contributions to the LEP to be held or decreased 
despite the growing agenda of work.  Further work will be undertaken during 2016/17 to 
ensure the most effective use is being made of all the capital and revenue income 
streams available to WYCA, with the focus being the delivery of the objectives and 
outcomes as set out in the SEP.

Despite budgetary pressures and increasing customer expectations WYCA has continued 
to deliver further service innovations on both the transport and economic agendas.  Key
customer satisfaction scores as demonstrated by the Passenger Focus survey remain 
high. Usage of the new mobile website for transport has continued to increase since its 
launch in 2013 and further improvements to assist in self service are planned, including a 
new customer database for users to manage their Mcard transactions.
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Narrative Report to the Annual Accounts 2015/16: Review of the year (continued)

4

WYCA's activities, working with its private and public sector partners, are focussed on 
raising the quality of life in the region through businesses growth, job creation, a better 
trained and skilled workforce and the building of new and affordable homes, 
underpinned by a modern integrated transport network.

Growing businesses: In July 2015 the LEP's growth service was launched, providing a 
single contact point that helps small and medium sized businesses to achieve their 
growth ambitions.  Over 1,000 companies have now received support, advice or finance 
from this service.   In 2015/16 the Authority provided grants totalling £6m to local 
businesses through the Business Growth Programme.  The Programme offers grants of 
between £10k and £500k to SMEs to enable them to make a capital investment in land, 
buildings, plant, machinery and equipment that enables permanent jobs to be created in
the Leeds City Region.  With the support of government this Programme was flexed 
during the year to enable grants to be made to businesses affected by the devastating 
floods in December 2015 thus ensuringbusinesses could continue and jobs were not 
lost in the region.

Skilled people, better jobs: In March 2015 the skills service was launched to help local 
businesses to find the right training for their employees and providing up to 50% of the 
funding needed to deliver it.  Funding of £1.7m has been paid out during 2015/16 from 
the Employer Ownership Pilot.  The SEP sets out the clear case agreed in the 2012 City 
Deal that the region would seek to be NEET-free (ie all young people in employment, 
education or training).  An apprenticeship programme runs throughout the Leeds City 
Region, offering training and apprenticeships to young people aged 16-24 and helping 
employers to recruit young talent. Funding of £0.7m has been paid out to employers in 
2015/16 to help them in taking on apprentices.  In addition £50k was received (of which 
£43k was spent) from the Careers and Enterprise company which provided grant 
funding to all LEPs to provide Enterprise Advisor posts. These roles work with local 
schools and businesses to encourage enterprise in young people.

The Authority extended the concessionary offer to young people to enable all young 
peopleto benefit from half fare bus travel up to their nineteenth birthday, assisting their 
transition to work or further education.

Growth Deal funding has been identified to make infrastructure improvements to further 
education establishments.  Projects to improve facilities at Bradford College (equipping 
the Advanced Technology Centre with the latest technology and equipment for dental 
training), Leeds City College (to refurbish the printworks campus to provide improved 
training in vocational, technological, engineering and manufacturing jobs), Selby College 
(providing a workshop space to manage demand in engineering and construction skills), 
Shipley College and Calderdale College have all been approved and work is underway 
on these schemes.

Infrastructure for growth: Funding has been approved to progress housing and 
regeneration projects in Bradford (One City Park), East Leeds (the Brownfield sites 
project will enable the development of up to 280 new homes), Bath Road, Leeds 
(remediation work that will enable the land to be sold for residential development to 
create 160 new homes) and Red Hall in Leeds (preparatory site work to enable land to 
be utilised for housing development and to support the planned East Leeds Orbital 
Road).  Feasibility work is progressing on a number of other projects.

Transport infrastructure projects have been progressing, funded either as part of the 
West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund or through integrated transport block or third party 
funding.  
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Contractors have been on site for much of the year at the £29m Wakefield Eastern 
Relief Road.  The scheme will complete during 2016/17 and is creating an 
environment where business can grow, up to 62,000 jobs can be created and 2,500 
new homes built.

Good progress has been made with a number of rail station projects.  
Masterplan/gateway projects have been developed for Leeds, Bradford Forster 
Square, Bradford Interchange, Castleford, Halifax and Huddersfield rail stations with 
further development work planned in 2016/17.  The new southern entrance to Leeds 
Station opened in December 2015, enabling better access to and from the southern 
part of Leeds.  The new station at Apperley Bridge opened in December 2015 and 
work was substantially completed on the new station at Kirkstall Forge which is 
scheduled to open in June 2016.  Early works commenced on the new facility at Low 
Moor, also scheduled to open in 2016/17.

WYCA co-funded and supported the £5.6m refurbishment of Wakefield Kirkgate 
Station This provides much improved passenger facilities as well as being a catalyst
for the wider regeneration of the Kirkgate area and unlocks £38m of future 
regeneration for the southern part of Wakefield city.

Work commenced on the Aire Valley park and ride site which will deliver a 1,000 
space facility at Temple Green in the City Region's Enterprise Zone.  Again, this is 
scheduled for completion in 2016/17.

A number of bus hub improvements have been completed with the rest of the 
programme scheduled for delivery in 2016/17.  In 2015/16 hubs were opened at 
Morley and Heckmondwike, providing improved waiting facilities for bus passengers, 
including better security, better connectivity to the local area and better passenger 
information.

Further developments of the county wide Mcard prepaid travel system were 
undertaken, enabling more customers to purchase more flexible travel rights from a 
wider number of outlets.

A limited amount of work was undertaken on the NGT trolleybus project which was 
subject to a public inquiry that concluded in 2014.  Pending the outcome of that inquiry 
further work was required in readiness for an approval to proceed to procurement.  In 
May 2016 the Secretary of State announced that the NGT scheme would not be 
approved to progress although the £173.5m allocated to it would be made available for 
public transport in Leeds.  Plans to spend this money will be progressed during 2016.

WYCA was awarded funding in 2013 to deliver the Cycle City Connect project, a £26m 
scheme that includes the construction of a cycle superhighway between Leeds and 
Bradford.  During 2015/16 much of this work has been substantially completed, 
including the resurfacing of the canal towpath.  The highway is due to open in June 
2016 and work will then commence on the second phase of the project with funding 
secured in round 2 of the bidding process.

Rail North has been established as a separate body during the year and WYCA 
undertakes hosting arrangements for the organisation with its employees based in 
Wellington House.   From 1 April 2016 responsibility for making franchise 
arrangements and payments to train operators passes to Rail North.  Transport for the 
North is also in the process of being established and WYCA is leading on some of its 
priority workstreams including Smart in the North.  The team progressing this work are 
again based in Wellington House with employees seconded from both WYCA and 
other local authorities. 
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The accounts

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with The Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting UK 2015/16 which is based on approved International Financial 
Reporting Standards ("IFRS") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention and in 
accordance with applicable accounting standards. The accounts consist of the following:-

Following the IFRS Based Code requirements means that the Authority has a significant 
liability arising from the requirements of IAS19 Accounting for Pension Costs. This 
requires the Authority  to show in their accounts any deficit arising on their proportion of 
the West Yorkshire Pension Fund obligations as measured by the Actuary. Whilst this is 
in accordance with the requirements of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 it is 
offset by a negative Pensions Reserve. However, the impact of the deficit is long term 
and action is being taken to address it in accordance with the Actuary's projections.

The Summary of Accounting Policies which explain the basis for the recognition, 
measurement and disclosure of transactions and other events in the accounts. This 
includes the basis of charges to revenue and the calculation of balance sheet items.

The Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts.

The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement which shows the net cost for 
the current year of all the services for which the Authority is responsible and 
demonstrates how that cost has been financed.

The Movement in Reserves Statement reconciles the outturn on the income and 
expenditure account to the balance on the General Fund that is established by complying 
with the relevant statutory provisions.  It facilitates a full presentation of the financial 
performance of the Authority for the year.

The Balance Sheet shows the Authority's assets and liabilities.

The Cash Flow Statement summarises the inflows and outflows of cash arising from 
transactions with other parties for revenue and capital purposes.

The Annual Governance Statement is not part of the Statement of Accounts but is 
required to be provided with them. It provides information regarding the system of 
internal control during the financial year and covers the effectiveness of this for the 
group.
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Review of Revenue Expenditure for the West Yorkshire Combined Authority

2015/16 2015/16
Approved Budget Actual

£m £m
Funding
Government grant re rail 44.4 44.4
District Council Levies - net 96.2 96.2
Contributions to LEP 2.9 2.9
Ticket Sales 29.0 29.2
Transfer to reserves ( 0.4) ( 1.9)

172.1 170.8

Revenue Expenditure
Concessionary Travel 55.3 55.5
Subsidised Bus Services 17.4 17.6
Special Needs Transport 2.0 2.0
Passenger Services support 6.9 6.7
Economy 3.3 3.1
Prepaid tickets 29.0 29.2
Delivery 0.5 0.5
Local Rail Services 44.4 44.4
Financing costs (net) 7.5 6.4
Support costs 5.8 5.4

172.1 170.8

7

Revenue funding

In 2015/16 grant income was received from Central Government to cover franchised rail 
costs.  Grants formerly received directly from central Government towards the costs of 
the English National Concessions Scheme and rural bus services are now paid to the 
District councils as part of the revenue support grant. The remainder of the Authority’s 
expenditure was met by a Levy on the five constituent District Councils (Bradford, 
Calderdale, Kirklees, Leeds and Wakefield) and contributions from them and the City 
Region authorities for the LEP economic activities.  Funding is also received from 
government in support of LEP core costs. From 1 April 2016 rail franchise payments will 
be paid via Rail North and not via WYCA.

In 2006/07 the government introduced free local bus travel for senior citizens and 
disabled passengers and funded this through increases to the Revenue Support Grant 
provided to the constituent District Councils.  There was an uneven distribution between 
Districts and the Levy was issued to adjust for this with any excess being returned to the 
Districts. This agreement has subsequently been continued and the transport levy shown 
in the accounts for 2015/16 is the net amount.

The presentation above reflects the agreed format in which the budget is approved by 
the Authority and provides a more meaningful analysis of expenditure for the users of the 
accounts as the accounts present the majority of the expenditure in one line 'Highways 
and Transport Services.'  The segmental reporting note provides further analysis which is 
compatible with the presentation here.  The transfer to reserves figure is the same 
irrespective of the presentation adopted.  The most significant element of the larger than 
budgeted transfer to reserves is related to the interest earned and accrued on the 
Growing Places Fund which was transferred to the WYCA from the previous accountable 
body, Leeds City Council, late in 2015/16.
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Revenue expenditure

Overall the net Levy available for normal transport purposes has stayed the same as 
that paid to the WYCA in 2014/15. The levy was actually increased by 0.41% with the 
full value of the increase being set aside for the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund 
(WY+TF).  This is in addition to the amounts set aside in previous years for this 
purpose, demonstrating the local commitment to establishing the WY+TF.

The continuing levy freeze for normal transport purposes has only been possible as a 
result of the approach taken by the Authority to ongoing cost reductions.  The 
approach agreed by the former WYITA in 2012 to reduce the costs of tendered bus 
services has been successful, along with the changes to the reimbursement of 
discretionary concessionary fares.  As well as these other efficiency savings have 
continued to be pursued.

The Authority expects to face challenging financial constraints over the coming years 
as local government funding is severely reduced at a time when the activities of the 
Combined Authority are increasing.  Significant amounts have been taken out of the 
concessions and tendered services budgets through a managed process which has 
seen much of the cost picked up by the  operators but further opportunities for savings 
on this scale are not achievable.  Efficiency savings continue to be pursued but as 
concessionary reimbursement becomes an ever increasing proportion of the budget it 
is difficult to make the required savings.  Another set of three year agreements with 
bus operators on concessionary reimbursement was put in place from 1 April 2014 and 
whilst this will help to manage costs in the short term there will continue to be pressure 
on this budget.  It is expected that in future reimbursement will be made on the basis of 
smart data rather than surveys.   The bus strategy continues to be progressed and 
should this result in enhanced partnership working or franchising (which is likely to be 
dependent in any event on establishing a mayoral combined authority) this is likely to 
have significant budgetary implications in future years.

Capital expenditure

Total capital expenditure in the year was £119m, funded through a combination of 
income streams but primarily grants from the Department for Transport and the 
Department of Communities and Local Government (in relation to the Growth Deal).  
These included the LTP Integrated Transport block funding and highways maintenance 
grant totalling £42.3m which is then utilised by the Combined Authority and the 
constituent District Councils.   The Authority also applied capital grants for the Cycle 
City Ambition scheme of £11.7m.  Some funding was carried forward from 2014/15, 
reflecting the change by the DfT in paying multi-year grants in advance and also 
reflecting some reprofiling of LTP funded projects.  Similarly funding will be carried 
forward to 2015/16 enabling committed schemes and projects to be delivered despite 
changes in the timing of delivery.

The Growth Deal funding of £68.3m received for 2015/16 has been applied to some 
£32m of projects originally identified within the programme submitted to government.  
Recognising the need to reprofile some of the projects within that programme the 
flexibility awarded with the Growth Deal has been applied resulting in Growth Deal 
funding being utilised for some £30m of projects in WYCA' s capital portfolio with their 
original funding stream being carried forward to use in 2016/17.  An underspend of £6m 
on the Growth Deal has been accounted for in capital grants unapplied and will be 
utilised on projects that have been reprofiled to 2016/17.  
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Capital expenditure (continued)

The signficant capital schemes delivered in the year are set in the above narrative and 
as well as these there have also been investments in ICT, new bus shelters, 
contributions to highways schemes and contributions to rail schemes and carparks and 
further investment in smartcard technology. 

Treasury management

The Authority has continued to follow its approved treasury management policy and full 
details are set out in the accounts.   Changes to this policy have been made during the 
year to enable WYCA to better manage its increasing cash balances.  There has been 
significantly more income received in the year with the trend set to continue, as a result 
of WYCA taking on the responsibility of accountable body for funding awarded to the 
LEP.  This has resulted in fixed deposits of £70m being invested as at 31 March 2016.

The Authority's short term borrowing at the year end including accrued interest was 
£5.07m with long term borrowing at £75.5m, a £1m reduction on the balance at the end 
of 2014/15 due to the repayment of a £1m loan falling due within one year.  During the 
year the difficult financial situation has meant there have been no opportunities to 
undertake any refinancing of loans.  The Authority's borrowing requirement is reducing 
over coming years, reflecting the increase in cash grants rather than borrowing 
approvals for capital expenditure, and thus no further loans have been required.  This 
will be reviewed as the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund and other activities of the 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority are further developed.

Statement on the economy, efficiency and effectiveness of WYCA in its use of 
resources 

WYCA, in line with other public sector bodies, has always been mindful of the 
requirement to demonstrate value for money in its activities.  This value for money can 
be described in terms of the ‘three Es’ of economy ie careful use of resources to save 
expense, time or effort, efficiency ie delivering the same level of service for less cost, 
time or effort and effectiveness ie delivering a better service or getting a better return for 
the same amount of expense, time or effort. 

Previous sections of this narrative statement have set out the work that has been 
undertaken to understand the revenue budgets and levy and contributions funding these 
activities.  The transport levy has long been lower per head than those received in other 
metropolitan areas yet customer expectations have been met.  In the current year the 
offering to public transport customers was enhanced within current budgets by 
extending the half fare concessionary travel scheme to young people up to their 
nineteenth birthday. Passenger focus scores continue to confirm satisfaction with the 
transport services offered.  

Investment in infrastructure projects is driven by the SEP which sets out the outcomes 
required to create good growth in the region.  All projects are subject to the Single 
Appraisal Framework (SAF) which tests the robustness of each scheme in the pipeline 
to ensure it performs best against the WYCA objectives than other comparable 
schemes.  An assurance framework, reviewed annually by WYCA and by BIS, supports 
the Growth Deal investments.  A finance handbook, setting out the conditions under 
which funding is provided to District authority partners to deliver schemes within the 
West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund is applied to ensure an appropriate level of rigour to 
funding awarded.
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The appointment of a Managing Director to WYCA in February 2016 has set in process a 
review of the structure and processes at WYCA.  The corporate plan for 2016/17 is being 
closely linked to the aims of the SEP and a clear vision, mission, objectives and 
outcomes for WYCA are being developed.  Clear and measurable targets and outcomes 
for key priorities will be identified, including jobs, housing and infrastructure.  
Organisational changes will complement this enhanced focus.

Further Information

The Authority's accounts can also be supplied in large print, Braille or audiotape.  
Anyone wanting these options should contact the WYCA on 0113 251 7227.

Further information on the Authority is available on its website  www.westyorks-ca.gov.uk

Address: Wellington House, 40/50 Wellington Street, Leeds LS1 2DE

Telephone for general enquiries :  0113 251 7272
Metroline for travel enquiries etc : 0113 245 7676
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE COMBINED
AUTHORITY 
1. The Authority's Responsibilities

The Authority is required:

2. The Chief Financial Officer's Responsibilities

3. Certification of the Accounts

A Taylor
Chief Financial Officer

4. Approval of the Accounts

Councillor Box
Chair of the Authority

29 September 2016
11

In preparing this Statement of Accounts, I have selected suitable accounting policies and then 
applied them consistently, made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent and 
complied with the Code of Practice.

I have also kept proper accounting records which were up to date and taken reasonable steps for 
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

- to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure
that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In this 
Authority, that officer was the Director, Resources who is designated as Chief Financial  
Officer;

- to manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and 
safeguard its assets. 

- to approve the Statement of Accounts.

The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the preparation of the Authority's Statement of 
Accounts which, in terms of the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 
Great Britain ('the Code of Practice'), is required to present a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Authority at the accounting date and its income and expenditure for the year ended 
31 March 2016.

I certify that the Statement of Accounts present a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority at 31 March 2016 and its income and expenditure for the year 
ended 31 March 2016.

I certify that the Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue and approved by a resolution of the 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority meeting on 29 September 2016 in accordance with the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.  There are no material events after the balance sheet date 
that require reflecting in the Statement of Accounts.
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3.     The governance framework

12

The West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted 
in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded and properly 
accounted for, and used economically, efficiently and effectively. The WYCA also has a duty under the 
Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which 
its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

In discharging this overall responsibility, the WYCA is also responsible for putting in place proper 
arrangements for the governance of its affairs, facilitating the effective exercise of its functions including 
arrangements for the management of risk.  The WYCA has approved a Code of Corporate governance that 
is consistent with the principles of CIPFA Solace framework "Delivering good governance in Local 
Government".  This statement explains how the WYCA in accordance with the Accounts and Audit 
Regulations 2015 'ensures that the financial management is adequate and effective and that the body has 
a sound system of internal control which facilitates the effective exercise of that body's functions and which 
includes arrangements for the management of risk.'

The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, and culture and values, by which the 
WYCA is directed and controlled and its activities through which it accounts to and engages with the 
community. It enables the WYCA to monitor the achievement of strategic objectives and to consider 
whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost-effective services.

The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to manage risk to a 
reasonable level.  It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can 
therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal 
control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of 
the WYCA’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and their 
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.

The governance framework has been in place at the WYCA throughout the year ended 31 March 2016 and 
up to the date of approval of the financial statements.

There are a number of key elements of the systems and processes that comprise the WYCA’s governance 
arrangements. They are also encapsulated in the Local Code of Corporate Governance which has been 
approved by the WYCA and which is available on its website.  From 1 April 2015 the WYCA has taken on 
accountable body status for funding awarded to the Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership (LEP) and 
governance arrangements reflect this responsibility.  The LEP Board and its panels provide the policy 
direction and guidance with the WYCA providing the financial approvals.

a) Corporate policies and objectives are set and communicated by the WYCA.  At its initial meeting on 1 
April 2014 the WYCA clearly set out its ambitions to work with its partners across the region to effect 
economic growth in West Yorkshire.  The Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) produced in 2014 by the LEP set 
out investment priorities across the four pillars of supporting business, developing a skilled workforce, 
building a resource smart City Region and delivering the infrastructure for growth.  This has been adopted 
by the WYCA and during 2015/16 a refresh of the SEP, led by the LEP but contributed to by WYCA, has 
taken place, aimed at updating for developments over the intervening two years and reflecting experience 
in that period.  The revised version was approved by the WYCA on 31 March 2016 and by the LEP on 5 
April 2016.
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b)  The statutory Local Transport Plan (LTP) is also undergoing a refresh and will be relaunched later in 
2016 as the Single Transport Plan.  This will provide close links to the SEP and include new projects and 
initiatives that have emerged since the LTP was published in 2011.

A suite of supporting plans and strategies set out further detail on a range of priority areas, including 
housing and regeneration, digital infrastructure, green infrastructure, skills and trade and investment. 

c) The WYCA has sole responsibility for LTP3.  A system of governance has been agreed to manage the 
delivery and financial management of LTP3 with the District partners.  This includes officer and Member 
groups which can report as required to the Transport Committee and to the Combined Authority.  These 
groups include representation from the District Councils who are an important part of delivering transport 
projects across the region.

d) The West Yorkshire Transport Fund Assurance Framework sets out the appropriate safeguards and 
processes to be put in place to ensure the proper use of public funds and that value for money is secured 
when investing in transport schemes that form part of the Fund. 

This includes the prioritisation process for identifying the schemes that are included in the Fund and the 
following 3 stage Gateway Approval process on which investment decisions for prioritised schemes are 
based: 

Development Approval (Gateway 1) - scheme sponsors undertake modelling, appropriate feasibility work 
and the preparation of a high level business case;

Procurement Approval (Gateway 2) - scheme sponsors continue to develop more robust cost estimates, 
undertake high level WebTAG appraisal appropriate to the nature and complexity of the scheme, progress 
detailed design work, refine risk levels, prepare to seek a price from the market to implement the scheme 
and update the business case;

Implementation Approval (Gateway 3) – before implementation is approved, the WYCA needs to be 
satisfied that the final cost estimates are robust, risk exposure is acceptable, and that forecast outcomes 
remain comparable with those agreed in earlier gateways.

The WYCA is responsible for the approval for schemes passing through the above gateways.  Changes to 
schemes are carefully monitored by promoters through project and programme exception reporting and 
change control processes. If a scheme is subject to significant change, the WYCA could re-prioritise the 
scheme and could require the promoter to renew its mandate and revisit the business case. 

e) In April 2015 the Leeds City Region Growth Deal Assurance Framework was produced, building on 
existing good practice and drawing on government guidance.  This has been endorsed by the Governance 
and Audit Committee and has been used during 2015/16 by the WYCA and the LEP to support its decision 
making on Growth Deal funded projects. 

f)  The WYCA established new scrutiny arrangements by setting up an Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  
This meets regularly and consists of 18 members co-opted from the five West Yorkshire Councils and City 
of York Council and reflecting political balance.  During its second year of operation the Committee has not 
exercised its call-in function but has continued to engage positively in the development and understanding 
of policy and projects across the region.  Task and finish groups have been established and have met 
regularly to consider progress on devolution and on achieving organisational priorities.

g)  In addition Scrutiny committees within the West Yorkshire Districts and City of York Council will also 
often challenge the work being undertaken by the WYCA in such areas as accessibility and local bus 
services.  The District Consultation Sub-Committees in each District give a level of local involvement and 
allow the public the opportunity to scrutinise any new policy initiatives.

h) Member working groups have been established to enable more detailed consideration of bus tender 
awards (Bus Working Group) and budget matters (Finance Working Group).  The Finance Working Group 
has scrutinised a large number of budget areas and has overseen the development of a medium term 
financial strategy and detailed budget that bring together the funding available for both the transport and 
economic agendas.
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i)  The WYCA’s Governance and Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the effective operation of 
the systems of governance, risk management and internal control.  It oversees the work programme of 
the Internal Audit team and scrutinises the annual accounts including the Annual Governance Statement.  
An officer Audit and Risk Management Committee chaired by the Director, Resources, provides an 
operational level of management and review of arrangements in place.

j) Roles are defined and documented through job descriptions and competency based employee 
specifications.  Appointments have been made to all the posts required by statute, including Head of Paid 
Service (which forms part of the Managing Director’s role, s73 Officer, and the Monitoring Officer. Staff 
behaviours are guided by WYCA's values and its Code of Conduct and a similar Code exists for 
Members; both employees and Members are required to maintain a register of interests.  The Authority 
conforms to the requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local 
Government (2010). The Chief Financial Officer is the Director Resources who is a key member of the 
leadership team and is responsible for the proper administration of the WYCA’s financial arrangements 
through a suitably qualified and resourced Finance function. 

k) An internal team provide the internal audit service to the WYCA.  Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards (PSIAS) require the purpose, authority and responsibility of the internal audit activity to be 
defined in an internal audit charter, consistent with the definition of Internal Auditing, the Code of Ethics 
and the Standards.  The Internal Audit Charter establishes internal audit's position within the organisation, 
including the mandatory nature of the Chief Audit Executive's role; functional reporting relationship with 
the management team; authorises access to records, personnel and physical properties relevant to the 
performance of engagements; and defines the scope of internal audit activities.

l)  Compliance with established procedures, laws and regulations is ensured by a system that requires all 
decisions to set out all legal and financial implications. Schemes of officer delegation ensure that 
decisions are made at the appropriate level within the WYCA.  Procedures and policies are in place to 
ensure compliance with the Freedom of Information Act, Data Protection Act and Health and Safety 
requirements.  A whistleblowing policy and guidance notes are available on the website.

m)  Risk management is embedded in the activities of the WYCA with regular reviews of the risk registers 
and exception reporting through the officer Audit and Risk Management Group and through the Member 
Governance and Audit Committee.  A Risk Manual, endorsed by the Governance and Audit Committee 
sets out the risk management strategy in place and the way in which risks are identified, recorded and 
monitored.  Covalent, the Authority's performance management system, is available for the recording of 
operational risk registers and can provide reports based on a traffic light system, highlighting 'red' risks 
that may require action. Comments provided from an internal audit review of WYCA’s risk management 
framework have been considered and a plan agreed to develop these arrangements.

n)  Communication with stakeholders through the District Consultation Sub-Committees and Operator 
Groups take place.  Consultation events have taken place during the year on the Strategic Economic 
Plan, the Single Transport Plan, major schemes and the bus area network reviews which have 
successfully sought to contain costs but retain accessibility for bus users.

o)  A system of Standing Orders and Financial Regulations protect the organisation.  These are reviewed 
annually.  Procedural manuals and notes underpin these and ensure the reporting of financial 
transactions is properly managed. Officer schemes of delegation are also considered on an annual basis.

p) External reviews carried out by auditors and other agencies to achieve Customer Service Excellence 
and other accreditations with any recommendations identified creating a workplan for future 
improvements.

q)  With regard to the transport ticketing systems the WYCA has in place arrangements whereby an 
enhanced assurance statement is sought from Northern Rail stating that their systems have operated 
adequately with no material errors or weaknesses.  Payzone sales have replaced the Post Office network 
and are reconciled to the back office system ensuring that card sales through payzone are fully 
reimbursed to the WYCA.  An internal audit led review engaged an independent ICT systems specialist to 
assess the payzone systems control environment and a number of improvements were identified.
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The WYCA has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control. This review is informed by the work of the Internal Audit section and that of 
management within the WYCA who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the 
internal control environment, and also by comments made by External Auditors.

The WYCA has in place a system based on a framework of standing orders, financial regulations and 
administrative controls including codes of conduct and administrative policies and procedures.  All key 
administrative controls and financial instructions are reviewed on a regular basis by the WYCA’s 
management and Internal Audit.  Standing orders and financial regulations are updated as required and 
re-approved annually by the WYCA at its Annual Meeting.  In terms of financial accounting the WYCA 
utilises a core financial system which is tested and evaluated annually by Internal and External Audit.  
During the last year the Chief Financial Officer has provided to the Governance and Audit Committee a 
regular confirmation that key controls have been operating in the period.  The Assistant Director Finance 
reports regularly to the Audit and Risk Management Group that key controls have been operating in the 
period.

One of the key responsibilities within the WYCA is to determine, agree and monitor the annual budget.  
This responsibility involves setting an appropriate budget to fulfil the resource requirements of the WYCA 
in undertaking its transport, economic development and regeneration activities.  For 2016/17 this budget 
is an integrated one for the full breadth of the activities of the WYCA and work was undertaken during 
2015/16 with the Members on the Finance Working Group to understand the changes and opportunities 
introduced by the bringing together of transport and economic policy funding.

The budget setting process requires a comprehensive budget report to be presented to the full WYCA 
which gives a detailed forecast outturn for the current financial year and the proposed budget for the 
forthcoming financial year.  The budget process is overseen and scrutinised by the Finance Working 
Group providing challenge and direction from Members on budget principles.

Regular review of revenue and capital budgets is undertaken through Organisational Management Team 
and the Growth Deal Monitoring Group and updates to the WYCA are presented through the year.

Within the WYCA budgetary responsibility is devolved to Budget Holders and Controllers who are 
responsible for monitoring and controlling their assigned budget.  Regular budget performance reports 
are prepared by Finance for those charged with governance to ensure ongoing budgetary control is 
achieved.

The Treasury Management function for the Authority is undertaken in conjunction with Leeds City 
Council.  Their internal audit section provide an annual certification confirming the work they have 
undertaken during the year and their conclusions reached.

An internal team provides the internal audit resource for the WYCA.  The work of Internal Audit is 
informed by an assessment of risk and a strategic audit plan is devised based on these assessments.  
This plan and the audit reviews are submitted to the WYCA’s Governance and Audit Committee for 
consideration and the annual plan is then approved by the full Authority.  Regular update reports are 
provided to the Governance and Audit Committee by the Internal Audit Manager, including progress 
made on the implementation of audit recommendations.  Within the WYCA the Covalent system is used 
to monitor progress in implementing audit recommendations and is regularly reviewed by the directorate 
management teams and the Audit and Risk Management Group.

The WYCA continues to develop and refine its project management framework (is in the process of 
developing a Portfolio Management Office) ensuring that there is greater accountability and improved 
governance with regard to the management and delivery of projects.  Regular reports are provided to the 
Investment Committee and Combined Authority on progress with Local Growth Deal schemes, including 
the projects within the West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund.  Further work will take place during 2016/17 
to ensure that the delivery of capital projects is effectively organised and managed and that the 
procedures in place are suitably robust for the increasing volume of complex projects that need to be 
delivered by WYCA and its partners.
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4.      Review of Effectiveness (continued)

5.       Programme of Improvement

6.       Significant Governance Issues

Cllr Box B Still
Chair Managing Director

29 September 2016
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This section considers any significant issues that have arisen during the year.  This is by exception only.

No such significant issues have arisen in the year.

We are satisfied that an effective system of internal control has been in place throughout the financial 
year and is ongoing.

Throughout 2015/16 the WYCA has demonstrated an ongoing commitment to best practice and good 
corporate governance consistent with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework in Local 
Government and this is clearly demonstrated by the adoption of a Code of Corporate Governance which 
captures and summarises these principles. We are also satisfied with the improvements that are 
continuing under the guidance of the Governance and Audit Committee.

The WYCA has in place comprehensive risk management arrangements.  Reviews of risk take place 
at directorate management team level, supported by the Risk Manual which provides guidance on the 
identification, assessment and reporting of risk.  A risk appetite statement has been developed and 
approved during 2015/16.  An officer Audit and Risk Management Group meets on a periodic basis to 
ensure consistency in the assessment and management of risk and to provide an overview of the 
process.  The WYCA’s strategic risk register is considered quarterly by the Governance and Audit 
Committee.  These arrangements will evolve and be further developed to meet the changing needs of 
the West Yorkshire Combined Authority.  Risks relating to the workstreams and activities brought in to 
the WYCA by the transfer-in of the LEP employees in April 2015 continue to be assimilated into 
WYCA’s risk management framework.  Work is also underway to better align risks to corporate 
objectives and priorities which are in the process of being further developed following the review of the 
SEP and the appointment of a new Managing Director.

Internal Audit's Quality Assurance and Improvement Program ensures that activity is assessed 
against the requirements of professional standards, the Definition of Internal Audit and the Code of 
Ethics as specified by the Institute of Internal Auditors.  The WYCA has reviewed its systems of 
internal control, including the internal audit function and concluded that it complies with the 
requirements of PSIAS and the Local Government Application Note.

It is now two years since the West Yorkshire Combined Authority Order 2014 dissolved both the West 
Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive and the West Yorkshire Integrated Transport Authority from 
1 April 2014 and created the new WYCA.  The transfer in of the LEP employees on 1 April 2015 
coupled with WYCA taking on accountable body responsibilities for funding awarded to the LEP from 
that date has brought some changes to governance arrangements.  It is recognised that further 
changes could be beneficial, learning from the practical application of arrangements in the first two 
years of operation and reflecting on changes in the operating environment including the need to focus 
on economic growth and the recognition of public sector austerity.

Further work will therefore be undertaken in 2016/17 to ensure that all governance arrangements are 
fully aligned and that the economic policy and development functions are integrated fully into the 
WYCA’s governance framework.  This will include for example the development of the WYCA’s risk 
appetite, ensuring that risk registers are expanded to include the new areas of activity and decision-
making and assurance frameworks are fully integrated and developed.  Any new governance 
arrangements will be kept under review by the WYCA and will also be reflected in internal audit work 
programmes.
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WEST YORKSHIRE COMBINED AUTHORITY
MOVEMENT IN  RESERVES STATEMENT AS AT 31 MARCH 2016

General Capital WY Total Capital Financial Total
Fund Grants Rail Transport NGT Usable Adjustment Instruments Revaluation Donated Pension Unusable Total

Note Balance Unapplied Reserve Fund Reserve reserves Account Adj A/C Reserve Asset A/C Reserve reserves
£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Balance at 1st April 2014 - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Transfer of balances 1 April 2014 6,571 12,523 2,075 4,085 1,043 26,297 (20,768) 36 10,425 668 (63,893) (73,532) (47,235)
Movement in reserves during 
2014/15
Surplus on Provision of Service 16,378 - - - - 16,378 - - - - - - 16,378
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability 7 - - - - - - - - - - (3,907) (3,907) (3,907)
Revaluation of non-current assets 11,22 - - - - - - - - 1,436 - - 1,436 1,436
Total Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure 16,378 - - - - 16,378 - - 1,436 - (3,907) (2,471) 13,907

Adjustments between accounting 
basis and funding basis under regs
MRP 3 (3,678) - - - - (3,678) 3,678 - - - - 3,678 -
Finance costs early settlement discounts 6 76 - - - - 76 - (76) - - - (76) -
Refcus 3 73,956 - - - - 73,956 (73,956) - - - - (73,956) -
Capital grants applied 3 (74,039) - - (7,047) 23 (81,063) 81,063 - - - - 81,063 -
Capital Grants unapplied 22 (12,774) 12,774 - - - - - - - - - - -
Depreciation 22 5,300 - - - - 5,300 (5,300) - - - - (5,300) -
Transfer to pension reserve 7 1,050 - - - - 1,050 - - - - (1,050) (1,050) -
Total adjustments between accounting 
basis and funding basis under regs (10,109) 12,774 - (7,047) 23 (4,359) 5,485 (76) 1,436 - (1,050) 4,359 -

Increase/ (decrease) in year before
Transfer to ear-marked reserve 6,269 12,774 - (7,047) 23 12,019 5,485 (76) 1,436 - (4,957) 1,888 13,907
Transfer to ear-marked reserve (4,895) - - 4,895 - - - - - - - -
Increase/ (decrease) in year 1,374 12,774 - (2,152) 23 12,019 5,485 (76) 1,436 - (4,957) 1,888 13,907 

Balance at 31st March 2015 7,945 25,297 2,075 1,933 1,066 38,316 (15,283) (40) 11,861 668 (68,850) (71,644) (33,328)

General Capital WY Total Capital Financial Total
Fund Grants Rail Transport NGT Usable Adjustment Instruments Revaluation Donated Pension Unusable Total

Note Balance Unapplied Reserve Fund Reserve reserves Account Adj A/C Reserve Asset A/C Reserve reserves
£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Balance at 1st April 2015 7,945 25,297 2,075 1,933 1,066 38,316 (15,283) (40) 11,861 668 (68,850) (71,644) (33,328)
Transfer of balances 1 April 2015
Movement in reserves during 
2015/16
Surplus on Provision of Service 48,732 - - - - 48,732 - - - - - - 48,732
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability 7 - - - - - - - - - - 8,874 8,874 8,874
Net increase in liability on disposal/aquistn - - - - - - - - - - (95) (95) (95)
Revaluation of non-current assets 11,22 - - - - - - - - 468 - - 468 468
Total Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure 48,732 - - - - 48,732 - - 468 - 8,779 9,247 57,979

Adjustments between accounting 
basis and funding basis under regs
MRP 3 (3,531) - - - - (3,531) 3,531 - - - - 3,531 -
Finance costs early settlement discounts 6 76 - - - - 76 - (76) - - - (76) -
Refcus 22 112,243 - - - - 112,243 (112,243) - - - - (112,243) -
Capital grants applied 3,22 (151,777) - - 9,014 (77) (142,840) 142,840 - - - - 142,840 -
Capital Grants unapplied 22 (10,799) 10,799 - - - - - - - - - - -
Depreciation 22 5,414 - - - - 5,414 (5,414) - - - - (5,414) -
Transfer W/down of Soft Loans 17 920 - - - - 920 - (920) - - - (920) -
Transfer to pension reserve 7 1,091 - - - - 1,091 - - - - (1,091) (1,091) -
Impairment GPF Loans 17 4,800 - - - - 4,800 (4,800) - - - - (4,800) -
Total adjustments between accounting 
basis and funding basis under regs (41,563) 10,799 - 9,014 (77) (21,827) 23,914 (996) - - (1,091) 21,827 -

Increase/ (decrease) in year before
Transfer to ear-marked reserve 7,169 10,799 - 9,014 (77) 26,905 23,914 (996) 468 - 7,688 31,074 57,979
Transfer to ear-marked reserve (5,283) - - 5,283 - - - - - - - -
Increase/ (decrease) in year 1,886 10,799 - 14,297 (77) 26,905 23,914 (996) 468 - 7,688 31,074 57,979 

Balance at 31st March 2016 9,831 36,096 2,075 16,230 989 65,221 8,631 (1,036) 12,329 668 (61,162) (40,570) 24,651 

17

The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the Combined Authority, analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. 
those that can be applied to fund expenditure) and ‘unusable reserves'.  This category of reserves includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (for example 
the Revaluation Reserve, where amounts would only become available to provide services if the assets are sold); and reserves that hold timing differences (for example 
the Capital Adjustment Account).  The net surplus on provision of service shows the economic cost of providing the Authority’s services and the provision of grants to 
fund the introduction of capital assets, more details of which are shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
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WEST YORKSHIRE COMBINED AUTHORITY
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016

2014/15 Restated 2015/16

 Gross 
Expenditure 

 Gross 
Income 

 Net 
Expenditure 

 Gross 
Expenditure 

 Gross 
Income 

 Net 
Expenditure 

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's
Notes

254,901 (97,801) 157,100 Highways and Transport Services 8 282,216 (99,215) 183,001

- - - Economic Services 8 28,332 (8,957) 19,375

8,806 - 8,806 Corporate and Democratic Core 9,294 - 9,294

263,707 (97,801) 165,906 Cost of Services - continuing operations 319,842 (108,172) 211,670

3,302 - 3,302 Interest Payable 6 3,289 - 3,289

- (291) (291) Interest and Investment income 6 - (1,712) (1,712)

Net interest on the pension defined
2,611 2,611 benefit liability 7 2,078 - 2,078

269,620 (98,092) 171,528 Cost of Services and Financing 325,209 (109,884) 215,325

Non-Specific Grant Income

- (101,093) (101,093) District Council Levies 12 - (101,481) (101,481)

- (86,813) (86,813)  Government and Other Grants  (Capital) 9 - (162,576) (162,576)

269,620 (285,998) (16,378) (Surplus) on Provision of Services 325,209 (373,941) (48,732)

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit 
3,907 - 3,907 liability 7 - (8,874) (8,874)

Net increase in pension liability from disposal/
- - - acquisitions 7 95 - 95

- (1,436) (1,436) Surplus on revaluation of non -current assets 11,22 - (468) (468)

3,907 (1,436) 2,471 Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 95 (9,342) (9,247)

(13,907) Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (57,979)
============= ===========

Note :
1. The movement in reserves statement is shown on page 17.

2. The notes on pages 21 to 53 form part of these accounts.

18

The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure statement  shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") adopted by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 2015/16 and the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.

The prior year restatement related to a reclassification of capital grants received totalling  £73.956m to be compliant with the Code. 
This resulted in an increase in Government and Other Grants(Capital) by this amount and reducing Highways and Transport gross 
income by an equal amount. There was no impact on the reserves position.
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WEST YORKSHIRE COMBINED AUTHORITY
BALANCE SHEET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016

2015/16 2014/15
Notes £000's £000's

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, Plant, Equipment 11(e) 82,969 86,386
Long term Debtors 17 22,823 -

105,792 86,386

Current Assets
Assets held for sale 11(e) 650 650
Short term investment 21 70,314 35,000
Short term debtors 15 14,406 21,430
Cash and cash equivalents 16 12,400 9,175

97,770 66,255 

Total assets 203,562 152,641 

Liabilities

Current liabilities
Short term borrowing 19 (5,072) (4,572)
Trade and Other payables 18 (31,688) (25,050)
Accruals and deferred income 18 (5,315) (10,843)
Provisions 23 (174) (154)

(42,249) (40,619)

Long term borrowing 19,21 (75,500) (76,500)

Other long term liabilities
Net Pension liability 7 (61,162) (68,850)

Long term liabilities (136,662) (145,350)

Total Liabilities (178,911) (185,969)

NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 24,651 (33,328)

General Fund Balance 22 9,831 7,945 
Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve 22 36,096 25,297 
Rail Reserve 22 2,075 2,075 
NGT Reserve 22 989 1,066 
WY Transport Fund Reserve 22 16,230 1,933 
Usable Reserves 65,221 38,316 

Capital Adjustment Account 22 8,631 (15,283)
Financial instrument adjustment account 22 (1,036) (40)
Pension Reserves 22 (61,162) (68,850)
Revaluation Reserve 22 12,329 11,861 
Donated Asset Account 11(c) 668 668 
Unusable Reserves (40,570) (71,644)

Total reserves 24,651 (33,328)

Note : 1.     The movement in reserves statement is shown on page 17.
2.     The notes on pages 21 to 53 form part of these accounts.
3.     The opening balances of Leeds City Region Local Enterprise Partnership transferred in on 1 April 2015 are 
        shown in note 30.

A Taylor Date : 29 September 2016
Chief Financial Officer
WYCA
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The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities recognised by the Combined Authority. The net 
assets (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the Authority. Reserves are reported in two categories  being usable and 
unusable. Unusable reseves are those reserves that may be utilised to provide services, subject to the requirement to maintain a prudent level 
of reserves and any statutory limitations  on their use. Unusable reserves are those that the  Authority is not able to use for the provision of 
services. This category of reserves includes reserves  that hold unrealised gains and losses such as the revaluation reserve and those that 
support the  timing differences in capital investment (the Capital Adjustment Account).

SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE COMBINED AUTHORITY
The financial statements on pages  17-53  were approved by the Combined Authority on 29 September 2016 and were signed on their behalf 
by :
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WEST YORKSHIRE COMBINED AUTHORITY
CASHFLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016

2014/15 2015/16
£000's £000's

Operating Activities
16,378 Surplus on the Provision of Service 48,732
5,300 Depreciation 11e 5,414

- Write down of  loans 17 5,721
16 Increase in creditors 18 1,110

(10,658) (Increase)decrease in debtors 15 6,710
1,050 Transfer to the Pension Reserve 22 1,091

3 Provisions 23 20
(54) Profit from the sale of property, plant & equipment, 5 (129)
794 Fixed assets charged to revenue 11e 290

12,829 Net cash generated from operating activities 68,959 

Cash flows from investing activities
(7,901) Purchase of property, plant & equipment, 11e (1,819)

- New long term debtor loans advanced 17 (28,669)
(7,500) Short term investment 21 (35,000)

780 Proceeds from the sale of property, plant & equipment, 5 129 
(14,621) Net cash flows from investing activities (65,359)

Cash flows from financing activities
2,500 Receipt of new loans 500

(1,000) Repayment of loans 19 (1,000)
- Receipt of Debtor Loan repayments 17 125 

1,500 Net cash used from financing activities (375)

(292) Net (decrease)increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,225 

- Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period 9,175
9,467 Balances transferred in at 1 April 2014 -
9,175 Cash and cash equivalents at end of reporting period 16 12,400

The surplus on the provision of service includes the following items:

2014/15 2015/16
£000's £000's
3,302 Interest paid 6 3,289 
(291) Interest received 6 (1,712)

20

Purpose of cashflow 

The cashflow statement is a financial statement that shows how changes in balance sheet accounts and income affect cash 
and cash equivalents, and breaks the analysis down to operating, investing, and financing activities. Essentially, the 
cashflow statement is concerned with the flow of cash in and cash out of the business.

Cash and cash equivalents comprises operational cash balances, cash at bank and short-term  bank deposits.  Bank 
overdrafts that are repayable on demand also form an integral part of  the Authority's cash management arrangements. 
Included  in cash and cash equivalents is cash at bank held on behalf of third parties where the liability to repay these 
amounts is recognised under creditors.
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NOTES TO THE  ACCOUNTS:-

1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES FOR THE WEST YORKSHIRE COMBINED AUTHORITY

I.

21

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The Statement of Accounts summarises the Combined Authority's transactions for the 2015/16 financial 
year and its position for the year end of 31 March 2016. The Combined Authority is required to prepare 
an annual Statement of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015, in 
accordance with proper accounting practices. These practices primarily comprise the CIPFA/LASAAC 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2015/16 and the Service 
Reporting Code of Practice 2015/16, supported by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Statement of Compliance with IFRS 
The following accounting standards have been issued but not yet adopted by the Code: 

IFRS 14  Regulatory Deferral Accounts ( Issued Jan 14, Adoption 1 Jan 16)
IFRS 15  Revenue from Contracts with Customers ( Issued May 14, Adoption 1 Jan 17)
IFRS 16  Leases  (Issued Jan 16, Adoption 1 Jan 19)

The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost, modified 
by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and financial instruments.

The statements are prepared on a going concern basis with the accounts being prepared on the 
assumption that the functions of the West Yorkshire Combined Authority will continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future.

Accruals of income and expenditure

Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or 
received. In particular:

• Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Authority transfers the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership to the purchaser and it is probable that economic benefits or service potential 
associated with the transaction will flow to the Authority.

• Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the Authority can measure reliably the 
percentage of completion of the transaction and it is probable that economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Authority.

• Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is a gap between the 
date supplies are received and their consumption, they are carried as inventories on the Balance 
Sheet.

• Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are recorded
as expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments are made.

• Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for respectively as 
income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate for the relevant  financial 

instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract.
• Where revenue and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or paid, 

a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet. Where debts may not
be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to revenue for the income that 
might not be collected.
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II.

III. 
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Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make certain 
assumptions, estimates and judgements that may affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. These are based on historical experience and any other factors, including 
expectations of future events, that are considered appropriate, and these are continually reviewed. 
Subsequent actual results may however differ from these estimates and judgements. Areas where 
assumptions, estimates and judgements may give rise to adjustments to the carrying values of assets 
and liabilities in the financial year are as follows:

• Property revaluation (note 11): the Authority carries its non- infrastructure land and buildings at fair 
value.  Periodically, external surveyors are used, and the last full independent survey was carried out 
as at 31 March 2015.  Between independent surveys, reviews are carried out by internal but qualified 
staff. Such valuations and any attached estimates are subject to some judgement.

• Leases (note 26) : The Authority has classified leases as either finance or operating leases based on 
the extent to which the risks and rewards incidental to ownership lie with the lessee or lessor.  The 
Authority has classified certain contracts as operating leases although the legal form of the 
arrangement is not a lease. 

• Retirement benefit obligations (note 7) : the cost of defined benefit pension plans is determined using 
an independent actuarial valuation, involving the use of assumptions about discount rates, returns on 
assets, future salary increases, mortality rates, inflation and future pension increases. Such 
assumptions are reviewed at each period end, and determined jointly between the pension fund 
management and the actuaries.

REVENUE EXPENDITURE FINANCED FROM CAPITAL UNDER STATUTE 

Expenditure incurred by the Authority that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but does not 
result in the creation of a non-current asset (ie rail  infrastructure) is charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure account. The Authority meets this expenditure from existing capital resources 
with capital grants reversed against the expenditure charged to revenue so there is no impact on the 
revenue grant requirement.

a)     PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Infrastructure Assets and Plant and Equipment are stated at depreciated historical cost, net of 
accumulated impairment losses.  Non-Infrastructure Land and buildings are measured at current value 
which is Existing Use Value (EUV) where there is an active market or Depreciated Replacement Cost 
(DRC) where it relates to a specialised asset. Valuations are performed at intervals of no more than five 
years to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount. 
A full revaluation of the Authority’s Non-Infrastructure Land and Buildings and the office building 
(Wellington House) was carried out by an MRICS qualified valuer of Lambert Smith Hampton, a firm of 
external Chartered Surveyors. The revaluation was carried out as at 31 March 2015 on an Existing Use 
Value (EUV) and Depreciated Replacement Cost (DRC) in accordance with IAS 16. A revaluation of  the 
Authority's on-street furniture was carried out as at 31 March 2008 however under IFRS these are 
infrastructure assets and are valued at historical cost. A revaluation update of Non-Infrastructure Land 
and Buildings was undertaken by Lambert Smith Hampton as at 31 March 2016.                                   
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- Infrastructure Assets and Plant and Equipment are recorded at original cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and for assets 
constructed by the Authority, any related works to the extent that these are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or construction of the asset. The gain or loss arising on disposal of an asset is determined as 
the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the 
income statement. Subsequent costs are included in the carrying value of an asset when it is probable 
that additional future economic benefits will flow to the Authority and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other repairs and renewals are charged to the income statement as incurred.

- Depreciation or amortisation is provided so as to write off, on a straight-line basis, the cost of property, 
plant and equipment and intangible fixed assets including those held under finance leases. These 
charges are commenced from the dates the assets are available for their intended use and are spread 
over their estimated useful economic lives. The estimated useful lives of assets are reviewed regularly 
and, when necessary, revised. Accelerated depreciation or amortisation is provided where an asset is 
expected to become obsolete before the end of its normal useful life or if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that an impairment loss needs to be recognised, as discussed below. No further 
charges are provided in respect of assets that are fully written down but are still in use. The estimated 
useful lives for the main categories of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are:

Freehold and Long Leasehold Buildings Between 5 and 50 years
On-street Furniture and Infrastructure 20 years
Rail Units Leased 10 years
Vehicles Between 4 and 16 years
Plant and Equipment Between 4 and 10 years
Office Furniture and Equipment Between 4 and 10 years

- Freehold land, either at cost or valuation, is not depreciated. Management regularly considers whether 
there are any indications of impairment to carrying values of property, plant and equipment. Impairment 
reviews are based on risk adjusted discounted cash flow projections. Significant judgement is applied to 
the assumptions underlying these projections which include estimated discount rates, growth rates, future 
selling prices and direct costs. Changes to these assumptions could have a material impact on the 
financial position of the Authority and on the result for the year.

c)       Discontinued Operations and Non-current Assets Held for Sale

Discontinued operations and Non-current assets held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell. Discontinued operations and current assets are classified as held 
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through 
continuing use. This is the case, when the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition 
subject only to terms that are usual and customary for sales of such assets and the sale is considered to 
be highly probable. A sale is considered to be highly probable if the appropriate level of management is 
committed to a plan to sell the asset and an active programme to locate a buyer and complete the plan 
has been initiated. 

d)        Donated Assets

Donated assets are assets that have been transferred to the Authority at nil  value or acquired at less than 
fair value. Donated assets are initially recognised at fair value at the date of acquisition. After initial 
recognition the donated assets will be revalued and depreciated in accordance with the Authority's 
revaluation and depreciation policy. A Donated Assets account recognises the benefit received from these 
assets where conditions apply to the assets use.

b)         Progress payments for capital assets

Progress payments for capital assets or schemes not yet completed are held in Work In Progress. The 
assets are transferred to the appropriate heading and are subject to depreciation when they become 
available for use. The Authority writes out directly attributable costs on capital schemes where no 
tangible asset exists to reflect a true and fair view of the asset base.

60



IV.

V.

VI.

VII.
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RAIL INFRASTRUCTURE

Expenditure now incurred by the Authority on any rail infrastructure projects is not capitalised. The 
Authority has no ownership/legal rights in respect of the infrastructure and as a consequence the costs 
are charged directly to revenue.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third party contributions 
and donations are recognised as due to the Authority when there is reasonable assurance that: 

- the Authority will comply with the conditions attached to the payments, and 

- the grants or contributions will be received. 

Amounts recognised as due to the Authority are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to the grant or contribution have been satisfied 
Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied in 
the asset acquired using the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as 
specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the transferor. 

CHARGES TO REVENUE

For the Authority depreciation has been shown as part of the service expenditure. The Authority has 
considered the impairment of fixed assets in accordance with IAS 36 and no charges for impairment have 
been made. Such depreciation or impairment is then required by the Code to be credited in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement on the General Fund Balance to avoid it being a net charge to the 
accounts. Amounts set aside from revenue for the repayment of external loans are also shown separately 
through the Movement in Reserves Statement on the General Fund Balance.

INVESTMENTS

Investments are shown on the Balance Sheet at amortised cost less provision, where appropriate, for loss 
in value. Investment income is credited to the revenue account when it falls due.

Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried in 
the Balance Sheet as creditors. When conditions are satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to 
the relevant service line (attributable revenue grants and contributions) or Taxation and Non-Specific 
Grant Income (non-ring fenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 

Capital Grants

Grants to fund capital expenditure from government and other bodies are credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) where the grant conditions have been met.  
In order to recognise that the capital grants are provided to finance capital expenditure the grants are 
subsequently transferred from the CIES to the Capital Adjustment Account.  If expenditure has not been 
incurred at the balance sheet date the grant is transferred to the Capital Grants Unapplied Account.
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement will recognise capital grants to the extent that 
they offset capital expenditure charged directly to revenue (see policy V. above).
Details of capital grants receivable and released are set out in Note 22 to the Authority Accounts.
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PENSION COSTS

The requirements of IAS 19 "Retirement Benefits" have been fully adopted in the financial statements of 
the Authority. Detailed disclosures can be found in note 7 to the Accounts. 

The Combined Authority is an employing authority within the West Yorkshire Pension Fund which is a 
funded pension scheme.  Most employees participate in this scheme which provides defined benefits 
payable to members on and after their retirement.  Contributions made to the fund for both current and 
past services are charged to the revenue account as they are paid.  Contribution levels are determined by 
the Fund.  The Fund is a statutorily established pension fund and the benefits are paid under the 
provisions of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2014.

The Combined Authority has a continuing responsibility for any payments to the Fund in respect of  all 
staff who were transferred to Yorkshire Rider Limited (now First West Yorkshire) as a consequence of the 
Transport Act 1985.  The annual cost of this responsibility is charged to the revenue account under 
Highways and Transport and Corporate and Democratic Core.

The liabilities of the pension fund attributable to the Authority are included in the Balance Sheet on an 
actuarial basis using the projected unit method, i.e. an assessment of the future payments that will be 
made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about 
mortality rates, employees turnover rates, etc, and projections of projected earnings for current 
employees.
The assets of the pension fund attributable to the Authority are included in the Balance Sheet at their fair 
value:

 Quoted securities at current bid price

 Unquoted securities based on professional estimate

 Unitised securities at current bid price

 Property at market value

RESERVES

The General Fund Balance is a revenue reserve and transfers to and from the reserve are recognised 
through the Movement in Reserves Statement.  Expenditure is charged to revenue and not directly to the 
reserve. Other reserves (capital adjustment, financial instruments adjustment, revaluation and pension 
reserves) are not available for revenue purposes and can only be used for specific statutory purposes.
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The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into seven components:

Current service costs - the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year -
allocated in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the services for which the 
employee worked;

Past service cost - the increase in liabilities arising from current year decisions whose effect relates to 
years of service earned in earlier years - debited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the service costs;

Interest expense on the defined benefit obligation - the interest on the present value of liabilities 
and interest on the net changes in those liabilities during the year calculated using the discount rate at 
the start of the period debited to the Pensions interest expense/income on the net liability in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement ;

Interest income on assets - the interest income applied to the asset and net changes in the asset 
during the year - credited to the Pensions interest expense/income on the net liability in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement ;

Gains or losses on settlements and curtailments - the result of actions to relieve the Authority of 
liabilities or events that reduce the expected future service or accrual of benefits of employees - debited 
or credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as part of the service costs;

Actuarial gains and losses - changes in the net pensions liability  that arise because events have not 
coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries have updated 
their assumptions - debited to the Pensions Reserve; and

Contributions paid to the pension fund - cash paid as employer's contributions to the pension fund 
in settlement of liabilities; not accounted for as an expense.

In relation to the retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance to be 
charged with the amount payable by the Authority to the pension fund or directly to pensioners in the 
year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards.  In the Movement in 
Reserves Statement, this means that there are appropriations to and from the Pensions Reserve to 
remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash 
paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable that are unpaid at the year-
end.  The balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the adverse impact to the 
General Fund of being required to account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than 
as benefits are earned by employees.
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TAXATION

Corporation, Income and Capital Gains Tax

The West Yorkshire Combined Authority is exempt from Corporation, Income and Capital Gains tax 
by virtue of regulations section 74 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988. 

Value Added Tax (VAT)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of VAT except:

- Irrecoverable VAT on the purchase of assets or services is recognised as
an expense in the income statement.

- Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT 
included.

The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

DEBTORS

Debtors are adjusted for doubtful debts which are provided for with known uncollectable debts being 
written off.

PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Authority has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. A provision for restructuring 
is recognised when management has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the 
restructuring has either commenced or has been announced publicly. In accordance with the 
Authority’s environmental policy and applicable legal requirements, a provision for site restoration in 
respect of contaminated land is recognised  when the land is contaminated. Provisions for 
environmental issues are judgemental by their nature and more difficult to estimate when they relate 
to sites no longer directly controlled by the Authority. The Authority has taken a consistent approach 
to estimating environmental provisions.

EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

The Authority presents certain items separately as ‘exceptional’. These are items, which in 
management’s judgement, need to be disclosed by virtue of their size and incidence in order for the 
user to obtain a proper understanding of the financial information. The determination of which items 
are separately disclosed as exceptional items requires a significant degree of judgement.
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LEASED ASSETS

Assets acquired under finance leases, where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the assets have passed to the Authority, are capitalised in the balance sheet and depreciated over 
their useful lives. The corresponding lease commitment is shown as a liability. Lease payments are 
analysed between capital and interest. The interest element is charged to the income statement over 
the period of the lease and is calculated so that it represents a constant proportion of the lease 
liability.

Rentals payable under operating leases (where the risks and rewards incidental to ownership remain 
with the lessor), are charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the lease term. 
When the lease becomes onerous full provision is made of the expected discounted future cost of the 
lease.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity. The term ‘financial instrument’ covers both financial 
assets and financial liabilities.

Financial Assets

Financial assets can be classified as cash and cash equivalents (short term deposits) trade 
receivables and loans receivable.  The Authority does not hold instruments designated as 
available-for-sale assets. Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value and subsequent 
measurement depends on their classification as follows:-

Cash and cash equivalents: consist of funds placed with banks and other instituations with deposit 
terms of 3 months or less. For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents 
are as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Loans and receivables: Consist of non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments not quoted in an active market.  Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. This means for most of the loans advanced by the Authority the 
amount presented in the balance sheet is the principal plus accrued interest, with the exception of 
soft loans where a present value calculation of future cashflows discounted at the higher effective 
interest rate is undertaken.  Gains and losses are recognised in the Income and Expenditure 
Statement when the assets are amortised, derecognised or impaired.

Trade and other receivables: recognised and carried at invoice or contract value less an allowance 
for any amounts which may not be collectable.  Should an amount become uncollectable, it is 
written off to the income statement in the period in which it is recognised.

Impairment of financial assets: the Authority assesses at each period end whether there is any 
evidence that a financial asset, or group of assets, is impaired.  Financial assets are impaired if, 
and only if, there is objective evidence of one or more events that will negatively impact future 
expected cash flows, and the impact can be reliably estimated.  Objective evidence may be that a 
debtor is experiencing financial difficulty to the extent that cash flows are, or are likely to be, 
negatively impacted.  If such objective evidence exists, then the financial asset is impaired to  the 
extent of the present value of estimated cash flow shortfall.  The amount of the allowance for 
impairment is recorded separately to the asset, and written off against income.
Financial assets are derecognised when the appropriate cash flows have been received, or when 
the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired.
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Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities can be classified as loans and borrowings and trade and other payables and are 
initially recognised at fair value. Subsequent measurement of liabilities depends on their 
classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings: non-derivative financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments not 
quoted in an active market.  Such interest-bearing liabilities are carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method.  Gains and losses are recognised in the Income and Expenditure 
Statement when the liabiliities are amortised, derecognised or impaired.

Trade and other payables: recognised and carried at invoice or contract value.  Should an amount 
become non-payable, it is written back to the Statement of Income and Expenditure in the period in 
which it is recognised.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the appropriate cash flow obligations have been 
discharged, expired or otherwise cancelled. 

Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount reported in the Balance sheet, if and 
only if there is an enforceable legal right to offset, and there is an intention to settle on a net basis 
in order to realise the assets and discharge the liabilities simultaneously.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

All foreign currency income and expenses are translated at the rate ruling on the day of the 
transaction with the resultant profit or loss recognised immediately in the revenue account.  All foreign 
currency assets and liabilities in the balance sheet are translated at the balance sheet date.

EVENTS AFTER  THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

The Statement of Accounts are authorised for issue by the Chief Financial Officer as at 29 
September 2016. Events taking place after this date are not reflected in the financial statements or 
notes. Where events taking place before this date provided information about conditions existing at 
31 March 2016, the figures in the financial statements  and notes have been adjusted in all material 
respects to reflect the impact of the information (adjusting events). Events indicative of conditions 
that arose after the reporting period are not adjusted (non-adjusting events).

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

Contingent Liabilities (note 27): A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that 
gives the authority a possible obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence 
or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the authority. Contingent 
liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot be 
measured reliably.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the 
accounts.
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CONSOLIDATION OF JOINT VENTURE

The concept of materiality has been considered in respect of the  consolidation of Yorcard Ltd into 
the Authority's accounts.  Materiality is determined as an omission or misstatement that may 
influence an economic decision of the user of the accounts. On this basis Management have 
adopted a policy to exclude the  Yorcard Ltd Joint Venture  from full consolidation but have 
disclosed in note 24 the financial performance and position in accordance with IAS31 "Interests in 
Joint ventures".

PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS, CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES , ESTIMATES AND ERRORS

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a 
material error. Changes in estimation techniques are accounted for prospectively and do not give 
rise to a prior period adjustment.

Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practice or the 
change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other events  
and conditions on the Authority's financial position or performance. Changes are made 
retrospectively by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period.
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2 The Accounts

3 Capital Expenditure and Financing

2015/16 2014/15
Capital Financing Requirement £000's £000's
Opening Balance 88,267 91,945

88,267 91,945
Capital Investment
Property, Plant and Equipment 1,819 7,901
Housing and Regeneration Investment 5,232 -
Growing Places Fund Loans 23,837 -

Revenue Funded from Capital
Under statute 111,953 73,162

Sources of Finance
Government grants and other capital contributions (151,777) (74,039) 

Capital Reserve contributions 8,936 (7,024) 

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) (3,531) (3,678) 

Movement in year (3,531) (3,678) 

Closing Capital Financing Requirement 84,736 88,267

31

The Authority has a statutory obligation to make adequate provision to meet its liabilities in respect of 
capital expenditure financed by external borrowing. The method of calculating the provision is defined 
by statute. For 2015/16 the amount is £3.531m. 

The provision has been charged to service revenue accounts as a depreciation charge for fixed 
assets related to that service. The balance has been transferred from the Capital Adjustment Account 
to the General Fund Balance to ensure that the charge to the amount met from Government Grant 
and Local Taxation equates to the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below (including the 
value of assets acquired under finance leases), together with the resources that have been used to 
finance it. Where capital expenditure is to be financed in future years by charges to revenue as assets 
are used by the Authority, the expenditure results in an increase in the Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the Authority that has yet to be 
financed. 

The CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting based on International Financial 
Reporting Standards in the United Kingdom 2015/16 (IFRS based code): The IFRS based code 
requires all authorities who have a group interest in another organisation to produce group accounts 
based on IFRS 3 business combinations and IAS 27 consolidated and separate financial statements 
except where interpretations or adaptions for public sector apply. The accounts of the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority however have not been prepared as group accounts reflecting that the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority is a single entity with a small joint venture which is not consolidated 
within the financial statements as disclosed at note 24.

The capital Financing requirement decreased in 2015/16 by the level of provision for the repayment 
of debt as there was no increase in the requirement to borrow to fund capital expenditure.
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Segmental Reporting

The analysis of income and expenditure by service on the face of the comprehensive income and 
expenditure statement is that specified by the Service Reporting Code of Practice (SeRCOP).
However, decisions about resource allocation are taken by the Authority on the basis of budget 
reports.  These reports are prepared on a different basis from the accounting policies used in the 
financial statements.  In particular capital grants are credited to the revenue account to reflect the 
write off to revenue of non asset producing capital expenditure (REFCUS) and the cost of 
retirement benefits is based on cash flows (payment of employer’s pension contributions) rather 
than current/past service cost of benefits accrued in the year. 

Presented below is the restatement of Cost of Services and specific and non-specific grant income 
as reported to the Authority's decision makers.
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4. Segmental Reporting - Resource allocation

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Other Income (11,283) (13,214) - - - - (29,227) (29,678) (2,839) (2,581) (2,373) - (6,472) (4,905) (52,194) (50,378)
Government Grants (5,022) (4,269) - - (44,372) (43,154) - - - (6,584) - - - (55,978) (47,423)
Total Income (16,305) (17,483) - - (44,372) (43,154) (29,227) (29,678) (2,839) (2,581) (8,957) - (6,472) (4,905) (108,172) (97,801)

-
Operating Expenditure 32,983 34,825 55,452 53,736 43,467 42,251 29,227 29,678 - - - - - 161,129 160,490
Other Cost of Service -
Expenditure 9,093 7,798 - - - - - - 107,082 82,319 28,595 - 9,516 9,361 154,286 99,478
Total Operating 42,076 42,623 55,452 53,736 43,467 42,251 29,227 29,678 107,082 82,319 28,595 - 9,516 9,361 315,415 259,968
 Expenditure -
Cost of services 25,771 25,140 55,452 53,736 (905) (903) - - 104,243 79,738 19,638 - 3,044 4,456 207,243 162,167

Reconciliation of Segmental Analysis  and Cost of services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

2015/16 2014/15
£000's £000's

Segmental Analysis of
Cost of Service 207,243 162,167
Pensions IAS19 (987) (1,561)
Non Government Capital Grants - -
Depreciation/Capital expenditure 5,414 5,300

Cost of Service CIES 211,670 165,906
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TotalOther
Passenger 
FacilitiesPrepaid TicketsRail ConcessionsBus Services

Economic 
Development
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5 Disposal of Fixed Assets
2015/16 2014/15

£000's £000's
Net Book Value of Assets - 726 
Proceeds from sale (129) (780) 
(Profit) on disposal of fixed assets by the Authority (129) (54) 

2015/16 2014/15
£000's £000's

6 Financing Income and Costs

Interest receivable on Loans, deposits and other debts (1,712) (291)

Interest payable on Loans 3,289 3,302 

Effect of early settlement of Loans (76) (76)

7 Pension Costs 

7.1 Defined Benefit Pension Scheme

7.2 Capital Cost of Discretionary Increases in Pension Payments.

31 March 2016 31 March 2015
£000's £000's

i) Current Employees 2,632 2,270

ii) Former Employees 1,167 1,226

7.3 Pension disclosures required under IAS 19

Unfunded Funded Unfunded Funded
Duration of liabilities 12yrs 14.4yrs 12yrs 14.4yrs
Inflation : RPI 2.8% 2.8% 2.9% 2.9%
               CPI    1.7% 1.7% 1.8% 1.8%
Rate of increase in salaries - 3.2% - 3.3%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment 1.7% 1.7% 1.8% 1.8%
Pension account revaluation rate - 1.7% - 1.8%
Rate used to discount funded scheme liabilities 3.3% 3.3% 3.1% 3.1%

31/03/2016 31/03/2015
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The Authority participates in the West Yorkshire Pension Fund, administered by Bradford Metropolitan District Council. This is a funded 
defined benefit scheme, meaning that the Authority and their employees pay contributions into a fund, calculated at a level intended to 
balance the pensions liabilities with investment assets. The pension assets and liabilities transferred to the Combined Authority were subject 
to the actuarial valuation carried out at 31 March 2013 which determined the employer contributions for the next three years. In recognising 
that the WYPTE and WYITA have been dissolved and its pension assets and liabilities transferred to the West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
at 1 April 2014 a rate has been determined for the new entity of 13.5% plus a lump sum of £0.96m in 2014/15. The contribution rate for 
2015/16 and 2016/17 remains at 13.5% and the deficit lump sums are £1.03m and £1.09m respectively.

The Authority is required to disclose the capital cost of discretionary increases in pension payments, which related to the award of added 
years on the early retirement of employees. Separate disclosure is required for the in year discretionary awards and the ongoing costs of 
previous years discretionary payments.  The capital costs relating to the awards of discretionary added years are set out below:-

The Authority's West Yorkshire Pension Fund liabilities have been assessed by AON Hewitt Ltd, an independent firm of actuaries. Liabilities 
have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, an estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years 
dependent on assumptions about mortality rates, salary levels etc. The main assumptions used in their calculations have been:

A large proportion of the pension costs in respect of former employees is in respect of staff transferred to Yorkshire Rider Limited, as 
explained in the  Authority’s accounting policy note on pension costs.

71



7.3 Pension disclosures required under IAS 19 (continued)

Mortality assumptions
Post retirement mortality (retirement in normal health) :-

31/03/2016 31/03/2015
Standard SAPS Normal Health All Amounts Standard SAPS Normal Health All Amounts
Males :  CMI 2012   Long term rate of Males :  CMI 2012   Long term rate of 

improvement of 1.5% improvement of 1.5%

Females : CMI 2012   Long term rate of Females : CMI 2012   Long term rate of 
improvement of 1.5% improvement of 1.5%

Life Expectancy
 - of a male (female) future pensioner aged 65 in 20yrs time 24.9 (28.0) Years 24.8 (27.8) Years
 - of a male (female) current pensioner aged 65 22.7 (25.6) Years 22.6 (25.5) Years

The assets of the scheme  were:
 31 March 2016  31 March 2015

Asset Asset
Quoted Unquoted Total £000's Quoted Unquoted Total £000's

% % % % % %
Equities 69.4 6.2 75.6 91,953 69.9 6.3 76.2 95,672
Government Bonds 10.3 0.0 10.3 12,528 10.6 0.0 10.6 13,309
Other Bonds 4.6 0.0 4.6 5,595 4.7 0.0 4.7 5,901
Property 4.9 0.0 4.9 5,960 4.3 0.0 4.3 5,399
Cash/Liquidity 1.3 0.0 1.3 1,581 1.9 0.0 1.9 2,386
Other 1.2 2.1 3.3 4,013 0.0 2.3 2.3 2,888
Total 91.7 8.3 100.0 121,630 91.4 8.6 100.0 125,555

Reconciliation of unfunded/funded status to Balance Sheet

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's
Unfunded Funded All Benefits Unfunded Funded All Benefits

Fair Value of assets - 121,630 121,630 - 125,555 125,555 
Present value of unfunded/ funded defined
benefit obligation 12,308 170,484 182,792 13,608 180,797 194,405 
Funded status (12,308) (48,854) (61,162) (13,608) (55,242) (68,850) 
Impact of minimum funding requirement
/asset ceiling - - - - - -
Asset/(liability) recognised on the balance 
sheet (12,308) (48,854) (61,162) (13,608) (55,242) (68,850) 

Reconciliation of present value of scheme liabilities
£000's £000's £000's £000's

31/03/2016 31/03/2016 31/03/2015 31/03/2015
      Unfunded All Benefits       Unfunded All Benefits

Opening balance 1 April 13,608 194,405 - -
Balance transferred in at 1 April 2014 - - 13,739 180,988 
Current service cost - 2,805 - 1,826 
Interest cost 403 5,901 552 7,424 
Member Contributions - 837 - 634 
Past service cost - 50 - 76 
Actuarial gain/loss financial assumptn (276) (9,370) 668 13,911 
Actuarial gain/loss Demographic 0 0 0 0 
Actuarial gain/loss experience (227) (2,586) (128) (1,290) 
Curtailments - - - -
Net increase in liabilities from disposals/acquisitions - 280 - -
Benefits paid (1,200) (9,530) (1,223) (9,164)
Closing balance 31 March 12,308 182,792 13,608 194,405 
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31 March 2016 31 March 2015

As part of the 2013 actuarial valuation the mortality experience was analysed across the fund over a 3 year period to 31 March 2013 and 
assumptions have been amended regarding life expectancy. The mortality allowance for future improvements uses the Continuous Mortality 
Investigation (CMI) Mortality Projections model with the model updated annually to reflect the latest emerging experience. This means there 
will continue to be regular changes to the assumptions for future improvements in mortality rates as new data is taken into account.

Assets in the West Yorkshire Pension Fund are valued at fair value, principally market value for investments, and consist of the following 
categories set out below. The valuation as at 31 March 2013 of the pension scheme proportion as applied to the Authority is rolled forward for 
31 March 2016 (showing the proportion of assets between the classes of investment)  and are as follows:-
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7.3 Pension disclosures required under IAS 19 (continued)

Reconciliation of fair value of scheme assets £000's £000's £000's £000's
31/03/2016 31/03/2016 31/03/2015 31/03/2015

      Unfunded All Benefits       Unfunded All Benefits
Opening balance 1 April - 125,555 - -
Balance transferred in at 1 April 2014 - - - 117,095
Interest income on scheme assets - 3,823 - 4,813
Remeasurement of (losses)/gains - (3,082) - 8,714
Contributions paid by employer 1,200 3,842 1,223 3,463
Member Contributions - 837 - 634
Net increase in liabilities from disposals/aquisitns - 185 - -
Benefits paid (1,200) (9,530) (1,223) (9,164)
Closing balance 31 March - 121,630 - 125,555

Actual return on assets 31/03/2015 31/03/2015
£000's £000's

Interest income on assets 3,823 4,813
Remeasurement gain/(loss) on assets (3,082) 8,714
Actual return on assets 741 13,527 

The amounts recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
31/03/2016 31/03/2015

 Cost of Service £'000 £'000

Current Service Cost 2,805 1,826 

Past Service Cost 50 76 

Curtailments or settlements - -

Financing Investment Income and Expenditure

Interest on net defined benefit liability 2,078 2,611 

Total pension cost recognised 4,933 4,513 

Remeasurements in Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

Return on plan assets (in excess)/below that 
recognised in net interest 3,082 (8,714) 

Actuarial (gains)/losses due to change in Financial assumption (9,370) 13,911 

Actuarial (gains)/losses due to change in 
Demograghic assumption - -

Actuarial (gains) due to liability experience (2,586) (1,290) 

Total amount recognised in Other Comprehensive income (8,874) 3,907

Net increase in liabilities from disposals/acquisitions 95 -

Total amount recognised (3,846) 8,420

Estimated pension expense in future periods 

Funded LGPS benefits - Expected amounts charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services

31/03/2017 31/03/2018
£'000 £'000

Projected service cost 2,644 2,729
Past Service cost - -
Interest on the net defined benefit liability/(asset) 1,554 1,616

4,198 4,345

Unfunded LGPS benefits - Expected amounts charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services

31/03/2017 31/03/2018
£'000 £'000

Interest on the net defined benefit liability/(asset) 386 359
386 359
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This is an estimate of the charges to the surplus or deficit on the income and expenditure account in future periods, based on the 
assumptions as at 31 March 2016.
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Sensitivity Analysis

Funded LGPS benefits

Adjustment to discount rate +0.1%pa Base Figure -0.1%pa
Present value of total obligation £000's 168,048 170,484 172,955
% change in present value of total obligation -1.4% 1.4%
Projected service cost £000's 2,559 2,644 2,731
Approximate % change in projected service cost -3.2% 3.3%

Adjustment to rate of increase in salaries +0.1%pa Base Figure -0.1%pa
Present value of total obligation £000's 170,995 170,484 169,973
% change in present value of total obligation 0.3% -0.3%
Projected service cost £000's 2,644 2,644 2,644
Approximate % change in projected service cost 0.0% 0.0%

Adjustment to pension increase rate and the rate
of revaluation of pension accounts +0.1%pa Base Figure -0.1%pa
Present value of total obligation £000's 173,894 170,484 167,074
% change in present value of total obligation 2.0% -2.0%
Projected service cost £000's 2,731 2,644 2,559
Approximate % change in projected service cost 3.3% -3.2%

Adjustment to mortality age rating assumption -1 year Base Figure +1 year
Present value of total obligation £000's 174,863 170,484 166,093
% change in present value of total obligation 2.6% -2.6%
Projected service cost £000's 2,735 2,644 2,553
Approximate % change in projected service cost 3.4% -3.4%

8 Government and Other Grant Income

2015/16 2014/15
Revenue credited to cost of Service £000's £000's
Highways and Transport

Special Rail Grant (SRG) - Department for Transport 44,372 43,154
Section 31 LSTF - Department for Transport 2,825 1,125
Section 31 BBAF - Department for Transport - 998
Smart Grant -Department for Transport 56 -
Community Transport Support Grant - Department for Transport 24 42
Bus Service Operator Grant - Department for Transport 2,063 2,066
Congestion Performance Fund - Department for Transport 4 38
Section 31 Huddersfield Rail Station Gates Grant -DfT 31 -
ERDF Care North Plus/Challenge 42 -

49,417 47,423
Economic Development Services

Apprentice Grant for Employers - Dept. Business Innovation & Skills 751 -
Enterprise Advisor - Careers & Enterprise Company 43 -
Strategic Heat Network - Dept. Energy and Climate Change 59 -
Employer Ownership Parnership - Dept. Bus Innovation & Skills 1,700 -
Business Growth Hub - Dept. Business Innovation & Skills 625 -
Growing Places Fund - DCLG 132 -
Headstart - Skills Funding Agency 2,532 -
Housing Stock Condition - Local Authority Partners 93 -
Better Homes Management - Keepmoat 99 -
Access to Finance - Partnership Investment Fund 50 -
LEP Strategic Growth Funding - Dept. Business Innovation & Skills 500

6,584 -
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The sensitivity analysis showing the impact of changing key actuarial assumptions on the present value of the funded defined benefit 
obligation as at 31 March 2016 and the projected service cost for the year ending 31 March 2017 is set out below. Only the assumptions 
mentioned are altered all other assumptions remain the same. There is no sensitivity for unfunded benefits on materiality grounds.

The Authority credited the following grants and contributions to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement against the 
appropriate provision of services :-
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9 Non-Specific Grant Income

The Authority credited the following grants to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement under non-specific grant income.

2015/16 2014/15
Capital grants and other Contributions £000's £000's
Local Growth Fund Allocation -DCLG 68,266 -
Growing Places Fund - DCLG 35,894 -
Green Deal -Dept. Energy and Climate Change 897 -
Central Heating Fund - Dept. Energy and Climate Change 45 -
Integrated Transport Block/Maintenance - DfT 42,317 50,931
Section 31 BBAF - Department for Transport - 1,230
Section 31 Cycle City Ambition Grant - Department for Transport 11,696 7,163
Section 31 LSTF - Department for Transport - 94
Cleaner Bus Technology Grant - Department for Transport - 499
Section 31 Leeds Station Southern Ent - Department for Transport - 11,760
Section 31 Kirkstall Forge App Bridge - Department for Transport 198 9,375
Section 31 Huddersfield Rail Station Gates Grant - 101
Other Capital Contributions 3,263 5,660

162,576 86,813

District Council  Levies 101,481 101,093

2015/16 2014/15
£000's £000's

Payments to Operators 43,467 42,251

Contribution to the Authority
administration costs 905 903

44,372 43,154

10 Officers' Remuneration and Members Allowances
2015/16 2014/15
£000's £000's

(a) Employees Costs Amounted to:
     Wages and Salaries 11,740 9,395
     Social Security Costs 854 651
     Other Pension Costs 2,571 2,190

15,165 12,236
Members' Allowances :-

The total members' allowances paid in the year to 31 March 2016 was £155,823 (£157,812 31 March 2015) .

(b) The average number of persons
employed was: Number Number

Manual 43 42
Management and Administration 411 368

454 410

c)

31/03/16 31/03/15
£'000s £'000s

242 138
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At 31 March 16 the unused holiday entitlement across the Authority totalled:-

The funding for the provision of rail services under the franchising arrangements was paid directly to the the Authority.  The Authority 
received the pre-determined sums directly from the Government (DfT) in the first instance.  The amounts payable as follows:-

The Authority's policy on flexi-leave carried over is that it does not give rise to a financial entitlement.
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d)

Senior 
Officers

Senior 
Officers

Band 2015/16 2014/15

£50,001 - £55,000 8 6
£55,001 - £60,000 3 1
£60,001 - £65,000 6 6
£70,001 - £75,000 2 2
£90,001 - £95,000 2 -
£100,001 - £105,000 2 2
£115,001 - £120,000 1 1

24 18

Senior Employees
 Compensation

Salary Fees Expenses for loss of Pension 
Allowances Bonuses Allowances office Contributions Total

Managing Director - Head of Paid 2014/15 - - - - - -
Service (Appointed 1/2/16) 2015/16 25,000 19 - 3,375 28,394

Director of Passenger 
Services 2014/15 116,589 - 968 - 15,740 133,297

2015/16 116,589 - 88 - 15,740 132,417

Director of Development 2014/15 104,055 - 136 - 14,047 118,238
(Resigned 1/11/15) 2015/16 60,699 - - 8,194 68,893

Director of Delivery 2014/15 - - - - - -
2015/16 90,750 - - - 12,251 103,001

Director of Resources - S73 Officer 2014/15 104,055 - - - 14,047 118,102
2015/16 104,055 - - - 14,047 118,102

LEP Director and Head of Economic 2014/15 - - - - - -
Strategy 2015/16 91,702 - 167 - 12,380 104,249

Assistant Director 
Legal - Monitoring Officer 2014/15 60,410 - 25 - 8,155 68,590

2015/16 62,214 - - 8,398 70,612

Exit Packages

Exit Package cost band
(inc. special payments)

2014/15 2015/16 2014/15 2015/16 2014/15 2015/16 2014/15 2015/16
£ £

£0-£20,000 0 0 2 10 2 10 28,806 65,459

£20,001-£40,000 0 0 0 5 0 5 - 128,232

£80,001-£100,000 0 0 1 0 1 0 98,813 -

Total 0 0 3 15 3 15 127,619 193,691
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Number of compulsory 
redundancies

Number of other 
departures

Total number of exit 
packages by cost band

Total cost of exit packages 
in each band

The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 requires the disclosure of the number of senior officers whose remuneration in the year was 
£50,000 or more, grouped in rising bands of £5,000.  The following table therefore shows all senior employees of the Authority in their 
appropriate band.

Termination benefits were paid by the Authority arising from the termination of employment incurring liabilities of £193,691 in 2015/16 
(£127,619 2014/15). The exit package payable included voluntary redundancy payments and enhanced pension benefits payable arising 
from the re-structuring and rationalisation of specific business areas.
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11 Property, Plant & Equipment

(a)

b)

2015/16 2014/15
£000's £000's

         Balance Outstanding at start of the year 650 -
         Balances transferred in 1 April 2014 726
         Assets newly classified held for sale :- - -
         Property plant and Equipment 650
         Disposal of property,plant and Equipment in year (726)
         Balance Outstanding at end of the year 650 650

c)

Donated Assets Account 2015/16 2014/15
£000's £000's

Balance at 1 April 2015 668 -

Transfer of balances 1 April 2014 668

Movement in year - -

Balance C/fwd 31 March 2016 668 668
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Assets Held for Sale

The Authority has identified Crow Nest Lane office and warehouse facility as an asset to be classified as held for sale as the property is 
being actively marketed for sale in its current state and a sale is highly probable.  The asset was held in non-infrastructure land and 
buildings and revalued at  31 March 2015, and this value has been used to measure the asset's value for classification as an asset held for 
sale.

The property assets of the former WYITA Group transferred to the Combined Authority on 1 April 2014. 

Previously a revaluation of the Authority's On-Street Furniture was carried out by the Infrastructure Manager as an internal expert. The 
revaluation was carried out as at 31 March 2008.

All On-Street Furniture was included in the revaluation. The basis of the valuation was depreciated replacement cost as these assets are 
deemed to be specialised. 
The On-street furniture assets under IFRS code are re-classified as infrastructure assets and valued at historical cost deemed to be the 
value at 1 April 2007 adjusted for subsequent depreciation or impairment.  As the valuation method used at 31 March 2008 was on a 
depreciated replacement cost basis this acts as a suitable proxy for historical cost.

A revaluation of the Authority’s non-infrastructure land and buildings was carried out by an MRICS qualified valuer of Lambert Smith  
Hampton,  a firm of external Chartered Surveyors.  The revaluation was carried out as at 31 March 2015 on an Existing Use Value (EUV) 
basis in accordance with IAS 16. This resulted in an overall valuation of £9,198,000 which gave a gain on revaluation of £1,246,000.  A 
revaluation gain of £190,000 was recognised on Apperley Bridge land held as a Donated Asset. 

The Authority have considered the impairment of fixed assets in accordance with IAS 36 and after taking into account factors since 
external surveyors reviewed the property portfolio can identify no circumstances or events that would affect the carrying values of the 
assets.   A revaluation update by the external surveyors as at 31 March 2016 confirmed this position and provided a revaluation gain on 
Wellington House of £468,000.

Donated Assets Account

The CIPFA code introduces the concept of Donated Assets where assets have been acquired for less than their fair value. The code
stipulates that the difference between the fair value of the asset and the consideration paid shall be recognised immediately in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as income, or in the event that the transfer has conditions, recognised in the Donated 
Assets Account until such time as the conditions have been met.  The Authority's leased bus stations and land at Apperley Bridge (finance 
leases on-balance sheet) meet the criteria of Donated Assets with conditions attached, as failure to fulfil the conditions on an on-going 
basis would result in the assets being returned to the relevant councils.  These assets were received at little or no cost but are recognised 
on the balance sheet at fair value to reflect the true benefit of these assets with a corresponding reserve created in the form of a Donated 
Assets Account. The Donated Assets Account also recognises revaluation gains arising before conversion to historical cost basis as at 1 
April 2007. After initial recognition Donated Assets are categorised as either Infrastructure Assets and are valued at historical cost or for 
Non-Infrastructure Assets are valued at fair value.
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11.   PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
d)     The movements INFRA- DONATED ASSETS VEHICLES VEHICLES EQUIPMENT EQUIPMENT PAYMENTS
        in the year LAND AND STRUCTURE ASSETS HELD OWNED LEASED OWNED LEASED ON ACCOUNT
        1 April 2014 to BUILDINGS ASSETS FOR SALE AND ASSETS
        31 March 2015 are : IN THE

COURSE OF
TOTAL CONSTRUCTION

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's
COST VALUATION
Opening Balance - - - - - - - - - -
Transferred in at 1 April 2014 140,517 8,861 71,133 1,013 726 22,258 8 22,067 54 14,397
Additions 7,901 - 241 - - 1,358 - 79 - 6,223
Transfer from payments on
assets in course of construction - - 5,495 - - - - 69 - (5,564)
Disposals (1,275) - - - (726) (549) - - -
Revaluation Adjustments 527 337 190 - - - - - -
Reclassification Adjustments - - 440 (440) - - - - -
Write off to Revenue (794) - - - - - - - - (794)
Transfer Assets held for sale - (650) - - 650 - - - - -
At 31 March 2015 146,876 8,548 77,309 763 650 23,067 8 22,215 54 14,262 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
Opening Balance - - - - - - - - - -
Transferred in at 1 April 2014 55,998 681 21,349 627 - 13,092 8 20,187 54 -
Charge for the year 5,300 228 2,467 47 - 1,794 - 764 - -
Disposals (549) - - - (549) - - -
Reclassification adjustments - - 308 (308) - - - - - -
Revaluation Adjustments (909) (909) - - - - - - - -
Transfer Assets held for Sale - - - - - - - - - -
At 31 March 2015 59,840 0 24,124 366 - 14,337 8 20,951 54 -

NET BOOK VALUES
31 March 2015 87,036 8,548 53,185 397 650 8,730 - 1,264 - 14,262
Opening Balance - - - - - - - - - -
Transferred in1 April 2014 84,519 8,180 49,784 386 726 9,166 - 1,880 - 14,397
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11.   PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
e)     The movements INFRA- DONATED ASSETS VEHICLES VEHICLES EQUIPMENT EQUIPMENT PAYMENTS
        in the year LAND AND STRUCTURE ASSETS HELD OWNED LEASED OWNED LEASED ON ACCOUNT
        1 April 2015 to BUILDINGS ASSETS FOR SALE AND ASSETS
        31 March 2016 are : IN THE

COURSE OF
TOTAL CONSTRUCTION

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's
COST VALUATION
Opening Balance 146,876 8,548 77,309 763 650 23,067 8 22,215 54 14,262 
Additions 1,819 - 292 - - 137 - 6 - 1,384
Transfer from payments on
assets in course of construction - - 178 - - - - 166 - (344)
Disposals (727) - (130) - - (597) - - - -
Revaluation Adjustments 235 235 - - - - - - - -
Reclassification Adjustments - - - - - - - - - -
Write off to Revenue (290) - - - - - - - - (290)
Transfer Assets held for sale - - - - - - - - - -
At 31 March 2016 147,913 8,783 77,649 763 650 22,607 8 22,387 54 15,012 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
Opening Balance 59,840 - 24,124 366 - 14,337 8 20,951 54 -
Charge for the year 5,414 272 2,588 32 - 1,765 - 757 - -
Disposals (727) - (130) - - (597) - - - -
Reclassification adjustments - - - - - - - - - -
Revaluation Adjustments (233) (233) - - - - - - - -
Transfer Assets held for Sale - - - - - - - - - -
At 31 March 2016 64,294 39 26,582 398 - 15,505 8 21,708 54 -

NET BOOK VALUES
31 March 2016 83,619 8,744 51,067 365 650 7,102 - 679 - 15,012
Opening Balance
31 March 2015 87,036 8,548 53,185 397 650 8,730 - 1,264 - 14,262
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12 Related Party Transactions

MEMBERS

- The Authority receives financing through its Levy and contributions to the economic activities of the City Region from
   the District Councils.
- The Authority provides agency services for Education transport for which they are paid fees.

- The Authority received Local Transport Block Funding of which an allocation was paid to the District Councils.

The figures for 2015/16 are set out below:

Amounts received by WYCA     Transport Levy     LCR LEP Funding

2015/16 2014/15 2015/16 2014/15 2015/16 2014/15
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Bradford MDC 1.86 2.05 23.92 23.85 0.19 -
Calderdale MDC 0.75 0.80 9.15 9.12 0.12 -
Kirklees MDC 0.49 0.38 18.72 18.63 0.10 -
Leeds City Council 1.33 1.89 34.16 34.03 0.08 -
Wakefield MDC 1.81 1.96 15.53 15.46 0.05 -

6.24 7.08 101.48 101.09 0.54 0.00

Amounts paid by WYCA Local Growth Fund Loans
2015/16 2014/15 2015/16 2014/15 2015/16 2014/15

£m £m £m £m £m £m
Bradford MDC 7.74 6.26 0.23 0.19 - -
Calderdale MDC 4.89 4.61 0.03 0.73 0.3 -
Kirklees MDC 8.69 5.82 0.14 0.41 0.2 -
Leeds City Council 12.25 10.50 0.19 1.35 2.6 -
Wakefield MDC 5.67 4.42 15.4 2.75 - -

39.24 31.61 15.99 5.43 3.1 -
Officers

Education transport 

LTP Block Funding Transport Fund
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The Combined Authority is required to disclose material transactions with related parties in accordance with IAS 24 "Related party transactions”. 
Related parties are bodies or individuals that have the potential to control or influence the Authority or to be controlled or influenced by the 
Authority. Disclosure of these transactions allows readers to assess the extent to which it might have been constrained in its ability to operate 
independently or might have secured the ability to limit another party's ability to bargain freely with the Authority.

The Combined Authority requires Members to complete a declaration of Related Party Transactions and this information is used to prepare this 
note. All members have at least two roles under the Local Government Act 1985 in that they are members of one of the five constituent levying 
Metropolitan District Councils or City of York Council and are appointed to the Combined Authority or co-opted to one of its committees. Other 
than this no Member has declared any such transaction with the Authority.

The Authority has a number of financial transactions with related parties. The significant revenue transactions, not separately disclosed 
elsewhere or covering basic areas of expenditure such as rates and other service charges are: 

Mr A Lythgo was the Head of Paid Service for the Combined Authority up to 31 January 2016 and also the Chief Executive of Kirklees Council. 
No remuneration was paid to Mr A Lythgo for undertaking the role of Head of Paid Service for the Combined Authority.

Yorcard Ltd is a Joint Venture trading company  operated in conjunction with SYPTE and is fully disclosed in note 24. Mr John Henkel is a 
Director of West Yorkshire Combined Authority and of Yorcard Ltd.

West Yorkshire Ticketing (TICCO) Ltd administers and develops a  range of multi-operator , multi-modal tickets. 

Mr John Henkel is a Director of the West Yorkshire Combined Authority and of TICCO Ltd. During the year ended 31 March 2016 recharges 
totalling £40,000 (£82,000 to 31 March 2015) were invoiced by TICCO Ltd to the Authority.

The  UK Government  exerts significant influence through legislation and the grant funding it provides to the Authority. Government grant 
funding received is disclosed in Note 8 and 9.

ITSO Services Ltd is a trading company established to promote the development of interoperable smart card applications to public transport.  
Mr John Henkel is a Director of West Yorkshire Combined Authority and of ITSO Services Ltd. During the year ended 31 March 2016 fees 
totalling £0 (£0 to 31 March 2015) were invoiced by ITSO Services Ltd to the Authority.
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Payments to Operators

13

14 Taxation

15 Short Term Debtors 31 March 16 31 March 15
£000's £000's

Central government bodies 4,159             14,230          
Other Local Authorities 6,006             3,906            
Bodies external to general government 4,241             3,294            

14,406           21,430          

16 Cash & Cash Equivalents 31 March 16 31 March 15
£000's £000's

Bank Current Accounts 12,400 9,175

12,400 9,175

Cash balances include £5.6m held on behalf of third parties.  The liability to repay these amounts is included under creditors.

Cash at bank and short term deposits earn interest at floating rates based on bank deposit rates. There is no material difference
between the carrying value and fair value of cash and cash equivalents.

17 Long Term Debtor - Loans 31 March 16 31 March 15
£000's £000's

Soft Loans
Balance at 1 April 2015 - -
Nominal Value of Loans advanced during year 4,832 -
Fair Value Adjustment on Initial recognition (926) -
Effective interest to write back to carrying value 5 -
Balance at 31 March 2016 3,911

Other Loans Advanced
Balance at 1 April 2015 - -
Loans transferred during year 23,837 -
Loans repaid (125) -
Impairment of Loan (4,800) -
Balance at 31 March 2016 18,912 -

The loan of £4.8m to Oxford GB limited was impaired in full at 31 March 2016 on the basis that
the company entered into administration with little prospect of the loan being repaid.
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Trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing financial instruments. There is no material difference between the carrying value and the fair 
value of trade and other receivables.

The Combined Authority makes significant payments to operators funded from the transport levy.  These payments to operators fall into the three 
main categories of concessionary fares, subsidised bus services and franchised local rail services. 

Payments for concessionary fares are made in accordance with the Authority’s concessionary fares scheme which is based on the
reimbursement guidance issued by the Department for Transport.  The Authority has entered into three year agreements with the major bus 
operators within the framework of this guidance which removes an element of financial risk for all parties.

Subsidised bus services are secured by the Authority, within the overall framework of the Authority’s policies, where they are considered to be 
socially necessary and no commercial service or adequate commercial service exists.  All licensed operators are eligible to submit tenders for 
services required.

Payments are made to one franchised rail operator for the provision of local rail services.  A note of the effect of rail franchising and the funding 
arrangements is attached as part of these accounts on page 38 (Note 9).

In accordance with its overall policies the Combined Authority administers a prepaid ticket scheme.  The Authority receives revenues from prepaid 
ticket sales which are then pooled and distributed to operators based on passenger journey and usage data collected by the Authority.  This 
prepaid ticket income is included in the Authority’s revenue account together with an equivalent amount shown as payment to operators.

All these payments to operators are summarised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement segmental reporting on page 33.

The West Yorkshire Combined Authority is deemed to be a body with the power to issue a levy by virtue of regulations under section 74 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1988 and is therefore exempt from paying  Corporation tax, income tax and capital gains tax. 

Exceptional Item

There were no exceptional items in 2015/16 or in 2014/15.
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18 Trade and Other Payables 31 March 16 31 March 15
£000's £000's

Central government bodies 319                180               
Other Local Authorities 10,498           5,471            
Bodies external to general government 20,871           19,399          

31,688           25,050          

DEFERRED INCOME 31 March 16 31 March 15
£000's £000's

Central government 5,073 10,705 
Other local authorities - -
Bodies external to general government 242 138 

5,315 10,843 

Notes

19 Loans Outstanding
31 March 16 31 March 15

£000's £000's
Lender:-
Public Works Loans Board 52,249           53,251          
Other Market Loans 25,323           25,321          
Short Term Loans 3,000             2,500            

80,572           81,072          
Maturity:-
Loans repayable within 12 months 5,072             4,572            
1-2 years 500                1,000            
2-5 years - 500               
5-10 years - -
in more than 10 years 75,000           75,000          

80,572           81,072          
20 Capital Expenditure and Financing

2015/16 2014/15
£000's £000's

Capital investment
Operational assets acquired in year 119,003         81,063          

Sources of finance
Borrowing (credit approvals) - -
Capital receipts - -
Government grants and other contributions 119,003         81,063          
Revenue contributions - -

119,003         81,063          
21 Financial Instruments
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Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing financial instruments. There is no material difference between the carrying value and the fair 
value of trade and other payables.

Financial liabilities, financial assets represented by loans, creditors and trade receivables and short-term debtors are carried in the balance 
sheet at amortised cost. Their fair value is assessed as the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction 
between willing parties.      

Trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing financial instruments  The short term nature of these instruments  means there is no 
material difference between the carrying value and fair value.   

(a)   Central government deferred income relates to Grants received in advance where conditions have not been met at the year end.

(b)  Other Local Authorities deferred income relates to capital contributions to small infrastructure projects that have not yet been   
complete and conditions remain outstanding.
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21 Financial Instruments Continued

£000's £000's £000's £000's
Carrying Fair value Carrying Fair value

Financial Assets  Amount  Amount
Current trade debtors 14,406 14,406 21,430 21,430
Cash and cash equivalents 12,400 12,400 9,175 9,175
Short term investment 70,314 70,423 35,000 35,113
Long term Debtors- Soft Loans Advanced 3,912 3,745 - -
Long term Debtors- Commercial Loans Advanced 18,912 20,183 - -

119,944 121,157 65,605 65,718
Financial Liabilities
Short-term creditors 37,003 37,003 35,893 35,893

Floating rate borrowing - due within 1yr - - - -
Fixed Rate borrowing - due within 1 yr 4,010 4,017 3,509 3,516
Floating rate borrowing - due after 1yr 5,086 6,287 5,067 6,054
Fixed Rate borrowing - due after 1 yr 71,476 93,073 72,496 91,474

80,572 103,377 81,072 101,044

Fair Value hierarchy for financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value

31 March 2016
Quoted prices in Other significant Significant
active markets for observable unobservable
identical assets inputs  inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Financial Liabilities
financial liabilities held at
amortised cost:
Loans/borrowings - 103,377 103,377
(PWLB and LOBO loans)
Trade payables - - 37,003 37,003
Total - 103,377 37,003 140,380
Financial assets
Loans and receivables -
Soft loans to third parties - 3,745 - 3,745
Other loans and receivables - 20,183 14,406 34,589
Short term Investments - 70,423 - 70,423
Total - 94,351 14,406 108,757

31 March 2015
Quoted prices in Other significant Significant
active markets for observable unobservable
identical assets inputs  inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Financial Liabilities
financial liabilities held at
amortised cost:
Loans/borrowings - 101,044 - 101,044
(PWLB and LOBO loans)
Trade payables - - 35,893 35,893
Total - 101,044 35,893 136,937
Financial assets
Loans and receivables
Soft loans to third parties - - - -
Other loans and receivables - - 21,430 21,430
Short term Investments - 35,113 - 35,113

Total 35,113 21,430 56,543

31 March 2015
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31 March 2016

The Authority has considered the balance sheet carrying values ie amortised costs of financial instruments of the Authority. It is required to 
disclose the fair value and carrying value for those financial instruments whose carrying value is not a reasonable  approximation for fair value.  In 
the Authority's books it is only the Authority's loan portfolio and short term investment which fall into this category. 
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21 Financial Instruments Continued

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

  Financial assets           Financial liabilities
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Hedging Instruments

The Authority holds no financial instruments that could be classified as hedging instruments.

Loans Advanced and Borrowings

Fair value is determined by calculating the Net Present Value of future cash flows, thus estimating the value of future payments in today's terms.  
This is a widely accepted and commonly used valuation technique.  The discount rate used should be equal to the current rate for a similar loan 
from a comparable lender.  This will be the market rate applicable on the date of valuation for a loan with the same outstanding period to 
maturity.

However, it may be unlikely that the future cash flows of a loan will fall in equal time periods from the date of valuation, so adjustments are made 
to each discount factor in order to account for the timing inequality.

The purpose of the fair value disclosure is primarily to provide a comparison with the carrying value, which includes accrued interest as at the 
balance sheet date, therefore we have included accrued interest in the fair value calculation.

The discount rates used for the evaluation were obtained by WYCA from Capita.  Capita is a leading and independent provider of capital 
financing, treasury advisory and strategic advisory consulting services to the public sector.

Assumptions used, which do not have a material affect on the fair value evaluation are: interest is calculated using a 365 day basis; interest is 
paid on the maturity date; no adjustment is made to the interest value and date where a relevant date occurs on a non working day.

The fair value of financial liabilities and financial assets included in level 2 in the table above have been arrived at using discounted cashflow  
analysis as described above, the key input being the discount rate (the discount rate used by Capita for the GPF loans advanced has been 
modified using a risk adjusted EC reference rate as opposed to the PWLB new loan rate).

Type

Loans 
Advanced 
(Long term 
Debtor)

Soft Loans

Trade and 
other 
receivables

Short term
Investments

Valuation Technique

Discounted cashflows : The valuation model 
considers the  present value of the cashflows 
expected over the remaining life of each loan 
discounted using a risk adjusted representative  
rate for new loans indicative of economic 
conditions and security at the measurement date
31 March 2016.

Discounted cashflows : The valuation model 
considers the  present value of the cashflows 
expected over the remaining life of each loan 
discounted using the PWLB new loan rates  at the 
measurement date 31 March 2016. 

The fair value of trade and other receivables is 
taken to be the invoiced or billed amount.

The valuation of the fixed term deposits which 
have no secondary market would be based on an 
investment with a similar lender for the remaining 
period of deposit at rates available at the 
measurement date. The accrued interest added on 
this basis would provide a fair value for the short 
term investments.

Type

Loans/Borrowings

Trade Payables

Valuation Technique

Discounted cashflows : The valuation 
model considers the  present value of the 
cashflows expected over the remaining 
life of each loan discounted using lending 
rates for new loans based on PWLB rates 
at the measurement date 31 March 2016. 

The fair value of trade payables is 
deemed to be the invoiced or billed 
amount.
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21 Financial Instruments Continued
Effective 31 March 16 31 March 15

Current interest rate Maturity £000's £000's
Durham County Council 0.50% Apr 2016 2,000 -
Rhondda Cynon Taff Borough Council 0.55% Apr 2016 1,000 -
Salford MBC 0.42% Apr 2015 - 2,500
PWLB - EIP 2.81% Jun 2015 - 500
PWLB - EIP 2.81%  Dec 2015 - 500
PWLB - EIP 2.81% Jun 2016 500
PWLB - EIP 2.81% Dec 2016 500

4,000 3,500
Non- Current
Public Works Loan Board 3.70% Jan 2056 5,000 5,000
Public Works Loan Board 4.40% Jan 2052 5,000 5,000
Public Works Loan Board 4.40% Jul 2054 8,000 8,000
Public Works Loan Board 4.40% Jun 2053 8,000 8,000
Public Works Loan Board 4.55% Jun 2052 4,000 4,000
Public Works Loan Board 4.55% Apr 2055 6,000 6,000
Public Works Loan Board 4.55% Apr 2056 6,000 6,000
Public Works Loan Board 4.55% Apr 2057 8,000 8,000
PWLB - EIP 2.81% Jun 2016 - 500
PWLB - EIP 2.81% Dec 2016 - 500
PWLB - EIP 2.81% Jun 2017 500 500
Barclays - LOBO's 3.97% May 2065 5,000 5,000
Barclays - LOBO's 3.80% Aug 2065 5,000 5,000
Barclays - LOBO's 3.99% Oct 2066 5,000 5,000
Barclays - LOBO's 4.30% Dec 2076 5,000 5,000
Barclays - LOBO's 4.32% May 2077 5,000 5,000

75,500 76,500

Total 79,500 80,000

Management of risks arising from financial instruments
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There are a number of risks associated with financial instruments to which the Authority is necessarily exposed.  However the Authority monitors 
and seeks to manage these risks in order to minimise the potential for losses to occur.

Credit risk is the risk that amounts due to the Authority may not be received.  Almost all of the Authority's loans and investments are made for 
treasury management purposes, to generate income from available balances.  The parameters within which these investments are made are set 
out within the approved Treasury Management Policy.  The effect of this policy is to restrict as far as is practicable the Authority's exposure to 
risk from the failure of a financial institution.  It ensures that deposits are placed only with limited numbers of financial institutions whose credit 
rating is independently assessed as being sufficiently secure.  The term and maximum deposit is also restricted to reduce risk exposure.  The 
Authority has exposure to credit risk on the Debtor Loans advanced to third parties.  The Growing Places Fund Loans are riskier commercial 
loans with the interest rate reflective of the  borrowers credit status and security provided. The financial status and credit score of the companies 
are regularly reviewed and monitored in order to minimise the instances of loss. The Local Growth Fund loans are to District Authorities who are 
deemed to be low risk on the basis they are backed by government and  required by law to make provision for loan repayments.
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Authority may not have sufficient cash available to meet its day to day obligations to meet payments.  The 
Authority has access to borrowings from the Public Works Loans Board and commercial lenders to meet long term spending and shorter term 
cashflow requirements and these arrangements provide the appropriate level of finance to support the Authority's current and future 
requirements . Also measures are in place to actively manage the loan portfolio to ensure refinancing, if required, can be done in a way to 
minimise the risk of exposure to adverse rates.

The Authority is required to disclose the impact that a hypothetical change in market interest rates during the year would have had on its 
recognised gains and losses.  It should be noted that had interest rates been different then in practice different decisions would have been taken 
in relation to rescheduling of debt and new borrowing and investment undertaken.  It is not possible to quantify the likely impact of such different 
decisions.  The Authority's interest payable and receivable would have varied by a net £130k if interest rates varied by 1% in the year.

The Authority is not exposed to any material currency risk.

Interest rate risk is the risk that future cashflows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  The majority 
of the Authority's long term lending is at fixed interest rates but it also borrows some of its money in the form of lender option borrower option 
loans (LOBOs).  This mix of lending assists the Authority in taking advantage of changes to interest rates and it constantly reviews the potential 
for refinancing debt at more favourable rates.

The Authority is also affected by fluctuations in shorter term interest rates as this impacts on the interest that can be earned in the year on 
deposits.  This is carefully monitored and opportunities to secure advantageous interest rates are considered.
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22 Reserves 31 March 16 31 March 15
£000's £000's

Usable Reserves 65,221 38,316
Unusable Reserves (40,570) (71,644)

Total Reserves 24,651 (33,328)

2015/16 2014/15
£000's £000's

Opening Balance 25,297 12,523

Capital receipts unapplied 10,799 12,774

Balance carried Forward 36,096 25,297

Unusable Reserves

2015/16 2014/15
Capital Adjustment Account £000's £000's
Opening Balance (15,283) -
Balance transferred in - (20,768)

(15,283) (20,768)
Revenue Funded from Capital
Under statute (112,243) (73,956)

Depreciation (5,414) (5,300)

Capital Grants applied to financing - -

Statutory provision for the financing of
Capital Investment (MRP) 3,531 3,678 
Capital receipts applied 142,840 81,063 

Impairment of GPF Loans (4,800) -

Balance at the end of the Year 8,631 (15,283)
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Usable Reserves

The General Fund Balance is a non-earmarked usable reserve and can be applied to fund any form of general revenue expenditure that aligns with the 
policies and objectives of the WYCA. The General Fund Balance has a surplus of £9.83m at 31 March 2016 (£7.95m 31 March 2015).

The Total Reserves balance for the Authority includes a Rail Reserve under Usable Reserves which recognises the disposal of Rail Rolling stock and 
Yorkshire 6 funding surpluses with the reserve totalling £2.075m at 31 March 2016.  The Rail Reserve is ear-marked for rail infrastructure investment and is 
to be held pending future investment into identified rail projects. As at 31 March 2016 the Rail Reserve has so far provided £805k of funding for the Leeds 
Station Southern Entrance scheme. 

The Total Reserves balance for the Authority includes an NGT Reserve of £0.99m under Usable Reserves at 31 March 2016 (£1.066m 31 March 2015).  
earmarked for the purpose of delivering the Leeds NGT scheme. In May 2016 the Secretary of State announced that the NGT scheme would not be 
approved to progress although the £173.5m allocated to it would be made available for public transport in Leeds.  Plans to spend this money will be 
progressed during 2016 along with the future utilisation of the NGT reserve.

In addition the Reserves include the West Yorkshire Transport Fund Reserve to reflect additional levy contributions  from the Districts to develop strategic 
transport schemes in West Yorkshire. The reserve has a balance of £16.23m at 31 March 2016 (£1.93m 31 March 15).

Capital Adjustment Account

The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current 
assets and for financing the acquisition, construction or enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions. The account is debited with the cost of 
capital investment , the depreciation charge  and impairment  losses, and credited with  capital grants and contributions receivable and amounts set aside by 
the Authority as finance for the  costs of acquisition, construction and enhancement.

Financial Instruments Adjustment Account

The Financial Instruments Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting for income and 
expenses relating to certain financial instruments and for bearing losses or benefiting from gains per statutory provisions. The Authority uses the Account to 
manage premiums paid and discounts received on the early redemption of loans. Premiums/discounts are debited/credited to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement when they are incurred, but reversed out of the General Fund Balance to the Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
The Financial Instruments Adjustment Account also recognises the impact of  writing down soft loans using the  effective interest rate method based on 
PWLB rates to discount soft loans.

The Capital Grants Unapplied Account recognises capital grants received where conditions have been met but the application of the capital grants to 
expenditure on the acqusition, construction and enhancement of non-current assets has yet to be incurred.  
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22 Reserves Continued

2015/16 2014/15
£000's £000's

Balance at 1 April (40) 37 
Premiums incurred in the year (82) (83)
Discounts received in year 6 6 
Effective Interest rate adjustment- Soft Loans (920) -
Balance at 31 March (1,036) (40)

2015/16 2014/15
£000's £000's

Balance at 1 April (68,850) (63,893)
Actuarial gains and losses on pension assets and liabilities 8,874 (3,907)
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to the
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive (4,933) (4,513)
 income and Expenditure Statement
Net increase in liability on disposal/acquisition (95) -
Employers pension contributions 3,842 3,463 
Balance at 31 March (61,162) (68,850)

Revaluation Reserve

2015/16 2014/15
£000's £000's

Balance at 1 April 11,861           -
Transfer of balances 1 April 2014 - 10,425
Surplus on revaluation 468 1,436
Balance at 31 March 12,329 11,861

Donated Assets Account

23 Provisions

2015/16 2014/15
At 1 April 154 151
Arising during year 20 3 
Utilised in year - -
At 31 March 174 154 
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Provisions are established to meet liabilities or losses which are likely or certain to be incurred, but the amounts or timings are uncertain. 
Provisions during the year are analysed as follows:-

The Combined Authority as at 31 March 2016 has provided for liabilities relating to the now insolvent company Mutual Municipal Insurance
(MMI) Ltd representing the potential clawback of claims made by the former West Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive in previous years. 
There were no further provisions for organisational restructure at 31 March 2016 as specified in IAS37. There were no environmental provisions 
at 31 March 2016.

Donated assets are those that were received at little or no cost  to the Authority but are recognised on the balance sheet at fair value to reflect 
the true benefit of these assets. The Donated Asset account is a corresponding reserve  that recognises the  true value of the asset. See note 
11c.

Pensions Reserve

The Pension Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting for employment benefits as per 
IAS19 and for funding such benefits in accordance with statutory requirements. The debit balance on the pension reserve  recognises the 
shortfall in resources set aside to meet the benefits earned by past and current employees. The statutory arrangements will ensure that 
sufficient funding will be set aside to meet these benefits by the time they are due to be paid.

The revaluation reserve contains gains made on the increases in the value of Property Plant and Equipment . The balance on  the reserve is 
only available for use when assets with accumulated gains are, revalued downwards or impaired,  disposed of and when gains are used in the 
provision of services and gains are consumed through depreciation.

87



24 Joint Venture

At 31 March 2016 the Combined Authority had the following Joint Venture :

Yorcard Ltd

2015/16 2014/15
£000's £000's

Turnover and other income 788 673 
Expenses (788) (675)
Profit before Tax - (2)
Taxation - -
Profit after Tax - (2)

Fixed Assets 4 8 
Current Assets 250 228 
Liabilities due within 1yr (245) (223)
Liabilities due after 1yr or more (4) (8)

Net Assets 5 5 

25 Auditors Remuneration 2015/16 2014/15
£000's £000's

Audit Services 33                  40                 
Other Services 4                    2                   

37                  42                 

26 Financial Commitments 31 March 16 31 March 15
£000's £000's

(a)   Capital Commitments
       Contracted For but not Provided in the Accounts 121,973 59,501
       Authorised but not Contracted For 16,441 50,593

138,414 110,094

(b)   Revenue Commitments - Operating Leases

Bus Operator Payments - IFRIC 4 2015/16 2014/15
£000's £000's

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised
in the year : 2,338 3,031

              Within 1 year 1,340 2,338
              Within 2-5 years 3,244 4,584
              Beyond 5 years - -

4,584 6,922
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The joint venture is a trading company which was incorporated in England on the 2 March 2007. It is limited by guarantee with two subscribers, 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority and South Yorkshire PTE with control shared equally under a contractual arrangement.
Yorcard Ltd performs transaction processing services for smartcard ticketing in West and South Yorkshire.

After considering the materiality of the Joint Venture management have agreed not to consolidate Yorcard Ltd into the Authority's accounts .  
The performance and financial position of  the Authority's share of Yorcard Ltd is disclosed below in accordance with IFRS 11 Joint 
Arrangements and IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities :-

Capital Commitments Contracted For but not Provided in the Accounts has increased significantly reflecting approvals for the £68.3m Growth 
Deal projects.
Capital Commitments Authorised but not contracted for have decreased at 31 March 2016. This reflects the approval of large scale capital 
schemes last year such as West Yorkshire Transport Fund schemes  of £36.3m and LTP transport block payments of £10.3m which have not 
yet been approved for the forthcoming year.

The Authority has a number of bus contracts that incorporate a lease under IFRIC4 .  The Authority has a number of contracts with operators 
that convey the right to use specific assets in return for a series of payments to deliver services under the Authority's tendered service 
obligations.   The minimum lease payments are substantially for service provision with a small proportion for the rental of the assets. The fact 
that the life of the contracts are substantially shorter than the asset's economic useful life means these contracts are deemed to be operating 
leases.
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26 Financial Commitments continued

2015/16 2014/15
Bus Operator Payments - IFRIC 12 £000's £000's

Minimum lease payments under IFRIC 12 recognised in the year : 5,273 5,242

              Within 1 year 5,261 5,117
              Within 2-5 years 12,429 14,637
              Beyond 5 years - 2,483

17,690 22,237
27 Contingent Liabilities

28 Going Concern

29
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The Combined Authority had a contingent liability at 1 April 2015 arising from possible claims relating to NGT acquisitions. The liability continues 
at 31 March 2016 but it is not practical to disclose an estimate of the financial effect, amount and timing due to the uncertainty.

The Combined Authority has a number of contracts for the operation of Mybus school services that  are operated as service concession 
arangements under IFRIC12. The Authority awards the contract to operators to provide a service for the public regulating  the level of service,
price and infra-structure provided.  The school buses that form the infrastructure to deliver the service are initially recognised on the balance 
sheet at fair value.  The service element of the arrangement is expensed through the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement  and 
the minimum lease payments are scheduled below :-

Events After the Balance Sheet Date

The Statement of Accounts were authorised for issue by the Chief Financial Officer on 29 September 2016. There have been no adjustments 
to the financial statements for events after the balance sheet date on the basis that the announcement to abort the NGT scheme was a 
condition that arose after the reporting period and therefore is a non-adjusting event.

The accounts of the Combined Authority have been prepared on a going concern basis. The West Yorkshire Combined Authority order 2014 
created the Combined Authority at 1st April 2014 and provided that all the assets, liabilities and functions of the Integrated Transport Authority 
and  Passenger Transport Executive were transferred across.  This was deemed to be a transfer of services under combinations of public 
sector bodies and therefore the presumption of going concern continues in accordance with the code. The  pension liability does not 
undermine the presumption of going concern as the Combined Authority is making additional pension contributions to address the deficit.
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30 Transfer of Balances

01 April 15
£000's

Non-current assets
Property, Plant, Equipment -
Donated Assets -
Assets held for sale -

-
Current Assets
Short term investment -
Short term debtors 3
Cash and cash equivalents 15,767

15,770

Long term Debtors 23,837
Total assets 39,607

Current liabilities
Short term borrowing -
Trade and Other payables -
Accruals and deferred income (3,476)
Provisions -

(3,476)

Long term borrowing -

Other long term liabilities
Net Pension liability -

Net Assets 36,131 

Usable Reserves
General Fund Balance 763 
Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve 11,531 
Rail Reserve -
NGT Reserve -
WY Transport Fund Reserve -

12,294 
Unusable Reserves
Capital Adjustment Account 23,837 
Financial instrument adjustment account -
Donated Asset Account -
Pension Reserves -
Revaluation Reserve -

23,837 

Total Reserves 36,131 

53

The West Yorkshire Combined Authority (WYCA) came into being on 1 April 2014 by virtue of the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority Order 864/2014 (the 2014 Order).  At the same time, the WYITA and WYPTE were dissolved.  All 
of the functions, assets, liabilities and powers of the WYITA and WYPTE were transferred to the WYCA under the 
provisions of the 2014 Order. As part of its Economic Development and regeneration functions WYCA became the 
accountable body for the Leeds CIty Region Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) at 1 April 15 with balances relating to 
the LEP transferred from Leeds City Council. The balances transferred are disclosed below:-
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         APPENDIX B 
 
 
 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STATEMENT 2016/17 
  AND REVIEW 2015/16 
 
 
1. The following sets out the results of the West Yorkshire Combined Authority's 

borrowing and lending transactions in 2015/16 in accordance with the CIPFA 
Code of Practice "Treasury Management in Local Authorities" adopted by the 
Authority. 

 
 
2. BORROWING AND INVESTMENT 
  

 

£m
Total loans outstanding at 1 April 2015 77.5

   Loan repayments -1.0
   New loans acquired 0.0

Loans outstanding at 31 March 2016 76.5  
 

2.1 The schedule of the loans outstanding at 31 March 2016 is set out in the 
notes to the accounts and is shown in the annex at the end of this 
appendix.  It should also be noted that at the year end temporary short 
term loans of £3m were also in place for cashflow purposes.  

 
2.2 WYCA’s cash balances have been increasing in recent years due 

primarily to large grant payments for capital schemes being received in 
advance.  These are therefore of a cashflow benefit but cannot be used 
to repay borrowing as they are not long term positions.  Placing sums on 
deposit across a number of institutions both reduces exposure risk by 
ensuring there is not an over reliance on one bank and allows a higher 
return than leaving the money on overnight deposit.  WYCA’s regulations 
on placing money on deposit were reviewed during the year and some 
changes approved regarding the duration of deposits.  The quality of the 
counterparties with whom such deposits can be made has not been 
changed and remains restricted to those of a high calibre.  This follows 
similar arrangements to those in place at Leeds City Council whose 
Treasury team assist in managing the WYCA funds. 
 

2.3 At the year end WYCA had placed a number of sums totalling £70m on 
deposit with different counterparties.  The approach agreed during the 
year was to place tranches of funding out ensuring that each quarter 
there was sufficient flexibility to enable a consideration of future cashflow 
requirements in order to determine an optimal investment policy. Full 
details of the fixed deposits in place at 31 March 2016 are set out in the 
annex.  In line with the strategy approved during the year there has been 
a shift to placing funds with appropriate local authorities rather than 
international banking institutions, in response to the unrest within the 
financial world. 

91



 
2.4 During the year the WYCA has taken on accountable body 

responsibilities for the Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership, 
previously undertaken by Leeds City Council.  This has increased the 
funding being paid to the WYCA for example in relation to Growth Deal 
funding and has prompted the changes that have been agreed during 
the year to enable these larger sums to be better managed. 

 
 

3. COMMENT 
 

3.1 2015/16 has seen a continuation of the overall situation from previous 
years, with interest rates remaining low.  Bank base rate has continued 
at its record low of 0.5% and this has restricted opportunities to refinance 
loans and to place money on the market at competitive rates.  The 
subsequent 0.25% cut to base rate in August further reinforces this 
position. 
 

3.2 Regular advice was received about the financial market which was 
closely monitored on behalf of the WYCA by Leeds City Council and its 
advisors.  Further development and application of the stringent treasury 
management policy assisted in ensuring that the WYCA’s funds were 
held securely.  The agreed policy is to seek to minimise the rate at which 
the WYCA borrows and refinance existing debt when it is advantageous 
to do so.  There have been no such opportunities to do so in the last 
year and the biggest challenge has been to seek to make best use of 
increasing cash reserves.  As set out above a strategy has been 
followed to manage these balances within the current investment criteria 
which are aimed at protecting balances. 

 
3.3 The money market is being constantly monitored to ensure that the 

WYCA’s bank account is maintained with a minimum cash balance 
(nearly always below £1,000) with temporary borrowing and investments 
being used as appropriate.  Two business reserve type accounts have 
been used previously to ensure interest from overnight funds is 
maximised but in the current climate the available rate is negligible and 
the focus has been on seeking to better forecast cashflow to be able to 
invest funds for longer periods. 

 
3.4 The mechanism to utilise surplus WYCA funds by lending them to Leeds 

City Council has been formalised during the year.  The Chief Financial 
Officers of each organisation have agreed on the calculation of a rate 
that is deemed beneficial to both whilst not favouring one over the other.  
This is modelled on similar arrangements that are in place in other 
organisations. 

 
3.5 As can be seen from the appendix the loan portfolio has only reduced 

during the year by £1m due to the instalment repayment of the EIP loan.  
This follows a reduction in the previous year also, due to all WYCA funding 
having been received as direct grant in recent years.  Previously capital 
expenditure had been financed through borrowing.  The WYCA therefore 
has no need to make further long term borrowing and is instead in a 
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position where borrowings will need to reduce to meet the requirements 
of the prudential code. 

 
3.6 This situation is now likely to change as the WYCA considers the 

implication of the funding received through the local growth deal for the 
West Yorkshire plus Transport Fund.  It is highly likely that as an integral 
part of such a Fund borrowing will be required to assist in maximising the 
funding available and also to assist with cashflow of the infrastructure 
investment.  The implications of this on the Treasury Management Policy 
will be considered and progress will be reported back to this Committee. 

 
3.7 It has previously been reported to this Committee that the instability in the 

banking sector had led to increased difficulties in managing the Authority’s 
exposure risk.  Previously the Authority was able to choose to invest 
surplus funds in a wide range of British and overseas banks with very high 
credit ratings and which delivered a useful interest income stream.  Since 
the start of 2009/10 the number of institutions meeting the necessary 
credit ratings had fallen significantly and within the UK the takeover of high 
street banks by other high street banks further reduced the scope 
available. 

 
3.8 As well as it being difficult to place funds on the market the interest rates 

available have been extremely poor, reflecting the very low bank base 
rate.  The policy that continued to be followed during the year was 
therefore to seek to repay loans if an appropriate opportunity was 
identified and fund any short term funding shortfall with a short term loan.  
This was not possible during the year, largely due to the low interest rates 
attached to the current loans and also due to the prevailing PWLB rates. 

 
3.9 The average borrowing rate for the Authority continues to be at below 

4.5%, well ahead of many local authorities.  The Authority has £25m of 
LOBOs (Lenders option/borrowers option) which are in the process of 
being converted by the bank to fixed rate loans. 

 
3.10 As has been stated all rates continue to be constantly monitored to see if 

any further refinancing can be undertaken, either to take advantage of 
opportunities to reduce the Authority’s exposure risk or to reprofile the 
debt to assist in making repayments in the coming years. 

 
3.11 The prudential limits set in February are reviewed below. 

 
4 TREASURY MANAGEMENT 

 
4.1 All placement of funds during 2015/16 was undertaken by Leeds City 

Council in accordance with rules approved by the WYCA adopting the 
advice from the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA).  This ensured all investment decisions sought to ensure the 
safety of those funds and to limit the WYCA’s exposure to any one 
organisation, with the return on the investment being a secondary 
consideration.  
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4.2 As stated above the WYCA’s investments and cash position are 
monitored on a daily basis to ensure any available balances are 
promptly invested.  

 
 

5 PRUDENTIAL BORROWING CODE 
 

5.1 The 2003 Local Government Act requires local authorities to have regard 
to the prudential code. Under this code Members approve a treasury 
management policy and review the prudential indicators for the year. 
 

5.2 Members at the WYCA budget meeting in February 2016 took the 
appropriate decisions for 2016/17.  Any further changes to the capital 
programme or changes as a result of the WY+TF will be considered to 
ensure there is no resultant requirement to amend the prudential 
indicators.  Members can, having regard to changing circumstances, 
approve amendments during the year.  This may become necessary as 
the implementation of the West Yorkshire Transport Fund progresses or 
as the financial and economic landscape changes. 

 
5.3 It is therefore recommended that the following decisions, as taken in 

February 2016, are endorsed: 
 

5.3.1 That the treasury management policy shall be:  
 

5.3.1.1 That the WYCA adopts the CIPFA code of practice for 
Treasury Management in the Public Sector. 

 
5.3.1.2 To operate the financing on a short term basis to 

minimise both investments and income to avoid taking 
out expensive loans and re-lending them at a lower 
rate of interest. 

 
5.3.1.3 That there shall be no long term investments for a 

term of greater than one year, other than to other local 
authorities and then only for a period not exceeding 
36 months; 

 
5.3.1.4 To utilise the expertise of the treasury management 

team in Leeds City Council for future years. 
 
5.3.1.5 To use the following rules for short term investments:- 
 

5.3.1.5.1 the investments shall be determined by the 
Chief Financial Officer. 

 
5.3.1.5.2 the Chief Financial Officer shall determine 

the amounts and periods. 
 
5.3.1.5.3 the procedural document as approved for 

their Treasury Management Division by 
Leeds City Council shall be adopted in 
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relation to the authority’s short-term 
investments encompassing the council’s list 
of approved financial organisations and the 
maximum lending limits per organisation, as 
specified in that document from time to 
time. 

 
5.3.1.5.4 no investment will be for a period exceeding 

one year, other than as set out in 5.3.1.3. 
 

5.4.1.6 To restrict all additional borrowing to meet capital 
expenditure to the level of specific approvals issued 
by the government. 

 
5.4.2 That as there have been insufficient changes to alter the 

predictions the prudential limits for the current year be reiterated 
as set out below:- 

 
5.4.2.1 operational boundary for 2016/17 – £84.736m 
 
5.4.2.2 authorised limit for 2016/17 - £94.736m 
 
5.4.2.3 maturity loan structure as shown 
 
5.4.2.4 a variable rate loan limit of 40% 
 
5.4.2.5 a fixed loan limit of 200% 
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Capital expenditure and financing 2015/16

TOTAL
£m

EXPENDITURE 119,003,468
Basic payments
RCCO 0
Total Capital Spend X

0
CASH RECEIVED FROM:
Grant from ITA
External contributions - general 3,428,980
External contributions - Supertram 0
Section 31 grants - BBAF 0
Section 31 grants - CCAG 11,695,740
Reserves 77,811

New Loans 0
MRP 3,678,000
Loan repayments 0
LTP grant 42,317,000
Revenue Balances -23,491,597
LEP Capital 81,297,535

119,003,468  
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Outstanding Transactions as at 31 March 2016

UID Counterparty Rate Start Maturity Principal

Deposit - Fixed

7871 Lloyds Bank PLC 1.00000 10/04/15 08/04/16 (7,500,000.00)
7940 Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporatio  0.82000 01/07/15 30/06/16 (15,000,000.00)
7955 Commonwealth Bank of Australia 0.85000 28/07/15 27/07/16 (7,500,000.00)
8004 United Overseas Bank Ltd 0.83000 14/09/15 13/09/16 (7,500,000.00)
8049 United Overseas Bank Ltd 0.79000 12/10/15 13/09/16 (7,500,000.00)
8139 Toronto Dominion Bank 0.94000 05/01/16 03/01/17 (7,500,000.00)
8141 Commonwealth Bank of Australia 0.90000 11/01/16 03/01/17 (7,500,000.00)
8150 Nationwide Building Society 0.71000 15/01/16 14/07/16 (5,000,000.00)
8178 Eastleigh Borough Council 0.57000 16/02/16 16/08/16 (5,000,000.00)

Deposit - Fixed (70,000,000.00)
Deposit - Notice

8035 National Westminster Bank PLC 0.25000 30/09/15 01/10/14 (750,075.73)
8038 Svenska HandelsBanken AB 0.40000 30/09/15 01/10/14 (497,200.33)

Deposit - Notice (1,247,276.06)
Lenders option/Borrowers option

7532 Barclays Bank PLC 3.97000 31/05/05 31/05/65 5,000,000.00
7533 Barclays Bank PLC 3.80000 24/08/05 24/08/65 5,000,000.00
7534 Barclays Bank PLC 3.99000 27/10/06 27/10/66 5,000,000.00
7535 Barclays Bank PLC 4.30000 18/12/06 18/12/76 5,000,000.00
7536 Barclays Bank PLC 4.32000 02/05/07 02/05/77 5,000,000.00

Lenders option/Borrowers option 25,000,000.00
PWLB - EIP

7545 Public Works Loans Board 2.81000 18/06/09 03/06/17 1,500,000.00

PWLB - EIP 1,500,000.00
PWLB - Maturity

7537 Public Works Loans Board 3.70000 23/01/06 15/01/56 5,000,000.00
7538 Public Works Loans Board 4.40000 28/04/06 15/01/52 5,000,000.00
7539 Public Works Loans Board 4.40000 31/01/07 15/07/54 8,000,000.00
7540 Public Works Loans Board 4.40000 31/01/07 02/06/53 8,000,000.00
7541 Public Works Loans Board 4.55000 03/05/07 10/06/52 4,000,000.00
7542 Public Works Loans Board 4.55000 04/05/07 27/04/55 6,000,000.00
7543 Public Works Loans Board 4.55000 04/05/07 25/04/56 6,000,000.00
7544 Public Works Loans Board 4.55000 04/05/07 18/04/57 8,000,000.00

PWLB - Maturity 50,000,000.00
Temporary Loan - Fixed

8225 Durham County Council 0.50000 04/03/16 04/04/16 2,000,000.00
8254 Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough 0.55000 31/03/16 07/04/16 1,000,000.00

Temporary Loan - Fixed 3,000,000.00
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APPENDIX C

West Yorkshire Combined Authority

Actual Capital Expenditure 2015/16 Amount
£ £

Growth Deal:
    Skills capital 6,233,816
    Housing and regen 5,376,959
    Energy/green deal 587,600
    West Yorkshire Transport Fund 19,671,959
    Business growth 6,660,742

38,531,076.00

LTP3 partner payments 39,250,255.00

Bus Related Schemes
Castleford Interchange 87,518
Transport hubs 340,188
Leeds bus station 37,339
Clean bus technology 183,551
Bus shelter replacements/improvements 242,377 890,973

Rail Related Schemes
Rail North 235,274
Rail devolution 24,850
Wakefield Kirkgate 67,061
Kirkstall Forge/Apperley Bridge stations 5,366,999
Low Moor station 5,583,089
Rail development 102,937 11,380,210

Other Schemes
NGT 2,224,236
Leeds Station Southern Entrance 4,688,977
Cycle City Connect 18,846,393
Bus strategy 475,280
Connectivity strategy 71,946
ICT upgrades and enhancements 409,426
Electric vehicles charging/ulev/carplus 113,597
IP2 hotspots 145,805
Telematics 136,578
Smart transactions and information 1,181,170
Broadband 30,100
LTP3 Development 104,630
Cycling/sustainability 23,926
External bids 37,290 28,489,354

118,541,868
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    Mazars LLP 

 Mazars House 
 Gelderd Road  

Leeds 
 LS27 7JN 

 
 
 
Governance and Audit Committee 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
Wellington House 
40-50 Wellington Street 
Leeds 
LS1 2DE 
 
September 2016 

 

Dear Members 

Audit Completion Report – Year ended 31 March 2016 

We are delighted to present our Audit Completion Report for the year ended 31 March 2016. The purpose of this 
document is to summarise our audit conclusions.  

The scope of our work, including identified significant audit risks and areas of management judgement was outlined in 
our Audit Strategy Memorandum which we presented on 19 April 2016. We have reviewed our Audit Strategy 
Memorandum and concluded that the original significant audit risks and areas of management judgement remain 
appropriate. 

We would like to take this opportunity to express our thanks to your officers for their assistance during the course of 
our audit. 

If you would like to discuss any matters in more detail then please do not hesitate to contact me on 0191 3836300 or 
mark.kirkham@mazars.co.uk. 

Yours faithfully 

 

 

Mark Kirkham 
Partner and Engagement Lead 

Mazars LLP 
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01 Executive summary 
Purpose of this document 

This document has been prepared to communicate the findings of our audit for the year ended 31 March 2016 to the 
Governance and Audit Committee of West Yorkshire Combined Authority and forms the basis for discussion at the 
Governance and Audit Committee meeting on 29 September 2016.  

Our communication with you is important to: 
• share information to assist both the auditor and those charged with governance to fulfil our respective 

responsibilities; 
• provide you with constructive observations arising from the audit process; 
• ensure, as part of the two-way communication process, we gain an understanding of your attitude and views in 

respect of the internal and external operational, financial, compliance and other risks facing West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority; and 

• receive feedback from yourselves as to the performance of the engagement team. 
 

As outlined in our Audit Strategy Memorandum, our audit has been conducted in accordance with International 
Standards of Auditing (UK and Ireland) which means we focus on audit risks that we have assessed as resulting in a 
higher risk of material misstatement. Section 3 of this report includes our conclusions on the significant risks and areas 
of management judgement that we set out in our Audit Strategy Memorandum.   

We also set out details of internal control recommendations in section 4 and a summary of misstatements discovered 
as part of the audit in section 5.   

Status and audit opinion 

We have substantially completed our audit of the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2016 subject to 
completion of closing review procedures including concluding review of post balance sheet events.  

At the time of preparing this report there are no significant matters outstanding and we anticipate: 
• to issue an unqualified opinion, without modification, on your statement of accounts; and 
• to conclude that you have made proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in your 

use of resources.  

We also anticipate completing our work in respect of your Whole of Government Accounts submission in line with the 
group instructions issued by the National Audit Office by 30 September 2016. 

Our proposed audit report is set out in Appendix B. 
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02 Financial highlights  

Good finances are the foundation of the Combined Authority’s ability to deliver services and to achieve value for money 
for taxpayers. The Statement of Accounts is the key medium by which the Combined Authority communicates financial 
performance with external stakeholders. As such it provides valuable data on how resources have been employed and 
what assets and liabilities are outstanding, and is a useful indicator of the financial health of the organisation. 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) 

The statement shows the cost of providing services for 2015/16 prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the UK 2015/16. The statement shows a surplus for the year for the provision of services 
of £48.7m. This differs from the Combined Authority’s reported performance on its revenue budget for 2015/16 because 
of items of expenditure which are correctly charged to CIES under accounting rules are not charged to the General Fund 
under statute. The Movement in Reserves Statement (page 17 of the financial statements) sets out the adjustments 
between the accounting basis and the funding basis. After the adjustments £1.9m was transferred to general fund 
reserves.  

The Combined Authority’s performance against its revenue budget is set out in the narrative report (page 7) of the 
Statement of Accounts. This also shows a transfer to general fund reserves of £1.9m which is £1.5m better than the 
approved budget. 

Balance Sheet 

The balance sheet shows the value of the Combined Authority’s assets and liabilities on a single date at the year end. 
It shows that the Combined Authority’s assets exceed its liabilities by £24.6m reflecting an overall increase in net worth 
of £58m from last year. This is mainly due to the transfer in of net assets associated with the Leeds City Region Local 
Enterprise Partnership for which the Combined Authority become the accountable body from 1 April 2015. In addition 
there has been a decrease in the net pension liability as estimated by the Combined Authority’s actuary which is subject 
to annual variation.    

The Combined Authority’s net assets are matched by reserves which comprise both usable and unusable reserves. 
Note 22 to the accounts sets out the Combined Authority’s usable reserves and shows that £36.1m relate to capital 
grants for which the associated expenditure has yet to be incurred. 
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03 Significant findings 
Set out below are the significant findings from our audit. These findings include: 

• Our audit conclusions regarding the significant risks and key areas of management judgement outlined in the 
Audit Strategy Memorandum. 

• Our comments in respect of the accounting policies and disclosures that you have adopted in the financial 
statements. We have concluded that the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the financial 
reporting framework and commented on any significant accounting policy changes that have been made during 
the year. 

• Any significant difficulties we experienced during the audit. 
 

Significant risks and key areas of management judgement  

 

 

Revenue recognition 

Description of the risk 
In accordance with ISA 240 we presume there is a risk of fraud in respect of the recognition of revenue because of 
the potential for inappropriate recording of transactions in the wrong period. We have identified the following as key 
areas of focus for the significant risk: 
 grant income is recognised when all conditions attached to the grant have been met so there is significant 

management judgement in determining when the conditions have been met; and 
 prepaid ticket income is recognised based on sale information from a variety of sources including travel centres, 

railway stations and Payzone. 

How we addressed this risk 
We evaluated the design and implementation of controls to mitigate the risk of income being recognised in the wrong 
period. In addition, we undertook a range of substantive procedures including: 
 reviewing the reasonableness of the judgements made by management in determining whether grant conditions 

have been met; and 

Management override of controls  

Description of the risk 
International Standards on Auditing (ISA) 240 – The auditor’s responsibility to consider fraud in an audit of financial 
statements requires us to consider the potential for management override because controls that may be sufficient to 
detect error may not be effective in detecting fraud. 
In all entities, management at various levels is in a unique position to perpetrate fraud because of the ability to 
manipulate accounting records and prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding controls that otherwise appear 
to be operating effectively. Due to the unpredictable way in which such override could occur, we consider there to be a 
risk of material misstatement due to fraud and thus a significant risk on all audits. 

How we addressed this risk 
We addressed this risk by: 
 evaluating and testing the basis for material accounting estimates included in the financial statements; 
 reviewing unusual or significant transactions outside the normal course of business; and 

 testing a sample of journals recorded in the general ledger and other adjustments made in preparation of the 
financial statements. 

Audit conclusion 
Our work has provided the assurance we sought and has not highlighted any material issues to bring to your attention. 
There is no indication of management override of controls. 
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 testing the recognition of prepaid ticket income to information and returns from sales outlets to ensure income has 
been recognised in the right year. 

 

Audit conclusion 
Our audit work has provided the assurance we sought and has not identified any material issues to bring to your 
attention. There is no indication of revenue being recognised in the wrong year. 

 
 

Pension estimates (IAS19) 

Description of the risk 
The financial statements contain material pension entries in respect of the retirement benefits. The calculation of 
these pension figures, both assets and liabilities, can be subject to significant volatility and includes estimates based 
upon a complex interaction of actuarial assumptions. This results in an increased risk of material misstatement. 

How we addressed this risk 
We discussed with key contacts any significant changes to the pension estimates prior to the preparation of the 
financial statements. In addition to our standard programme of work in this area, we:  
 evaluated the management controls in place to assess the reasonableness of the figures provided by the actuary; 

and  
 considered the reasonableness of the actuary’s output, referring to an expert’s report on all actuaries nationally 

which is commissioned each year by the National Audit Office. 
 

Audit conclusion 
Our audit work has provided the assurance we sought and has not identified any material issues to bring to your 
attention. There is no indication of material estimation error in respect of pensions. 

 

 

Valuation of land and buildings 

Description of the area of management judgement 
Land and buildings are carried on the Balance Sheet at current value and are material. Management engage 
Lambert, Smith and Hampton, as an expert, to determine the value of property to be included in the financial 
statements.  
In addition a new financial reporting standard (IFRS13 fair value measurement) applies to the valuation of surplus 
property for 2015/16 and judgements may be required about ‘highest and best’ use values. 

How we addressed this area of management judgement 
We liaised with management on the approach taken by the Combined Authority to the valuation of land and buildings 
including the requirements of IFRS13.  
We reviewed: 
 the scope and terms of the engagement with the valuer; and 
 how management use the valuer’s report to value land and buildings in the financial statements. 
 
We wrote to the valuer to obtain information on the methodology and their procedures to ensure objectivity and 
quality. 
  
We also considered evidence of regional valuation trends. 
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Audit conclusion 
We have completed our planned work reviewing the Combined Authority’s use of experts to inform management 
judgements about valuation of land and buildings and the application of the new financial reporting standard. 
We have also considered the evidence of regional valuation trends provided by our external expert. 
We have found no matters to bring to your attention. 

 

Accounting policies and disclosures 
We have reviewed the Combined Authority’s accounting policies and disclosures and concluded they comply with the 
requirements of the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 2015/16.  

Significant difficulties during the audit 
During the course of the audit we did not encounter any significant difficulties and we have had the full co-operation of 
management.  

Electors’ rights to inspect the accounts 
The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 (‘the regulations’), introduced new requirements in respect of 
publishing the financial statements and the period within which local electors may raise questions on the financial 
statements or make an objection to an item of account.  For 2015/16 the Combined Authority set this period as 1 July 
to 11 August 2016. We received no questions or objections within this period. 
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04 Internal control recommendations 

The purpose of our audit is to express an opinion on the financial statements. As part of our audit we considered the 
internal controls in place relevant to the preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures to 
allow us to express an opinion on the financial statements but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control or to identify any significant deficiencies in their design or operation. 

The matters reported here would be limited to those deficiencies and other control recommendations that we identified 
during our normal audit procedures and that we considered to be of sufficient importance to merit being reported.  

If we had performed more extensive procedures on internal control we might have identified a list of deficiencies to be 
reported so our comments should not be regarded as a comprehensive record of all deficiencies that may exist or 
improvements that could be made. 

Our work this year did not identify any significant deficiencies.   
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05 Summary of misstatements 
The misstatements identified for adjustment during the course of the audit that are above the trivial level (£144,000), 
are set out below. The table outlines the misstatements that have been adjusted by management during the course of 
the audit. 

There are no unadjusted misstatements above the trivial threshold. 
 
Adjusted misstatements 2015/16 

 CIES Balance Sheet 
Debit 
£’000 

Credit 
£’000 

Debit 
£’000 

Credit 
£’000 

1 Debit: Property, plant and equipment - - 365 - 

Credit: Donated assets - - - 365 

The adjustment ensures the presentation of non-current assets on the Balance Sheet better reflects the 
classification specified by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting (‘the Code’). The adjustment has no 
impact on the reported financial performance for the year or the financial position at year end. 

2 Debit: Short term investments - - 314 - 

Credit: Short term debtors - - - 314 

The adjustment re-classifies accrued interest due as part of the investment balance to better comply with the Code’s 
requirements for the presentation of financial assets in the Balance Sheet. There is no impact on reported financial 
performance for the year or the financial position at year end.  

   

 

Disclosure amendments 

Adjusted misstatements 

1. Restatement of comparatives in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

Additional narrative was added as a footnote to explain the reason for the restatement of comparatives to comply with 
the classification requirements of the Code. 

2. Presentation of items within the Balance Sheet 

The presentation of ‘long term debtors’ and ‘assets held for sale’ was changed to include the balances within non-
current assets and current assets respectively. 

3. Long term debtors (Note 17) 

Additional narrative was added to explain the impairment of a loan of £4,800,000 due to the debtor being placed into 
administration. 

4. Trade and other payables (Note 18) 

The analysis of liabilities was corrected to re-classify amounts owed to colleges and universities (£2,569,000) as 
‘bodies external to general government’ rather than’ other local authorities’. The adjustment has no impact on Balance 
Sheet figures.  

5. Other minor presentational changes 

We also agreed a small number of presentational changes to the disclosure notes and the narrative report to improve 
clarity for readers of the financial statements. 
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06 Value for money 
We are required to conclude whether the Combined Authority put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources by considering one overall criterion which is made up of three sub-
criteria. 

The overall criterion set out by the NAO is: 
‘In all significant respects, the audited body had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions 

and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.’ 

Overall conclusion 

Overall, the Combined Authority has responded well to the financial pressures it has faced, at a time of unprecedented 
reductions in public sector spending. The Combined Authority managed its 2015/16 revenue budget to achieve a 
£1.5m additional transfer to reserves than had been planned in the approved budget. This was achieved through 
delivery of planned savings as the levy for normal transport purposes was frozen for 2015/16.  

Area Budget Outturn Variance 

Income £172.5m £172.7m (£0.2m) 

Revenue 
expenditure 

£172.1m £170.8m (£1.3m) 

Transfer to reserves £0.4m £1.9m (£1.5m) 

 

We intend to issue an unqualified Value for Money conclusion as set out in Appendix B. 

We issued a separate VFM Risk Assessment report to Governance and Audit Committee in April 2016. This confirmed 
that there were no significant risks to the VFM Conclusion but we identified a number of areas where further work was 
required to obtain sufficient assurance to inform our conclusion and these are set out below: 

 update our understanding of the integration of the LEP into the Combined Authority’s risk management and 

governance processes; 
 consideration of Internal Audit’s recent work on risk management; 
 update our understanding of the development of the Single Transport Plan; 
 review of the Annual Governance Statement; and 
 consideration of evidence obtained from relevant audit work on the financial statements 

We completed the above work and found no reason to change our initial risk assessment or report concerns to you.  

The following table set out our updated assessment for the proper arrangements, which we initially rated as amber 
risk, and shows that in both cases sufficient audit assurance has now been obtained. 
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Informed decision making  
 

Proper arrangements Arrangements at West Yorkshire Combined Authority Audit assurance 
obtained? 

Managing risks effectively 
and maintaining a sound 
system of internal control. 

 Risk management arrangements in place.  

 Corporate risk register in place and actively 
reviewed by management throughout the year. 

 Annual Governance Statement subject to challenge 
by Governance and Audit Committee. 

 Regular reporting by Internal Audit on internal 
control to management and Governance and Audit 
Committee. 

 Integration of LEP into Combined Authority’s risk 
management and governance structures. 

Yes 

 

Working with partners and other third parties 

Proper arrangements Arrangements at West Yorkshire Combined Authority Audit assurance 
obtained? 

Working with third parties 
effectively to deliver 
strategic priorities. 
 

 Refresh of Strategic Economic Plan for Leeds City 
Region as framework for engagement with others 
within the City Region and beyond across private, 
public and third sectors to deliver good growth. 

 Leading ‘Transport for the North’ work-streams on 
‘Local Strategic Connectivity’ and ‘Integrated and 
Smart Travel’. 

 Representation on relevant outside bodies. 
 

Yes 
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Appendix A – Draft management representation letter 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority - audit for year ended 31 March 2016 

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the statement of accounts for West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority (‘the Combined Authority’) for the year ended 31 March 2016 for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion as to whether the statement of accounts give a true and fair view in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom. 

I confirm that the following representations are made on the basis of enquiries of management and staff with relevant 
knowledge and experience (and, where appropriate, inspection of supporting documentation) sufficient to satisfy 
ourselves that I can properly make each of the following representations to you. 

My responsibility for the statement of accounts and accounting information 
I believe that I have fulfilled my responsibilities for the true and fair presentation and preparation of the statement of 
accounts in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom. 

My responsibility to provide and disclose relevant information 
I have provided you with:  

• access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the statement of accounts 
such as records, documentation and other material; 

• additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit; and 

• unrestricted access to individuals within the Combined Authority you determined it was necessary to contact in 
order to obtain audit evidence. 

I confirm as Director of Resources (section 73 Officer) that I have taken all the necessary steps to make me aware of 
any relevant audit information and to establish that you, as auditors, are aware of this information. As far as I am 
aware there is no relevant audit information of which you, as auditors, are unaware. 

Accounting records 
I confirm that all transactions that have a material effect on the financial statements have been recorded in the 
accounting records and are reflected in the financial statements. All other records and related information, including 
minutes of all Combined Authority and Committee meetings, have been made available to you.  

Accounting policies 
I confirm that I have reviewed the accounting policies applied during the year in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom and International Accounting Standard 8 and 
consider these policies to faithfully represent the effects of transactions, other events or conditions on the Combined 
Authority’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows. 

Accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value 
I confirm that any significant assumptions used by the Combined Authority in making accounting estimates, including 
those measured at fair value, are reasonable. 

Contingencies 
There are no material contingent losses including pending or potential litigation that should be accrued where: 

• information presently available indicates that it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability had 
been incurred at the balance sheet date; and 

• the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. 

There are no material contingent losses that should be disclosed where, although either or both the conditions 
specified above are not met, there is a reasonable possibility that a loss, or a loss greater than that accrued, may have 
been incurred at the balance sheet date. 

There are no contingent gains which should be disclosed. 
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All material matters, including unasserted claims, that may result in litigation against the Combined Authority have 
been brought to your attention. All known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered 
when preparing the financial statements have been disclosed to you and accounted for and disclosed in accordance 
with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom. 

Laws and regulations 
I confirm that I have disclosed to you all those events of which I am aware which involve known or suspected non-
compliance with laws and regulations, together with the actual or contingent consequences which may arise 
therefrom. 

The Combined Authority has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on 
the accounts in the event of non-compliance. 

Fraud and error 
I acknowledge my responsibility as Director of Resources (section 73 Officer) for the design, implementation and 
maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud and error.  

I have disclosed to you: 

• all the results of my assessment of the risk that the statement of accounts may be materially misstated as a 
result of fraud; 

• all knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Combined Authority involving: 

• management and those charged with governance; 

• employees who have significant roles in internal control; and 

• others where fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

I have disclosed to you all information in relation to any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the 
Combined Authority's statement of accounts communicated by employees, former employees, analysts, regulators or 
others. 

Related party transactions 
I confirm that all related party relationships, transactions and balances, have been appropriately accounted for and 
disclosed in accordance with the requirements of the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
in the United Kingdom. 

I have disclosed to you the identity of the Combined Authority’s related parties and all related party relationships and 

transactions of which I am aware.  

Impairment review 
To the best of my knowledge, there is nothing to indicate that there is a permanent reduction in the recoverable 
amount of the property, plant and equipment below their carrying value at the balance sheet date. An impairment 
review is therefore not considered necessary. 

Future commitments 
I am not aware of any plans, intentions or commitments that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of 
assets and liabilities or give rise to additional liabilities. 

Subsequent events 
I confirm all events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom require adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or 
disclosed. 

Should further material events occur after the date of this letter which may necessitate revision of the figures included 
in the financial statements or inclusion of a note thereto, I will advise you accordingly. 

Going concern 
To the best of my knowledge there is nothing to indicate that the Combined Authority will not continue as a going 
concern in the foreseeable future. The period to which I have paid particular attention in assessing the 
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appropriateness of the going concern basis is not less than twelve months from the date of approval of the accounts.  

Unadjusted misstatements 
I confirm that the effects of the uncorrected misstatements as included in the auditor’s draft Audit Completion Report 
are immaterial, both individually and in aggregate, to the statement of accounts as a whole. 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

Director of Resources 

 

Date……………………… 

 
 

 

 

 
  

113



 

15 

 

Appendix B – Draft audit report 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF WEST YORKSHIRE COMBINED 
AUTHORITY 

Opinion on the Combined Authority financial statements 
We have audited the financial statements of West Yorkshire Combined Authority for the year ended 31 March 2016 
under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. The financial statements comprise the Movement in Reserves 
Statement, the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement and 
the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2015/16. 

This report is made solely to the members of West Yorkshire Combined Authority in accordance with Part 5 of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, and paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and 
Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Members of the West Yorkshire Combined Authority, as 
a body, for our audit work, for this report or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of the Chief Financial Officer and auditor 
As explained more fully in the Statement of the Chief Financial Officer’s Responsibilities, the Chief Financial Officer is 
responsible for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in accordance 
with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2015/16, and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express 
an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK 
and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or 
error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Authority’s 

circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by the Chief Financial Officer; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In 
addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Narrative Statement to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or 
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 

Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of West Yorkshire Combined Authority as at 31 March 2016 
and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended; and 

• have been prepared properly in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2015/16. 

Opinion on other matters 
In our opinion, the information given in the Narrative Statement for the financial year for which the financial statements 
are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

Matters on which we report by exception 
We report to you if: 

• in our opinion the annual governance statement does not reflect compliance with ‘Delivering Good Governance 
in Local Government: a Framework’ published by CIPFA/SOLACE in June 2007 and the December 2012 
addendum; 

• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24, schedule 7 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014; 

• we make a recommendation under section 24, schedule 7 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or 
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• we exercise any other special powers of the auditor under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. 
 

We have nothing to report in these respects. 

Conclusion on Combined Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources 
Respective responsibilities of the Authority and the auditor 
The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and 
effectiveness of these arrangements. 

We are required under section 20 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to satisfy ourselves that the Authority 
has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. The Code 
of Audit Practice issued by the National Audit Office, requires us to report to you our conclusion relating to proper 
arrangements, having regard to relevant criteria specified by the National Audit Office. 

We report if significant matters have come to our attention which prevent us from concluding that the Authority has put 
in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not 
required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Authority’s arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively. 

Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of 
resources 
We are required to conclude whether the Authority has put in place arrangements to ensure it took properly informed 
decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. 
We have planned and undertaken our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice as issued by the National 
Audit Office and had regard to relevant guidance.  Based on our risk assessment, we undertook such work as we 
considered necessary to form a view on whether, in all significant respects, the Authority had put in place proper 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

Conclusion 
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criterion published by the National Audit 
Office, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects, West Yorkshire Combined Authority put in place proper 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 
2016. 
 

Certificate 
We certify that we have completed the audit in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice issued by the National Audit Office. 

 

Mark Kirkham  

For and on behalf of Mazars LLP 

Mazars House 
Gelderd Road 
Leeds 
LS27 7JN 
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Appendix C – Independence 
As part of our ongoing risk assessment we monitor our relationships with you to identify any new actual or perceived 
threats to our independence within the regulatory or professional requirements governing us as your auditors. 
 
We can confirm that no new threats to independence have been identified since issuing the Audit Strategy Memorandum 
in April 2016 and therefore we remain independent. 
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ITEM 8 

 
Report to:  Governance and Audit Committee 
 
Date:   29 September 2016 
 
Subject: Internal Controls and Financial Monitoring 
 
 
 
1. Purpose 

 
1.1. To consider any changes to the arrangements for internal control in the West 

Yorkshire Combined Authority since the last meeting of the Committee and to 
consider the current financial position. 

 
2. Information 
 
2.1. This paper is provided to each meeting of the Governance and Audit Committee and 

provides information and assurance on governance issues.  Any changes to, or 
failures of, internal control will be reported along with significant risk issues and an 
update on the budget position for the current year. 

 
Internal controls 

 
2.2. There have been no significant changes to internal controls in the period.  

 
2.3. Regular governance meetings continue to be held with Leeds City Council (LCC) to 

consider and review the transactions relating to investments, treasury management 
being carried out jointly with LCC.  The Service Level Agreement (SLA) that regulates 
this arrangement has recently been fully updated and signed off by both 
organisations. 
 
Key indicators 
 

2.4. The Committee has requested regular information via key indicators, specifically with 
regard to accidents reportable to the Health and Safety Executive and with regard to 
key controls. 
 
 

Originator:  Angela Taylor 
Director, Resources 
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2.5. There has been one reportable (RIDDOR) accident in the period 1 April to 31 August 
2016 relating to a fall at a bus station.  There is no indication of any defect that 
contributed to this fall. 
 

2.6. Key indicators are monitored in relation to the suite of financial controls undertaken 
monthly in both the finance and the concessions and integrated ticketing team.  
These are both up to date as at the time of writing this report. 
 
Financial monitoring – revenue budgets 
 

2.7. The final position for 2015/16 is set out as part of the annual accounts report that 
forms item 7 on this agenda.  The table overleaf shows the final figures for 2015/16 
and the revised forecast for 2016/17. 
 

2.8. The position for 2016/17 up to the end of August shows a saving against the 
concessionary travel budget of £1m and number of smaller overspends against other 
budget lines.  Against this there is an increase in expected interest income on the 
growing places fund investments but also a decrease in the expected income from 
the Enterprise Zone.  Taken together these will reduce the call on reserves for 
2016/17.   
 

2.9. There is still significant work underway on organisational development within WYCA 
and the need to respond to growing agendas on behalf of the region will continue to 
put pressure upon budgets.  It is also recognised that funding for local government 
continues to reduce and this puts pressure on maintaining the current level of 
funding for the WYCA.  Work is underway in updating and further developing the 
medium term financial strategy for the organisation.  An initial report has been taken 
to the meeting of the WYCA on 29 September, with further reports to follow on the 
detailed budget in December and February. 
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Combined Authority
All £000's Final Budget Revised

accounts Estimate
2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

Transport costs:
Concessionary Fares 55,452 57,003 56,003
- ENCS 45,142 46,205 46,205
- rail 646 662 662
- young people 9,664 10,136 10,136
Subsidised Services 19,614 18,999 18,999
Passenger Services 6,725 8,216 8,550
Rail - franchise costs 44,375 904 932
Policy and Delivery 526 634 634

Strategic priorities - TF/rail dev/QCS 0 350 350

Economy
Policy and Delivery 1,797 1,918 1,918
Inward Investment 1,332 1,778 1,778

Shared/Corporate
Pensions 1,240 1,394 1,319
Financing Charges 5,063 6,160 6,060
Corporate 5,431 6,049 6,129

141,555 103,405 102,672
Funded by:
Special Rail Grant 44,372 904 904
LEP Funding 2,872 1,707 2,237
Enterprise Zone receipts 0 500 311
Transport levy applied 96,198 96,198 96,198
Additional Transport Levy
Net use of/(addition to) reserves -1,887 4,096 3,022

141,555 103,405 102,672

9,831 4,270 6,809  
 
Financial monitoring – capital budgets 

2.10. Delivery of the Transport Fund and Local Growth Fund projects is being monitored by 
the Investment Committee and information on this is available via the papers on the 
website. 
 

2.11. The budget paper in February set out the full position with regard to capital 
expenditure.  There has been an element of underspending on the Growth Deal 
projects in 2015/16, reflecting the complexity of the programme but by considering 
the full portfolio of projects and all the funding streams available to the Authority it 
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has been possible to ensure the conditions attached to all funding streams have 
been met and any underspends made available for carry forward to 2016/17.  Work 
is underway to update programme delivery profiles with a report due to the next 
meeting of the Investment Committee setting out revised forecasts for this year 
using a dashboard approach. 
 
Risk management 

 
2.12. There have been no significant changes to risk since the last meeting of this 

Committee.  The detailed risk registers and corporate risk register continue to be 
monitored by officers.  Work on fully integrating the activities of the various teams 
brought together by WYCA ie the former Passenger Transport Authority/Executive, 
the Leeds City Region Enterprise Partnership, the inward investment team from 
Leeds and Partners and the Regional Economic Intelligence Unit has resulted in a 
unified set of objectives and priorities aligned with the recently updated Strategic 
Economic Plan.  These have been set out in a corporate plan for the organisation for 
which a detailed risk register is being developed.  These will be brought to a future 
meeting of this Committee for consideration. 
 

3. Financial implications 
 
3.1. As set out in the report. 
 
4. Legal Implications 
 
4.1. None arising directly from this report. 
 
5. Staffing Implications 
 
5.1. None arising directly from this report. 
 
6. Recommendations 
 
6.1. That the Committee note the report. 
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